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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS.

This report and the documents incorporated by eefs herein contain “forward-lookingtatements within the meaning of Section
of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the ExgeaAct that are based on managensgassumptions, expectations and projections alx;
and the industry within which we operatieat have been made pursuant to the Private Siesulitigation Reform Act of 1995 which reflect «
expectations regarding our future growth, resultspeerations, performance and business prospedt®pportunities. Wherever possible, wc
such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “estate”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “potential”, “predit’, “expect”, “should”, “will” and simila
expressions, or the negative of these terms or athraparable terminology, have been used to idettidse forwardeoking statements. The
forward-looking statements may also use differenthrapes. These statements regarding our expedatioeflect ou
current beliefs and are based on informatarrently available to us. Accordingly, thesatsments by their nature are subject to risks
uncertainties, including those listed under ItemRi8k Factors, which could cause our actual grovebults, performance and business pros
and opportunities to differ from those expressedoinimplied by, these statements. We may not #Hgt@hieve the plans, intentions
expectations disclosed in our forward-looking stegats and you should not place undue reliance orfasward{ooking statements. ActL
results or events could differ materially from thlans, intentions and expectations disclosed irfahe#ard{ooking statements we make. Exc
as otherwise required by federal securities lawg, are not obligated to update or revises¢ forwardeoking statements to reflect n
events or circumstances. We caution you that eetyaof factors, including but not limited to thactors described below under Item 1A |
Factors and the following, could cause our busiresslitions and results to differ materially fromhat is contained in forwarkboking
statements:

- changes in the rate of economic growth in the Wn8&ates and other maj
international economies;

- changes in investment by the nuclear and fossdtedeutility industry, the chemical and petrocheali industries and the U
military;

- changes in the financial condition of our custom

- changes in regulatory environme

- changes in project design or schedu

- contract cancellation:

- changes in our estimates of costs to complete g

- changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies dvaide;

- currency fluctuations

- war and/or terrorist attacks on facilities eithemed or where equipment or services are or mayddged;

- outcomes of future litigatior

- protection and validity of our trademarks and ofinézllectual property rights

- increasing competition by foreign and domestic canigs;

- compliance with our debt covenar

- recoverability of claims against our customers atters; anc

- changes in estimates used in our critical accogrgolicies.

Other factors and assumptions not identified abeeee also involved in the formation of these fordvbroking statements and |
failure of such other assumptions to be realizedyell as other factors, may also cause actualtsegudiffer materially from those project
Most of these factors are difficult to predict aately and are generally beyond our control. Yoaudth consider the areas of risk descr
above in connection with any forward-looking stagens that may be made by us. You should not pladeeireliance on any forwatdeking
statements. New factors emerge from time to timd,itis not possible for us to predict which fastwill arise.




We undertake no obligation to publicly update amgnviardiooking statements, whether as a result of newrinéion, future events
otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult aagitional disclosures we make in proxy statememuisirterly reports on Form XD-anc
current reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

GSE Systems, Inc. (“GSE Systems”, “GSE”, the “Comya“our”, “we” or “us”), a Delaware corporation organized in March 199
a world leader in redime, high fidelity simulation. The Company proggisimulation and educational solutions and sesvicghe nuclear al
fossil electric utility industry and the chemicaldapetrochemical industries. As of December 3102@GESE was the parent company of:

+ GSE Power Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation;

GSE Power Systems, AB, a Swedish corporation;
GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Co. Ltd., a Ch@kmited liability company;
GSE Systems, Ltd, a Scottish limited liability coeng; and
TAS Engineering Consultants Ltd, an English limitiadbility company.

* & o o

The Company has a 49% minority interest in GE&ES Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. a Chinese tedi liability company and has a 1
minority interest in Emirates Simulation Academy, @, a United Arab Emirates limited liability companThe Company has only ¢
reportable segment.

The Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, quartegfyorts on Form 10-Q, current reports on Fork, &nd all amendments
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sectid(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. @ror 780(d) will be made available free
charge through the Investor Relations section ®fGbmpanys Internet website (http://www.gses.com) as sooprasticable after such mate
is electronically filed with, or furnished to, tf8C. In addition, the public may read and copy rwayerials we file with the SEC at the SEC’
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washimd2C 20549. The public may obtain informationtbe operation of the Public Refere
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SB330. The SEC maintains an Internet site thatainstreports, proxy and information statements
other information regarding issuers that file alecically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

Recent Developments.
GSE Systems, Inc. is a world leader in simulatezhhology and services for the energy industry. hMee a dominant 60% worldide

market share in the nuclear simulation industryl ae have leveraged our nuclear-grade simulatipatuiities in the nomuclear energy fielc
of fossil power generation, oil & gas refining, acttemical/petrochemical processing.




The recent dramatic increase in global energy demanwell documented and, we believe, will continwegrow for decades
come. This growing need for energy is pushingnihelear power industry towards a nuclear “renaissadriven by the gap between the ene¢
that the world is projected to need versus theetircapacity, the rising cost of oil, and growingvieonmental concerns caused by fc
fuels. Government and industry sources and tradeals report that up to 252 new nuclear plantddcbe built worldwide over the next
years. Currently, there are over 60 plants undesttuction in 14 countries. In the U.S. some dfganies and consortia are conside
building 30 nuclear power plants. The U.S. NuclBagulatory Commission is actively reviewing 13 ¢imed construction and operat
license applications from 12 companies and coresddi 22 nuclear power reactors. Each new platit e required to have a full scc
simulator ready for operator training and certifica about two years prior to plant operation.February 2010, President Obama annou
that the federal government would provide $8.38dmilin loan guarantees for a pair of nuclear reecto be built in Georgia at the Alvin'
Vogtle Electric Generating Plant by Georgia Poveesubsidiary of Southern Company, and three otagners. Georgia Power received an ¢
site permit from the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Consiais for the two additional units in 2009 and prefiary site work has begun. These are¢
first nuclear reactors to be built in the U.S irepB0 years. Westinghouse Electric Company LLC €8thhghouse™and its consortium tee
member, The Shaw Group, are under contract to geotwo Westinghouse AP1000™ nuclear power plantbelVogtle site. The Compa
entered into an agreement with Westinghouse in 200&hich GSE became Westinghousereferred vendor for the development of simuk
for their AP1000 reactor design. In July 2010, @@mpany received a contract from WestinghousdgherVogtle Units 3 and 4 plant traini
simulator, and in August 2010, received a secomdraot from Westinghouse for the training simulétarthe two new nuclear units being b
by South Carolina Electric & Gas Company, a subsidof SCANA Corporation, and Santee Cooper, @&stained electric and water utility
South Carolina, at its V.C. Summer Nuclear StatioSouth Carolina.

As China is expected to build the most nuclear pgui@nts in the next 20 years, the Chinese magkehe that the Company must
well-positioned to participate in. Accordingly, July 2010, GSE partnered with Beijing UNIS Invesnt Co., Ltd (“UNIS”)to form a Chines
joint venture, GS-UNIS Simulation Technology Co., Ltd, (“GSE-UNISEJeating the largest simulation company in Chinthwhe ability tc
simulate both fossil and nuclear power plants. GBES is 51% owned by UNIS and 49% owned by GSEe HHngest shareholder of UNIS
Tsinghua University, a prestigious technology ursitg in China. Established in 1988, UNIS has beeting as an incubator compi
transferring new technologies from the Universityésearch laboratory to the commercial sectoe diigin of its simulation platform can
traced back to 1984, a national awartning technology developed by Tsinghua Universi@ver the past 20 years, hundreds of simul
have been built based upon this technology for@pprately 200 customers in the fossil fueled eleqiower industry, accounting for about 5
of the total Chinese fossil fueled power markes. solid customer base and strong relationships thié¢ academic and government sector
help GSE-UNIS service contracts in both the fosgled as well as nuclear power markets in the €gmarket.

In addition to China, GSE is executing nuclear dation projects in the U.S., England, Japan, Kofeawan, Slovakia, Bulgari
Sweden, Germany, Mexico, Russia and the Ukraine.nfany as 65 countries with no current nuclear pogapability have announc
considerations to add nuclear energy to their pogereration capabilities (21 in AsiRacific, 21 in Africa, 12 in Europe, and 11 in In
America). With our leading market share, excellesgutation, and worldlass technology, GSE is poised to capitalize aneher growin
world-wide nuclear renaissance.

In order to meet the world’s needs, all forms oérgly will play a part, not just nuclear power. @fs2008, only 14% of the world’
power was nuclear, while thermal energy (solidgyitls, gases, biomass and waste) accounted for By&4o energy was approximately 1¢
and renewable energy was less than 2%. For marettiiee decades, GSE has leveraged the simutaability that we developed for nucl
power for non-nuclear projects. Globally we haeéwred 121 fossil power plant simulators and B&cpss industry simulators.




Recognizing the importance of nomclear energy, GSE acquired TAS Holdings Limitadich has since been renamed -
Engineering Consultants Ltd., located in StocktorFees in the UK. TAS is an engineering consultingpany specializing in electrical syst
design, instrumentation and controls engineeringpraation engineering and safety consultancy. Tdisgy provide computer modeling servi
for major electrical generation and distributiorstgyns including traditional and renewable powele Tiajority of TASS customers reside in f
petroleum refining, oil and gas, chemical, petracival, process and power industries. The acqoisitf TAS was strategically important for
Company for the following reasons. First, TASExpertise in electrical distribution system madghwith variable sources of power, suct
renewable energy generation, will help GSE extaeadca@pability into the modeling and simulation ¢éatrical distribution and grid syster
Secondly, TAS routinely encounters training oppoitias that coincide with their engineering and sudting projects thereby creating cr
selling opportunities for GSE’s growing trainingganization. Third, the acquisition expands GSgresence in the UK through access to exi
TAS clients such as British Petroleum and Conodtiphi Lastly, the acquisition of TAS, coupled WiGSES ongoing training activities at t
University of Strathclyde, will enhance the Compamhbility to support the UK planned construction of eight new nuclear plantie comin
years through both our nuclear simulation and ingitbusinesses which are pursuing opportunitiehkase areas.

According to the U.S. Energy Information Administoa, world energy consumption will increase by 48%m 495 quadrillion BTU i
2007 to 739 in 2035. New consumption means newuymtion, which means new plants, new workers, andreormous amount of training
provide a skilled workforce. GSE recgonized thisvgng need for energy industry training severahrgeago and began developing var
training solutions leveraging the use of our sirtiatatechnology. GSE created a 163 course, $inadlator training course that was sold to
Emirates Simulation Academy LLC, in the UAE, a tiag academy that was created by GSE and two qeners in 2007. The Comps
worked with the University of Strathclyde in GlasgoScotland to incorporate GSE’s simulation inte thniversitys degreed and industt
education programs. GSE developed a 20-week “Mudhperator Jump Start Training Prografof Southern Nuclear Company in Augu
GA, utilizing the Company’s VPanéM interactive visual training simulator. The advaygaf the VPanel simulator is its scalability arde o
configuration for both team and individual trainjnglant specific or cross training. The VPanebwl customers to utilize their exist
simulator load while bringing many full scope simar capabilities directly into the classroom foffraction of the cost. The Company’
“Operator Jump Starttraining program, which utilizes the VPanel simafathelps customers screen and train new operatwdidates. Th
training program is designed to provide essentiaedge and skills to potential nuclear plant apans and to determine if candidates hawvi
ability to successfully complete the customsedwn control operator training programs. The paag includes instruction on fundamel
sciences (including GFES), plant systems and oipasat

In order to expand its simulatidrased training programs, on January 4, 2011, GS$Hir@d EnVision Systems, Inc., subseque
renamed GSE-EnVision Inc., which provides interactnultimedia tutorials and simulation models, primarilythie petrochemical and oil & ¢
refining industries. EnVision’s products providéoandation in process fundamentals, as well ast@perations and interaction.

A compounding problem is facing the energy indusiyhile experiencing rapid growth requiring nevamti and new workers, t
incumbent industry workforce is aging and facingrdatic turnover. The average nuclear plant woik&O0 years old, and 42% of the cur
workforce is expected to be replaced over the fiegtyears due to attrition and retirement. Whhe data is readily available in the nuc
industry because it is so heavily regulated, simdlemographics exist in the fossil, oil & gas, cleahand petrochemical industries. While
issue has been looming for some time, the impasblean somewhat delayed due to the recent globabatic downturn. Some employees
were planning on retiring in the near future saeirtilsavings significantly reduced and were foroegastpone their retirements. Accordin
the Company anticipates that in the near futurlgrger number of employees are likely to retirehivita shorter time span and the nee
find qualified employees to replace them will beeoam acute issue.




Except for some insightful early adopters, many panies tend to put off spending on training uiitédyt absolutely have to or they
in trouble. Often training is viewed as a cosheatthan an investment, and aside from traved, anie of the first things to be cut during econc
downturns. However, the statistics associated wétv plant builds and the aging workforce are ural#da and training will be required
supply the skilled employees that will be neededt#df the new plants and replace the retireesrdfbre, when the energy industry recogr
the need to train, they will want training thatfaster and better than what is traditionally audda Additionally, they will have to consider
nature of the next generation workforce who hasvgrop with a computer and vast amounts of intevacthultimedia. Standard classrc
training will not provide the efficacy that will beeeded nor satisfy the interest level of the nekiorce.

In fact, according to the NTL Institute’statistics on learner retention, only 5% of infation is retained from lecture, and only 1
from reading. However, 75% retention is accomgésivhen learners practice by doing. These stistipport GSE' success with the Nucle
Operator Jump Start Training Program at SNC, asdegign combines traditional instructed classroom training with structured simul:
exercises supporting the concepts learned. Thaefms transportable globally to anywhere a newgnevorkforce is needed.

Case studies demonstrate that the inclusion obsgiaming technology such as immersive 3D envimiscan reduce training til
and improve learning significantly. In fact, theyRl Canadian Army was able to reduce the costagfihg and increase the pass rate of stui
by incorporating gaming into the curriculum. Duwethe advancement of computer processing powergaaphics technology, immersive
game engines are readily available off-the-sheldahmerciallyviable prices. Additionally, this style of leargiralso lends itself to the n¢
generation workforce, and as such GSE is invesigigificantly in 3D visualization. This investmezumes in the form of strategic hires, R¢
and investment in technology. Through R&D eff@teady undertaken, GSE'’s engineers have discoveredo link our industrjeading, higl
fidelity models to COTS game engines. This enabte® make the invisible visible, for example sgehe inside of an operating reactor, st
generator, or turbine generator. Blending thenliear strategy by incorporating 3D visualization lvéillow GSE to provide the energy indus
with better, faster, less costly training ideallyted for the next generation workforce.




Background.

GSE Systems was formed on March 30, 1994 to cafegelithe simulation and related businesses of 8Britdogies, General Phys
International Engineering & Simulation and EuroSemach separately owned and operated by ManTecinattenal Corporation, GP Stratec
Corporation and Vattenfall AB, respectively.

In December 1997, the Company acquired 100% obtitstanding common stock of J.L. Ryan, Inc. (“Ryaa’provider of engineerit
modifications and upgrade services to the powentptamulation market. The combination of the Comps preexisting technology with tt
technical staff of the acquired Ryan business jpo®tl the Company to be more competitive for modifons and upgrade service proj
within the nuclear simulation market.

In October 2002, GSE purchased the stock of ManTAaafomation Systems (Beijing) Company Ltd, from Magch Internationi
Corp. The Chinese company, which has fifteen eygals, was renamed GSE Systems Engineering (Beifog)pany Ltd. This acquisitit
gave the Company a base in China to pursue aneingsit simulation projects in that emerging market.

In 2007, the Company formed a subsidiary, GSE 8ystetd., in the United Kingdom. The British subarg was established
provide training solutions to the nuclear powerisiay.

On April 26, 2010, the Company completed the agtjois of TAS Holdings Ltd (“TAS”),acquiring 100% ownership in TAS fo
purchase price of approximately $2.3 million inlta@SE Systems, Inc. common stock and contingemdideration. TAS, located in Stockton-
on-Tees in the United Kingdom, provides engineeringnstidting, specializing in electrical system desigmstrumentation and contr
engineering and automation engineering. TAS afgfages in the computer modeling of major electriistribution systems containing varia
sources of electric generation operating at diffetgilization voltages. The majority of TAScustomers reside in the petroleum refining, od
gas, chemical and petrochemical industries. Tlggiaition of TAS was strategically important foetiCompany for the following reasons. F
TAS’s expertise in electrical distribution system maouaghwith variable sources of power, such as rendsvaehergy generation, will help G
extend its capability into the modeling and simiolatof electrical distribution and grid systemsc&edly, TAS routinely encounters train
opportunities that coincide with their engineeramgd consulting projects thereby creating crossngetipportunities for GSE’ growing trainin:
organization. Third, the acquisition expands GSgrfesence in the UK through access to existing Thehts such as British Petroleum .
ConocoPhillips. Lastly, the acquisition of TAS upded with GSES ongoing training activities at the University$trathclyde, will enhance t
Company’s ability to support the UK’planned construction of eight new nuclear plamthe coming years through both our nuclear sitih
and training businesses which are pursuing oppiigsrin those areas.




On July 28, 2010, the Company received a formalnegs license from the Chinese government for thimé€3e joint venture, GSENIS
Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. (“GSE-UNIS"), a lirad liability company. As of December 31, 201ife jointventure has yet to commel
commercial operations although it has incurred adstriative expenses. GSENIS is 51% owned by Beijing UNIS Investment Cotd.
(“UNIS”) and 49% owned by GSE. On October 1, 20th@ Company contributed $587,000 in cash, aqitsl investment to GSENIS. In
September 2010, UNIS contributed approximately $80@ in cash as its initial investment to GBEIS. The largest shareholder of UNI¢
Tsinghua University, a prestigious technology ursitg in China. Established in 1988, UNIS has beeting as an incubator compi
transferring new technologies from the Universityésearch laboratory to the commercial sectoe diigin of its simulation platform can
traced back to 1984, a national awartning technology developed by Tsinghua Universi®ver the past 20 years, hundreds of simul
have been built based upon this technology for@pprately 200 customers in the fossil fueled eleqiower industry, accounting for about 5
of the total Chinese fossil fueled power markes. solid customer base and strong relationships thié¢ academic and government sector
help GSE-UNIS service contracts in both the fosmled as well as nuclear power markets in the €&gmarket.

Nuclear and Fossil Fuel Power Simulation.
Industry History

The realtime simulation industry grew from the need torirpeople on complex and potentially dangerous djpers without placin
life or capital assets at risk. Reathe simulation has been used for the traininglafipoperators for the power industry, includingtbouclea
power plants and conventional fossil fuel powemgsa(i.e., coal, oil, and natural gas), since thdyel970s. Redme simulation usage h
traditionally centered on initial training of op&ses and followen training of operators in emergency conditiorat ttan best be achieved thro
simulation replicating actual plant operations.

In the nuclear power industry, use of a simulabat accurately reflects the current actual plasigieis mandated by the U.S. Nuc
Regulatory Commission (“NRC”)This mandate resulted from the investigation of dbeident at the Three Mile Island nuclear plan1979
which was attributed, at least in part, to operaoor. The NRC requires nuclear plant operatorgdrn their licenses through simul;
testing. Each nuclear plant simulator must passrtification program to ensure that the initigil design and all subsequent changes me
the actual plant control room or plant operatioms accurately reflected in the simulator. Planeraging licenses are tied to simul:
certification.

Full scope power plant simulators are a physicategentation of the entire plant control room. Bldier plants, the control panels
connected to an input/output (I/O) system, whichvests analog electrical signals to digital signatslerstood by the simulation computer.
newer plants, the control rooms consist mainly igitdl control systems and a series of computeeests used by the operator to control
plant. The simulation computer houses the mathiealahodels, which simulate the physical performean€the power pland’ systems such
the reactor core, steam boiler, cooling water,rstaabine, electrical generator, plant system adstand electrical distribution systems. Pa
scope simulators can be viewed as a subset of adope simulator. Instead of simulating the enfierformance of the power plant, a pa
scope simulator might represent one or two critsgatems such as the steam turbine and/or eldaygorator operation.




In the past, training simulators had to strike #cdée balance between providing an accurate eegimg representation of the ple
while still operating in “real-timein order to provide effective training. As commgtipower has increased, so too has the capac#iymilator:
to provide more accurate plant representationgaime based upon simulation models developed froginering design codes. The r
sophisticated and accurate engineering codes allstomers to use the simulator to help validatatpdesign, control system strategies, col
system displays, and develop plant operating purasdand training material.

Simulation also is used to validate proposed péaputipment changes and to confirm the results ofi @li@nges, prior to making |
changes in the plant, which can save time and masewell as reduce the risk of unsafe designghfoutility.

The importance of nuclear power to the U.S. enexgpply is resulting in the extension of the usdivks of U.S. nuclear pow
plants. Any service life extension of a nucleawpoplant is likely to require major upgrades te filant's equipment and technology, inclu
its simulator.

Fossil fuel plant simulators are not required by tar regulation, but are justified as a ceffiective approach to train operators on
digital control systems being implemented at maosgsil fuel power plants. The size, complexity @mide of a fossil plant simulator are mi
lower than for simulators used for nuclear plarisssil plant simulators have traditionally usedéo fidelity (less sophisticated) mathemat
models to provide an approximate representatioplarit performance. The demand for highly accunatelels did not exist in the early mar
for fossil simulators since the main use of thewator was to train operators on the functionaditydistributed control systems for plant stapt-
activities.

The deregulation of the power industry has forcglities to view their assets differently. Powdamis are profit centers, and gair
the maximum efficiency from the plant to becomeramain, competitive is a paramount issue. Thedsehof the operator has shifted, as |
operators now must perform within narrower and maer performance margins while still maintainingesaperations. GSE believes its fo
fuel plant customers are recognizing the benefitigh fidelity simulation models that provide higtaccurate representations of plant opera
to help plant operators and management determitimalgperformance conditions.

Beyond traditional operator training uses, the Camypsees a significant shift in the use of its $aturs to test plant automati
systems before they are deployed in the actuat.pi@ontrol strategies and equipment set pointsralidated on the simulator prior to plant s
up to ensure the control schemes work properly wedexpected plant performance is achieved. Raifigr these tests on a high fide
simulator saves days or weeks in the plant starthgreby reducing cost and ensuring quicker reegyaneration by the utility.

Industry Future

The Company sees a renaissance in nuclear powaragem both domestically and internationally thetl provide significan
opportunities for expansion of the Company’s bussneln 2002, the U.S Department of Energy initatee Nuclear Power 2010 (“NP 200"
program, a government-industry, 50-50 csiséred initiative that had two main goals: remgwime technical, regulatory and institutional bens
to building new nuclear power plants in the U.Sd aecuring industry decisions to construct and ateethose plants. Per the D@Hffice o
Nuclear Energy, NP 2010 program has worked to hafestrate untested regulatory processes, 2) igesitéfs for new nuclear power plants
develop and bring to market advanced, standardizetear plant technologies, and 4) evaluate thénbss case for building new nuclear pa
plants. In February 2010, President Obama annautheze the Department of Energy will provide $8t8Bion in loan guarantees for a pair
nuclear reactors to be built in Georgia at the AIW. Vogtle Electric Generating Plant by Georgiav@n a subsidiary of Southern Comps
Georgia Power received an early site permit frorm thS. NRC for the two additional units in 2009 apctliminary site work he
begun. Westinghouse Electric Company LLC (“Wedtmgse”)and its consortium team member, The Shaw Groupjrager contract to provis
two Westinghouse AP1000™ nuclear power plants et\ibgtle site. The new units are expected to begmmercial operation in 2016 ¢
2017. In addition to the Vogtle plant, the Weskingse consortium has signed Engineering, Procuremmst Construction contracts w
Progress Energy Florida, a subsidiary of Progreesdy, to provide two AP1000 nuclear power unitPrtgress Levy County, Florida site a
with South Carolina Electric & Gas Company, priratisubsidiary of SCANA Corporation, and Santee @vdp provide two AP1000 nucle
power units at the V.C. Summer Nuclear Statioreinkinsville, S.C.
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Internationally, there are currently over 60 nuclegactors under construction in 14 countries. ther World Nuclear Associatii
("WNA™), China has 13 nuclear power reactors in coencial operation, 27 under construction. Chénaim is to have a sixfold or m¢
increase in nuclear capacity by 2020. In Russight large reactors are under active constructenen further reactors are then planne
replace some existing plants, and by 2016 ten mewtors should be operating. Further reactorplarened to add new capacity by 2020. |
plants are on the drawing board or under constrndti Argentina, Canada, Brazil, Bulgaria, FinlafRtance, Japan, India, Pakistan, Romi
Slovakia, South Korea, Taiwan, and Ukraine.

Beyond new construction, numerous U.S. utilities extending the useful life of their current asséikese license extension proce
in the nuclear industry will result in significaclhanges in plant equipment and control room tedgylBased upon U.S. NRC regulations, ¢
training simulator is required to reflect all chasgthat are made in the actual plant, thus whengasin plant equipment and control rc
technology are made, the nuclear power plants githstr upgrade existing simulators or purchasedraw simulators.

The second phenomena affecting the industry isgieg of the nuclear and fossil plant operator viande which will result in the ne:
for simulation to train the next generation of plaperators. Per the U.S. Bureau of Labor Stais€urrent Population Survey, 200&3% o
the utilities industry workforce was age 45 or olde2008; 18.1% was over age 55. Thus, the imglustfaced with an aging workforce at
same time new capacity is needed, thereby pladogfisant pressure on the industry to find andrirthe next generation of operations
maintenance personnel. In their employment outfookhe utilities industry, the Bureau of Laboafitics states “Because on-flod-training i
very intensive in many utilities industry occupatio preparing a new workforce will be one of theustry’s highest priorities during the ni
decade”.

Therefore, the Company believes that these trehtitey come to fruition in whole or even in papresent a market opportunity for
real-time simulation, plant optimization, asset mgement and condition monitoring products and sesvi

GSE's Solution

The Company’s Power Simulation business is a leadére development, marketing and support of Hidhlity, realtime, dynami
simulation software for the electric utility indegt The Company has built or modified about 63haf approximately 75 fukcope simulato
serving about 103 operating nuclear power planthénUnited States. Outside the United States, 8&Ebuilt or modified about 73 of |
approximately 167 full-scope simulators servingragpnately 329 operating nuclear power plants.

The Company has developed integrated training isolsitwhich combine the power of the Compangimulation technology wi

training content to provide turkey training for the power and process industri€sese training centers will help industry bridge gap betwec
college and university level training and real wogkperience through simulation.
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In addition to operator training, the Compasgimulation products and services permit plant enarand operators to simulate
effects of changes in plant configuration and pennce conditions to optimize plant operation. Sehieatures allow the Compasyustomel
to understand the cost implications of replacingexe of equipment, installing new technology oldimg out-ofservice assets. GSE has
developed a suite of tools based on sophisticaigibls analysis and simulation techniques to hedpcitistomers manage their asset
determining equipment degradation before it seyanepacts plant performance.

The Company has also focused on upgrading oldémtdogy used in power plants to new technology aggs for plant proce
computers and safety parameter display systemsauBkear plants in the U.S. continue to age, then@amy will seek more business in -
upgrade market.

GSE provides both turkey solutions, including simulated hardware andppegary software, to match a specific plant, amtrebte
simulation technology for specific uses throughauplant. Its substantial investment in simulatienhnology has led to the developmer
proprietary software tools. These tools signifibarreduce the cost and time to implement simutateblutions and support lortgemr
maintenance. The Company’s high fidelity, réale simulation technology for power plant fluidhgic and control, electrical systems
associated real-time support software, JADE, islavia for use primarily on UNIX, Linux and Windowomputer platforms. The Company’
Xtreme tools were designed for the Windows envirenin Both technologies were specifically desigtedorovide user friendly grapt
interfaces to the Company’s high fidelity simulator

In addition to the simulator market, the Companfersf products aimed at improving performance oftixg plants by reducing t
number of unplanned outages due to equipment &illlsing advanced signal analysis techniquesCtmepanys tools can predict when cert
plant equipment needs to be replaced. Replacemfertitical equipment prior to failure permits effeve planning and efficient use
maintenance time during scheduled off-line periods.

Products of the Power Simulation business include:

+ Java Applications & Development Environment (JADE a Javabased application that provides a window into timeutation instructc
station and takes advantage of the web capabilifiekava, allowing customers to access the simukd run simulation scenarios fr
anywhere they have access to the web. JADE insltieefollowing software modeling too

+ JFlow™ a modeling tool that generates dynamic modelsléov &ind pressure networks.

JControl™,a modeling tool that generates control logic moftels logic diagrams.

JLogic™,a modeling tool that generates control logic moételsy schematic diagrams

JElectric™,a modeling tool that generates electric system fsddem schematic and one-line diagrams.

JTopmere® , a modeling tool that generates two phase netwonaciyc models

JDesigner™ a JADE based intuitive graphic editor for all JABI®Is.

JStation™ a JADE based web-enabled Instructor Station.

* S 6 6 o o

" Xtreme Tools™a suite of software modeling tools developed unidemMicrosoft Windows environment. It includs
+ Xtreme Flow™, a modeling tool that generates dynamic models fow ffod pressure networks.
+ Xtreme Control™a modeling tool that generates control logic modedsf logic diagrams.
+ Xtreme Logic™a modeling tool that generates control logic moftels) schematic diagrams.
" Xtreme Electric™, a modeling tool that generates electric systerdetsofrom schematic and ¢-line diagrams

12




+ RELAP!:HD ® , a real-time version of the safety analysis code REL developed by the Idaho National Laboratorye TQompanys HD
(High Definition) version of RELAP5 R/T enables thrgineers to understand and control all of theriral functions of RELAPS5, makil
this solution unique in the marki

+ SimExec®and OpenSim®/real-time simulation executive systems that conéblreal-time simulation activities and allow fan offdine
software development environment in parallel wita training environment. OpenSistargeted for users of Microsoft Windows operg
systems, whileSimExecis targeted for users of Microsoft Windows, UNIXdalninux operating system

+ SmartTutor®, complementary software for instructor stationspibvides new capabilities to help improve trainimgthodologies ar
productivity. Using Microsoft Smart Tag technolog@martTutor allows the control of the simulatoftsare directly from Microsoft Offic
products. The user can run training scenariosctjrédrom a Microsoft Word document, or he can pdotd show transients live withir
Microsoft PowerPoint slide

+ Xtreme I/S™, a Microsoft Windows based Instructor Station thléaws the use of Microsoft Word and PowerPointdatrol the reatime
simulation environment. Xtreme I/S is a user-frigntol for classroom training and electronic repgeneration. It provides retitne plan
performance directly from the simulator during sla®m training, which drastically increases leagreéfficiency.

+ Pegasus Surveillance and Diagnosis Syste, a software package for seaitomatic plant surveillance and diagnostics, ipooate
sophisticated signal processing and simulation rtegles to help operators evaluate the condition g@edformance of pla
components. Pegasus permits plant managemergritfiddegraded performance and replace compomerfitse they fail

+ SIMON™ | a computer workstation system used for monitostepility of boiling water reactor plants. SIMONsists the operator
determining potential instability events, enablowgrective action to be taken to prevent unnecggdant shutdowns

+ VPanel™, an interactive visual training solution. Forstamers that already have a full scope ANS 3.5ifittsimulator, the VPan
provides a second hardware platform that will ra@ ASN 3.5 Simulator software model at a fractibthe cost of building a second {
scope simulator. The VPanel Simulator providessime fidelity of operation as their existing siatal but the VPanel offers portabil
and versatility at a very affordable price. Alltbe features and functions of the full scope ANS Simulator are duplicated in the VPe
simulator but the VPanel can be used in a classmetting or as a second simulator to alleviate nadrtlie time pressures our customers
experiencing with their current simulators. Fotioras considering entry into the nuclear power stduthe VPanel is the ideal tool to h
build a base of experienced nuclear workers edharuniversity or industrial training facility.ir8e the VPanel uses a software load froi
ANS 3.5 Certified simulator it will accurately refit the operations and response of an operatinigarugower plant. The VPanel provii
nations entering the nuclear power industry withlistic hands on experience of the operation oficlear facility long before they beg
construction on their facilitie:

The Power Simulation business also provides cadnguland engineering services to help users plasjgde implement, ar

manage/support simulation and control systems. i&svinclude application engineering, project mamagnt, training, site servic
maintenance contracts and repair.

13




Strategy

The goal of the Power Simulation business is taegts business on three fronts:
+ Continue serving its traditional customer base.
+ Combine its simulation capability with training d¢ent to provide totally integrated training solunso
+ Expand the use of high fidelity simulation beyorairting to help validate plant design.

Traditional Simulation Market. Nuclear power currently accounts for about 20%hef tiotal electrical output in the United States
this percentage will likely remain the same eveiogas capacity increases. Any new nuclear povientg with electric output greater than 1,
megawatts will likely be of the advanced reactasigles created by Westinghouse, General Electricardia. These new designs require
simulators and training programs, as they are miffefrom the nuclear power plant designs curremtlgperation. Additionally, the market
Small Modular Reactors, for plants producing 45 avegtts —200 megawatts will require new simulators and trgjrprograms for the sar
reasons. In addition to new power plants, existinglear power plants will likely be required tana@n ontine for a longer period than origina
expected. In order to stay in operation, many tglavill require life extension modifications. Seall existing U.S. nuclear power plants v
ondine before 1979, their designs and technology alan benefit from the substantial advances in plesign and technology developed ¢
the past 30 years. For example, several of thepaogis U.S. utility customers have been replacing thristing hard panel control rooms w
modern distributed control systems (DCS) as arencomin fossil fuel plants and which have been immdated in Europe for seve
years. Significant changes to control room ins&ntation and overall control strategy from hardgdda DCS generally require modification
replacement of the plant simulator. With the latgestalled base of nuclear plant simulators inwuweld, the Company believes it is unig
positioned to serve this market segment with nemukition products and services. GSE has receigedral projects in the last few years
implementing digital turbine control systems in Up&nts.

As plants extend their useful life, many plan te-tate” the existing capacity to increase electrical yidRy. changing the capacity
certain equipment in a plant, the utility can gapwards of a 109456% increase in output. Again, any such changest tne reflected in tt
control room simulator, and operators must be é@ion the new equipment before implementation.

In addition to the United States markets, several gimgmregions of the world are expanding their eleat capacity with both nucle
and fossil fuel power plants. This is particulatg case in China and India.

Classroom Simulation In recent years the Company has upgraded numéraining simulators to utilize standard PC tedbgp. As
an extension of the PBased simulator technology, the Company has degdldpols which will allow the training simulator twe used in
classroom setting, replacing the actual controhrganels with “soft-panel” graphics.

Increased training requirements and demands fofoqmeance improvement have resulted in simulatomimng time becomin
scarce. By providing the actual training simulatoodels in a classroom setting, the value of timeukitor is increased by allowing m
personnel the training advantages of interactiyaachic real-time simulation.

The Company pioneered the technology to run a sittubn a PC several years ago. However, the tdotpy remains complex, whi

prevented wide deployment of the simulator in dlassis. The Company has developed unique softwhaiehvallows simulatobased trainin
lessons to be easily developed and deployed iassidom setting.
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Simulation Beyond Training.In addition to operator training, the Compasgimulation products can meet this increased rex
efficiency by assisting plant operators in underdiag the cost implications of replacing equipmeémstalling new technology and maintain
out-ofservice assets. In order to exploit this potenti®@ Company has increased the fidelity of itsusation products and is marketing
services to increase the fidelity of simulatord tr@ already in operation.

As computing power and networking technologies imwpr several of the Compasytustomers have started to migrate simul.
technology from the training organization to thegieeering organization. The same full scope sitmasoftware that drives the simula
control room panels in a simulator can be used giitphical representations of the panels so engire test design changes and see ho
balance of the plant will react to such changestE &8s developed a Jabased application to allow customers easier adcesmd use of, tt
simulation capabilities across the organizatioodigh network communication.

Optimize Existing Engineering Resource&SES Power domestic service organization focuses momlaior upgrades and retrofits.
addition to domestic resources, GSE has developetttaork of trained engineers in Russia, Ukraingedd Republic, Bulgaria, a
China. These foreign resources provide low cogtrerering and software development capabilities aedreadily available to supplement
United States engineering staff as necessary.

Strategic Alliances

Power’s strategic alliances have enabled the Coynparpenetrate regions outside the United Statesdmbining the Company’
technological expertise with the regional preseswg knowledge of local market participants. Th&tsategic alliances have also permittec
reduction of research and development and marketists by sharing such costs with other companies.

In recent years, a significant amount of the Comgfmimternational business has come from contracEastern Europe, including 1
republics of the former Soviet Union, and the Had&im. In order to acquire and perform these @mis, the Company entered into strat
alliances with various entities including: All Ries Research Institute for Nuclear Power Plant @pem (Russia); Kurchatov Institute (Russ
Risk Engineering Ltd. (Bulgaria); Samsung Electesr(iKorea); Toyo Engineering Corporation (Japayj®J(China) and Westinghouse Elec
Company LLC (U.S)).

Competition

The Power Simulation business encounters intensgetition. In the nuclear simulation market, GSEnpetes directly with larg
firms primarily from Canada and Germany, such asR®S Inc., a subsidiary of &-Communications, CORYS T.E.S.S and Western Se
Corp. The fossil simulation market is represeriigcsmaller companies in the U.S. and overseaser8@euof the Compang’ competitors ha
greater capital and other resources than it hakjding, among other advantages, more personnefjeater marketing, financial, technical
research and development capabilities. Customehpsing decisions are generally based upon pheeguality of the technology, experie
in related projects, and the financial stabilitytloé supplier.
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Customers

The Power Simulation business has provided apprabglp 200 simulation systems to an installed bakewer 75 custome
worldwide. In 2010, approximately 71% of the Comypa revenue was generated from end users outsidénibed States. Customers inclt
among others, ABB Inc., American Electric PoweryBgche Kraftwerke AG (Switzerland), British Ener@eneration Ltd. (UK), Comisic
Federal de Electricidad (Mexico), Concern TiufRussia), Emerson Process Management, GeorgiarPd¢érnkraftsakerhet och Utbildni
AB (Sweden), Kraftwerks—Simulat@esellschaft mbH (Germany), Nuclear Engineering [3dpan), PSEG Nuclear, Inc., Slovenské elekty
a.s. (Slovakia), and Westinghouse Electric Co.

The following Power Simulation customers have pded more than 10% of the Compamyonsolidated revenue for the indic:
periods:

Years ended December {

2010 2009 2008
Slovenské elektrarne, a 22.0% 13.5% 0.0%
Emerson Process Managem 11.1% 12.1% 16.2%
Titan-2 Concerr 5.0% 10.7% 0.0%
American Electric Powe 0.9% 6.8% 10.5%

Sales and Marketing

The Company markets its Power Simulation produnts services through a network of direct sales stfénts and representati
systems integrators and strategic alliance partiesketoriented business and customer development teafiree dend implement speci
campaigns to pursue opportunities in the power stpféce.

The Company’s ability to support its mufgeility, international and/or multinational Pow&imulation clients is facilitated by
network of offices and strategic partners in th8.ldnd overseas. Power Simulation offices are miaied in Maryland and Georgia, and out
the U.S., in Sweden and China. In addition todffiees located overseas, the Compamgbility to conduct international business is ertea b
its multilingual and multicultural work force. GStas strategic relationships with systems integsadmd agents representingiigerests in th
Czech Republic, Bulgaria, Japan, Mexico, PeapRepublic of China, South Africa, Spain, South dé&rTaiwan, Ukraine and the Uni
Kingdom.

1. Process Industries.
Industry

Throughout the process industries there is comigwompetitive pressure, reduction of technicabueses, and an aging workfo
which is forcing process manufacturers to turn tivamced technologies for retlRe optimization, training, and advanced pro
control. Operational efficiency is vital for compas to remain competitive where many of the martufing industries operate on very t
margins. In addition, the process industries a®@nfy increasing safety standards via legislatiod mational and international standards
codes of practice. The Gulf of Mexico oil spillsdster in 2010 raised the pubdidwareness of the financial, environmental andtgagsue
associated with human operating errors and thisatlded pressure to the process industries to ettgtréheir operators are fully trained and
safety issues are addressed.
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GSE's Solution

GSE offers interactive multimedia tutorials and siation models for teaching the fundamentals ofotesr refinery and petrochemi
plant operations, dynamic retre simulation capabilities for process operat@ining and plant design validation and verificatianc
consultancy services for engineering design anetpgaégulations compliance.

With the acquisition of EnVision Systems Inc. omudary 4, 2011 (subsequently renamed GSE EnVisior),IGSE now offers a fi
range of training products for the oil & gas, réfioy petrochemical and specialty chemicals indusirige EnVision suite of products provi
Computer Based Tutorials and Process Specific Sitioul Models to provide a sound fundamental knogtedf key processes &
equipment. These products support both gatfed and instructor led learning environmentschEaoduct fits a specific purpose and phas
the training cycle.

In 2010 GSE introduced JPro™ simulation softwaretli@ process industries, an upgraded versionra8itePro™. JPro consists
an integrated software suite which can build, &gt run simulation models, dynamically and in teake. These models are used for proces:
control system design, process scale up and ei@yangineering study, advanced process contrblagerator training. The models car
used alone or connected to virtually any contretaym. JPro provides an easier to use interfatieetgame highly sophisticated model builc
environment of SimSuite Pro. JPro uses the sanegface as GSE's JADE tool suite, thereby makinga#ier for customers of integra
gasification and combined cycle and other plards tbquire a combination of chemical plant and popl@nt modeling capabilities.

TAS Engineering Consultants Ltd. is a leading $ieppn the UK of engineering consultancy serviedsich satisfy many of the needs
high availability, high hazard industries typifibgl a requirement to register under Control of M&jezard Accident (COMAH) legislation in t
United Kingdom. TAS’s key engineering consultanéfgongs include:

Arc flash hazard studies,

Electrical safety management,

Functional safety (IEC 61508) support,

Potentially explosive atmosphere support,

Alarm management, and

Preventative maintenance procedures incorporatinggm factors.

* & & O o o

Building on client relationships developed in thewision of specialist consultancy, TAS seeks todl@p long term relationships based
support in electrical, instrumentation, control andomation projects, electrical switchgear repiaest and new automation systems. In 2
with the support of GSE, TAS was also able to peigiobal opportunities more aggressively. In B3&0, TAS received a $600,000 contrac
arc flash hazard studies to be conducted at abwarsites in the UK from a global supplier of tagli engineered components and adva
materials. The Company expects that this contwdtbe extended to an additional 31 sites througHeurope, the Middle East, Africa and A
in 2011.
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The GSE culture and expertise is one of customimepbct execution and delivery. This marketplazEes a high value on experier
both companywide and for the individuals on the project teastsGSE promotes its long history in training sins, while also seeking n«
applications.

Strategy

GSE is uniquely positioned in the process simufatitarket to provide total training solutions whiobmbine computer base learni
generic and plant specific simulators with thertirag infrastructure and course material to enatectustomer to truly benefit from the simuli
investment. The core concepts of process simulatiake the technology a basis for other potentiatgss improvement activities, suct
Advanced Process Control and Process Optimizatidrch is where some of the major GSE competitios here business focus than
operator training. GSE will continue to emphasiseoperator training focus and strengths, as weetha application of the process simulato
change management, where changes in the procesmlcirategy, or operating procedures can beuavedl in real time before they are apg
to the actual process units. Gtream time is an important economic factor, aretettis recognizable value in avoiding the risk oplanne:
process disturbances from invalidated changes.

An emerging energy market is developing for IntégptaGasification Combined Cycle (“IGCCHower plants. These new pls
produce electricity more efficiently than traditampower plants by first converting existing refipevaste materials into synthetic gas that is
to power a gas turbine. The gas is then burnedeate steam to turn a steam turbine. The unigtee of these plants requires expertise bc
chemical process simulation and power simulatiGisE is one of the few simulator companies in thedwyith expertise in both areas.

TAS is well positioned to meet the increasing dethéor specialist support, as recognition of Arcdildazards develop in the Uni
Kingdom and Europe. Through cooperation with GSBS is poised to expand into new markets such asofeu and the Midd
East. Additionally, the opportunity for the clogategration of sales and support activities betw&SE and TAS will allow for cross selli
between GSE and TAS clients. As an example of TS is now supporting the GSE Sweden office aneehsupported GSE Inc. bids in
process industry.

Customers

Hydrocarbon and chemical process customers inaluteerous large oil refineries and chemical plaothsas BP (Germany), Stai
ASA (Norway), Bayernoil (Germany), Chevron, Emerdtnocess Management, Saudi Basic Industries CdiporéSaudi Arabia), Shell O
Savannah River Nuclear Solutions, LLC, Total (Beig)

Upstream and downstream oil and gas, chemical raturfng, power generation and pharmaceutical comepaepresent the major
of TAS’s current clients; however, the strength of theireggring consultancy portfolio attracts diverseswts such as libraries, museums
auto repair material manufacturers.

Competition

GSE’s process simulation competitors are a varied grdtpre are major corporations offering a wide eanfjproducts and servic
that include operator training simulators. There also companies focused on process technologynsmdifacturing enhancement, sucl
Invensys and Honeywell who are Distributed ConBgétem (“DCS”)distributors to the refining industry and provideeoator simulation as pi
of their DCS offering. There is a collection ofngpanies with specific industry niches that enalifesm to compete in operator train
simulation, such as Invensys and RSI Simcon. Thegealso the smaller training companies that coenpethe lower cost levels of Compt
Based Training (“CBT") or simple simulations claseCBT.
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The GSE focus on dynamic simulation for trainingl alesign validation is a business strength, ansglétglor independence, with
ability to integrate to different vendor’s procesmtrol systems, is also a value which is apprediéity customers. GSE can be seen as a best-c
breed type of supplier because it is not tied tmaor control system, nor is it providing simulatisoftware for engineering and busir
management with high annual license fees.

Sales and Marketing

The Company will market its Process Simulation texdbgies through a combination of techniques iniclgdts existing direct sal
channel, sales agents, and strategic alliance grartriRelationships developed with typical powempIDCS companies are now expandin
process plant applications as the DCS companiesndte to increase market share. In addition, tigiigition of EnVision Systems provic
access to a large installed base of computer Haaeting customers that may require more planti§pestmulator solutions.

Competitive Advantages.
The Company believes that it is in a strong positmcompete in the Simulation markets based uperidllowing strengths:

+ Reputation for Customer SatisfactiorAs part of its ISO3000 Quality Program Certification, GSE measurestaraer satisfaction acrc
numerous factors such as @mne Delivery, Problem Solving, and Customer Comivation. In each category measured we rout
exceed customer expectatic.

+ Technical and Applications ExpertiseGSE is a leading innovator and developer oftiea software with more than 38 years of experi
producing high fidelity reatime simulators. As a result, the Company has iaedusubstantial applications expertise in the gynenc
industrial process industries. The Company empéolgghly educated and experienced multinationakioce of 248 employees, includi
approximately 187 engineers and scientists. Of #Bé engineers, approximately 50% of these enginead scientists have advan
science and technical degrees in fields such amiché mechanical and electrical engineering, agpfhathematics and computer scier
while an additional 30% have master degrees, aothan10% have doctorate degrees in the aforenmatifields.

+ Proprietary Software Tool. GSE has developed a library of proprietary safentools including autoede generators and system ma
that substantially facilitate and expedite the gesproduction and integration, testing and modifamn of software and systems. These |
are used to automatically generate the computee @l systems models required for specific funsticommonly used in simulati
applications, thereby enabling it or its custom@rglevelop high fidelity reaime software quickly, accurately and at lower sogBSt
EnVision Systems, Inc. has added a substantiarijbof Process Specific Simulation models and CdeipBased Learning Modules ain
at the oil and gas, refining and specialty chersicadrket

19




+ Open System ArchitectureGSE’s software products and tools are executedtandard operating systems with third-party b&<hell
hardware. The hardware and operating system imdiepee of its software enhances the value of glymrts by permitting customers
acquire less expensive hardware and operatingmgst&@he Companyg’ products work in the increasingly popular Micrivsmperating
environment, allowing full utilization and integi@ of numerous o-the-shelf products for improved performan

¢ Training Curricula. The Company has developed detailed course imlaiar nuclear power plant fundamental sciences specific
industrial applications

+ International Strength:. Approximately 71% of the Comparsy2010 revenue was derived from international safe#s products ar
services. GSE has a multinational sales force wffices located in Beijing, China, Nykoping, Swed&tockton-oriFees, UK and agen
representatives and partners in 20 other counffiesapitalize on international opportunities arshgtrate foreign markets, the Comg
has established strategic alliances and partnerstith several foreign entities and universit

Intellectual Property.

The Company depends upon its intellectual propegtyts in its proprietary technology and informatioGSE maintains a portfolio
trademarks (both registered and unregistered),ragitg (both registered and unregistered), andchéies. While such trademarks, copyrights
licenses as a group are of material importancéhéoQ@ompany, it does not consider any one tradentanbyright, or license to be of st
importance that the loss or expiration thereof womlaterially affect the Company. The Company gelipon a combination of trade seci
copyright, and trademark law, contractual arranggmand technical means to protect its intelleghwaperty rights. GSE distributes its softw
products under software license agreements that gistomers nonexclusive licenses for the usésgiroducts, which are nontransferable.
of the licensed software is restricted to desighatemputers at specified sites, unless the custmbtins a site license of its use of
software. Software and hardware security measaaneslso employed to prevent unauthorized useeofCibmpanys software, and the licens
software is subject to terms and conditions praimgiunauthorized reproduction of the software.

The Company does not own any patents. The Compaligves that all of the Compamsytrademarks (especially those that use
phrase "GSE Systems") are valid and will have alimited duration as long as they are adequatelytepted and sufficiently used. 1
Companys licenses are perpetual in nature and will havardimited duration as long as they are adequatedyected and the parties adher
the material terms and conditions.

GSE has thirteen registered U.S. trademarks: Gg&e®s®, ESmart® GAARDS®, JTOPMERET®, Openexec®edsim®
RELAP5-HD®, REMITS-Real-Time Emergency Managementefactive Training System®, RETACT®, SimExec®, Swmite Pro®
SmartTutor® and THOR®Some of these trademarks have also been registeferkign countries. The Company also claimseradrk right
to BRUS™, GCONTROL+™, GFLOW+™_ GLOGIC+™, GPower+38va Application and Development Enviroment (JADEPEGASU:
Plant Surveillance and Diagnosis System™, RACS™Ms&ase™, SIMON™, SimSuite Power™, VPanel ™, VIEd™, and Xtreme I/S™,

In addition, the Company maintains federal stagutoopyright protection with respect to its softwgsegrams and products, |

registered copyrights for some of the documentagioth manuals related to these programs, and masntiide secret protection on its softv
products.
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Despite these protections, the Company cannot teethat it has protected or will be able to profeintellectual property adequate
that the unauthorized disclosure or use of itsllettual property will be prevented, that othersdaot or will not develop similar technolc
independently, or, to the extent it owns any pateimt the future, that others have not or will na Bble to design around th
patents. Furthermore, the laws of certain coustriewhich the Compang’products are sold do not protect its productsiatetiectual propert
rights to the same extent as the laws of the UrStades.

Industries Served.

The following chart illustrates the approximate qartage of the Company's 2010, 2009, and 2008 tdatad revenue by industri
served:

2010 2009 2008
Nuclear power industr 72% 73% 54%
Fossil fuel power industr 18% 21% 31%
Process industr 8% 4% 9%
Training and education industry 2% 2% 6%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Contract Backlog.

The Company does not reflect an order in backldd itfhas received a contract that specifies #irens and milestone delivery date:
other payment terms. As of December 31, 2010, tbemganys aggregate contract backlog totaled approxima$&y.9 million of whicl
approximately $37.7 million or 67.5% is expectedé&converted to revenue by December 31, 208k of December 31, 2009, the Company’
aggregate contract backlog totaled approximate8;&illion.

Employees.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had 248 erapby@s compared to 201 employees at December @4., 20

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

The following discussion of risk factors contairisrivard-looking statementsgds discussed on pages 3 and 4 of this Annual Rep
Form 10-K. These risk factors may be importantutalerstanding any statement in this Annual RepartForm 10K or elsewhere. Tt
Company believes that the following risk factorsyncause the market price for its common stockuotélate, perhaps significantly. In additi
in recent years the stock market in general, aral gshares of technology companies in particular,ehaxperienced extreme pr
fluctuations. The Company’common stock has also experienced a relativelytiading volume, making it further susceptiblestdreme pric
fluctuations. The following information should bead in conjunction with Item 7 ManagemenbDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operations and the consolidateadiahstatements and related notes under Item &Einl Statements and Supplementary Data.
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We routinely encounter and address risks, somehi¢hwmay cause our future results to be differentnetimes materially, than
presently anticipate. Discussion about importg#rational risks that we encounter can be founiteim 1, Business and Item 7, Management’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition aResults of Operations. We have described certapoitant strategic risks below. (
reactions as well as our competitors’ reactionm&terial future developments may affect our futesults.

The Company’s business is largely dependent on sales to the haar power industry. Any disruption in this industry would have &
material adverse effect upon the Company’s revenue.

In 2010, 72% of GSE revenue was from customers in the nuclear pomgusiry (73% in 2009 and 54% in 2008). The Com
expects to derive a significant portion of its newe from customers in the nuclear power industrytiie foreseeable future. The Company’
ability to supply nuclear power plant simulatorglaalated products and services is dependent ocothtinued operation of nuclear power pli
and, to a lesser extent, on the construction of meslear power plants. A wide range of factorgetfthe continued operation and constructic
nuclear power plants, including the political argjulatory environment, the availability and costatiernative means of power generation,
occurrence of future nuclear incidents, and geregahomic conditions.

On Thursday, March 10, 2011, Japan was hit by mifgignt earthquake and resulting tsunami thatdsased extensive damage to
country’s northeastern coast. The Fukushima Daifiaklear plant has been damaged, and the glanitlear reactors are being flooded witr
water to cool the fuel rods. At December 31, 2Gh@, Companys $55.9 million backlog included $9.2 million thahs related to contracts
significant upgrades to two nuclear plants for dlapan Atomic Power Company. The Company is unawh@ny damage to these nuc
plants. Of this backlog, $5.4 million is expectede converted to revenue in 2011. It is tooyerldetermine if the recent events in Japan
have a material adverse effect on the Company’satipes.

The Company’s global growth is subject to a numbeof economic and political risks.

The Company conducts its operations in North Angerieurope, Asia and the Middle East. Global ecdnotevelopments affe
businesses such as GSE, and the Company’s operatiesubject to the effects of global competitithe Companys global business is affec
by local economic environments, including inflatisacession and currency volatility. Political ogas, some of which may be disruptive,
interfere with the Compang’supply chain, its customers and all of its atiigiin a particular location. While some of theis&s can be hedg
using derivatives or other financial instrumentsd 8ome are insurable, such attempts to mitigatsethiesks are costly and not alw
successful. The current global recession hayetdhad a material impact on the Company’s busingee Company backlog as of Decemt
31, 2010 totaled $55.9 million, a 3.7% increaser die Companys backlog at December 31, 2009. The Company hasrsesignificant delay
or cancellations to the projects it is currentlyriing on and is unaware of any significant delaysancellations to projects that the Comg
expects to secure in 2011. However, we may sampact on the Company’operations due to uncertainties and fluctuatasshe econon
recovers.

The Company’s expense levels are based upon its expectationd@uture revenue, so it may be unable to adjustpending to compensat
for a revenue shortfall. Accordingly, any revenueshortfall would likely have a disproportionate effet on the Companys operating
results.

The Companys revenue was $47.2 million, $40.1 million, and $2®illion for the years ended December 31, 200092 and 200
respectively. The Compars/operating income (loss) was $(1.2) million, $956®, and $(12,000) for the years ended Decembe2@1), 200
and 2008, respectively. The Compangperating results have fluctuated in the pastraag fluctuate significantly in the future as aulesf &
variety of factors, including purchasing pattenmsyng of new products and enhancements by the @om@and its competitors, and fluctual
global economic conditions. Since the Compargxpense levels are based in part on its expeasasis to future revenue and includes ce
fixed costs, the Company may be unable to adjushdipg in a timely manner to compensate for anyemae shortfall and such revel
shortfalls would likely have a disproportionate abe effect on operating results.

Risk of International Sales and Operations.

Sales of products and services to end users outsédEnited States accounted for approximately ©i%e Companys consolidate
revenue in 2010, 65% of consolidated revenue irB2@0d 63% of consolidated revenue in 2008. Thm@amy anticipates that internatio
sales and services will continue to account forgaiicant portion of its revenue in the foreseeahiture. As a result, the Company ma
subject to certain risks, including risks assodatéth the application and imposition of protectiegislation and regulations relating to impot
export (including export of high technology prods)obr otherwise resulting from trade or foreignippland risks associated with exchange
fluctuations. Additional risks include potentialiydverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and b#rgers, potential difficulties involving t
Companys strategic alliances and managing foreign salesntagor representatives and potential difficulties accounts receivak
collection. The Company currently sells produatd @rovides services to customers in emerging nia&enomies. The following emerg
markets have provided more than 10% of the Compam®yenue for the indicated period:
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Year Ended December :

2010 2009 2008
Slovak Republic 22% 14% 0%
Russian Federatic 6% 12% 4%
People's Republic of 4% 8% 15%

China

The Company has taken steps designed to reduaalthiéonal risks associated with doing businesthé@se countries, but the Comp
believes that such risks may still exist and ineludmong others, general political and economitabikity, lack of currency convertibility, .
well as uncertainty with respect to the efficacyapplicable legal systems. There can be no asseitaat these and other factors will not ha
material adverse effect on the Company’s busirfasmcial condition or results of operations.

The Company’s line of credit agreement imposes operating andniancial restrictions on the Company which may prevet it from
capitalizing on business opportunities.

GSE’s line of credit agreements with Bank of AmericBQA") impose operating and financial restrictiombese restrictions affect, &
in certain cases limit, among other things, the Gany’s ability to:

¢ incur additional indebtedness and liens;
+ make investments and acquisitions;
+ consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallyodlits assets.

There can be no assurance that these restrictibinsotvadversely affect the Comparsyability to finance its future operations or ca|
needs or to engage in other business activitigstiag be in the interest of stockholders.

In addition, the line of credit agreements contdifirancial covenants with respect to the Compamginimum tangible net worth, d¢
service coverage ratio, and funded debt to EBITR#Aor At December 31, 2010 and throughout all 1@ the Company had not paid
interest or principal payments related to any hweimgs for over one year. As such the debt seremesrage ratio is not applicable at Decer
31, 2010. The financial covenant calculations et@&@nber 31, 2010 are shown below:
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As of

Covenan Dec. 31, 201(
Tangible net worth Must Exceed $15.0 $31.8 million
million
Funded debt to EBITDA Not to Exceed 2.50:  (30.90) : 1.00
ratio 1.00

Due to the Compang’net loss of $2.2 million for the year ended Delsen81, 2010, the Company was in default on itsléahdebt to EBITD,
ratio at December 31, 2010.

Due to the Company’s financial covenant default,ABftas made the following amendments to the Commangvolving credit agreeme
effective March 14, 2011:

« A written waiver has been granted for the fundelt die EBITDA ratio default.

« The $5.0 million principal line of credit has beenminated.

« The financial covenants for the $2.5 million pripai line of credit have been deleted.

« The Company is required to cash collateralize @i$@nding standby letters of credit, which to&8s4 million.

« All future letters of credit issued by BOA must ¢esh collateralized.

« Borrowings under the line of credit must be caslhateralized. Currently the Company has in plac6@0,000 certificate of deposit

collateral for the line of credit.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had cash andemaskalents of $26.6 million and has $600,000 latée under its $2.5 millic
line of credit. Of this amount $3.4 million willebrestricted as cash collateral for the Compamyutstanding standby letters of credi
accordance with the March 14, 2011 amendment t&Ctmpanys revolving credit agreement. The Company hasrediteto 2011 with $55
million of backlog; $37.7 million of which is exped to convert to revenue in 2011. The Companicigates that its normal operations
generate all of the funds necessary to fund itsalichated operations during the next twelve monfilse Company believes that it will he
sufficient liquidity and working capital without ddional financing. However, notwithstanding therdgoing, the Company may be require
look for additional capital to fund its operatioiifs the Company is unable to operate profitably ageherate sufficient cash frc
operations. There can be no assurance that the&uonwould be successful in raising such additidunadis.

The Company is dependent on product innovation andesearch and development, which costs are incurregrior to revenue for new
products and improvements.

The Company believes that its success will deparidrge part on its ability to maintain and enhaitsecurrent product line, devel
new products, maintain technological competitivenasd meet an expanding range of customer nedus.Company's product developrr
activities are aimed at the development and expansf its library of software modeling tools, thegrovement of its display systems
workstation technologies, and the advancement agdading of its simulation technology. The life & for software modeling tools, graph
user interfaces, and simulation technology areatéei and largely determined by competitive pressutensequently, the Company will nee
continue to make significant investments in redeaned development to enhance and expand its céjesbih these areas and to maintait
competitive advantage.
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The Company relies upon its intellectual property ights for the success of its business; however, tisteps it has taken to protect it
intellectual property may be inadequate.

Although the Company believes that factors suclthastechnological and creative skills of its persgln new product developmer
frequent product enhancements and reliable prochaihtenance are important to establishing and miaimty a technological leaders
position, the Company's business depends, in @avits intellectual property rights in its propeet technology and information. The Comp
relies upon a combination of trade secret, copyrighd trademark law, contractual arrangementstacitzhical means to protect its intellec
property rights. The Company enters into confiddity agreements with its employees, consultajasmt venture and alliance partne
customers and other third parties that are graategss to its proprietary information, and limitcess to and distribution of its propriet
information. There can be no assurance, howehat, the Company has protected or will be able tteut its proprietary technology &
information adequately, that the unauthorized dimate or use of the Company's proprietary inforamatvill be prevented, that others have nc
will not develop similar technology or informatiamdependently, or, to the extent the Company ownspatents in the future, that others t
not or will not be able to design around those reifpatents. Furthermore, the laws of certain caesin which the Company's products are
do not protect the Company's products and intelldgiroperty rights to the same extent as the l#vilse United States.

The industries in which GSE operates are highly copetitive. This competition may prevent the Companyfrom raising prices at the
same pace as its costs increase.

The Company's businesses operate in highly com@eghvironments with both domestic and foreign petitors, many of whom ha
substantially greater financial, marketing and othesources than the Company. The principal factdfecting competition include pric
technological proficiency, ease of system configarg product reliability, applications expertisengineering support, local presence
financial stability. The Company believes that cetition in the simulation fields may further intéfiysin the future as a result of advance
technology, consolidations and/or strategic allemamong competitors, increased costs requireévelap new technology and the increa
importance of software content in systems and misduAs the Compang’business has a significant international comppraranges in tf
value of the dollar could adversely affect the Camyps ability to compete internationally.

GSE may pursue acquisitions and joint ventures, anény of these transactions could adversely affectsi operating results or result ir
increased costs or related issues.

The Company intends to pursue acquisitions andt jeentures, a pursuit which could consume substhititne and resource
Identifying appropriate acquisition candidates aedotiating and consummating acquisitions can leagthy and costly process. The Comg
may also encounter substantial unanticipated amststher related issues such as compliance with regulations and regulatory schen
additional oversight, elimination of redundancydancreased employee benefit costs associatedtigtlicquired businesses. The risks inhi
in this strategy could have an adverse impact erCthmpany’s results of operation or financial ctindi

The nuclear power industry, the Company$ largest customer group, is associated with a nureb of hazards which could creat
significant liabilities for the Company.
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The Companys business could expose it to third party claimthwespect to product, environmental and other laimiabilities.
Although the Company has sought to protect itgelinf these potential liabilities through a variefyegal and contractual provisions as wel
through liability insurance, the effectiveness o€ls protections has not been fully tested. Centdithe Companys products and services
used by the nuclear power industry primarily in rgper training. Although the Compasytontracts for such products and services typi
contain provisions designed to protect the Compfiagn potential liabilities associated with such usigere can be no assurance thal
Company would not be materially adversely affedigatlaims or actions which may potentially arise.

The use of derivative instruments by the Company inhe normal course of business could result in finecial losses that negatively impai
the Company'’s net income.

GSE periodically enters into forward foreign excfparcontracts to manage market risks associated ththfluctuations in foreic
currency exchange rates on foreigrominated trade receivables. The Company coulagréze financial losses as a result of volatilitythe
market values of these contracts or if a count¢ypi@ils to perform. The Company minimizes creeldposure by limiting counterparties
internationally recognized financial institutions.

The issuance of performance bonds and bid bonds ltlge Company in the normal course of business coul@sult in financial losses that
negatively impact the Company’s net income.

The Company is often required to issue performdwals to its customers as a normal part of itsnessi activities. The Compasy’
customers may have the ability to draw upon theséopnance bonds in the event the Company failsute a material breach of the cont
within 30 days of receiving notice from the customegarding the nature of the breach. As of Dea@ndi, 2010, the Company has iss<
performance bonds on eight contracts totaling $dillion; the largest of these performance bonds fea$2.5 million. Although the Compa
expects no material breaches to occon these contracts, if such a breach were to oandrthe Company failed to cure such breach
Company could incur a loss of up to $4.7 million.

The Company is subject to a wide variety of laws ahregulations.

The Companys businesses are subject to regulation by U.Srdédad state laws and foreign laws, regulatiorts @olicies. Changes
laws or regulations may require the Company to ffiyath business objectives if existing practicesdrae more restricted, subject to escal:
costs or prohibited outright. Particular risks im#® regulatory risks arising from federal laws, tsws laws regarding export of sensi
technologies or technical information. The Companlyusiness and the industries in which it operaresalso at times being reviewec
investigated by regulators, which could lead tamecément actions, fines and penalties or the assest private litigation claims and damages.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS .

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company is headquartered in a facility in Sykies Maryland (approximately 40,000 square fe&t)e lease for this facility expir
on June 30, 2018.
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In addition, the Company leases office space ddosdlst in St. Marys and Augusta, Georgia and Tawr, New York an
internationally in Beijing, China, Nykoping, Swedamd Stockton-ofi-ees, England. The Company leases these facifibieserms endin
between 2011 and 2013.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS .

The Company and its subsidiaries are from timente tinvolved in ordinary routine litigation incideh to the conduct of its busine
The Company and its subsidiaries are not a partard its property is not the subject of, any matgrending legal proceedings that, in
opinion of management, are likely to have a matexaerse effect on the Company’s business, firrdmcindition or results of operations.

ITEM 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCK HOLDER MATTERS, AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NYSEe&rStock Exchange, where it trades under the syfithdP”. The following
table sets forth, for the periods indicated, thghhand low sale prices for the Compagommon stock reported by the NYSE Amex S
Exchange for each full quarterly period within the most recent fiscal years:

2010
Quarter High Low
First $ 5.9 $ 4.7
Second $ 5.7 $ 4.01
Third $ 4.1 $ 3.3
Fourth $ 3.7 $ 3.2.
2009
Quarter High Low
First $ 6.8 $ 4.6
Second $ 6.7 $ 4.9
Third $ 8.0 $ 5.8
Fourth $ 6.2 $ 4.3
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The following table sets forth the equity compeiwaplan information for the year ended December2810:

Number of Securities
Number of Securities to Weighted Average Remaining Available for
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Future Issuance Under Equity
of Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Compensation Plans (Excluding
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Securities Reflected in Column (a)
Plan categor (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holde 2,016,617 $4.39 148,888
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security]
holders -- $-- -
Total
2,016,617 $4.39 148,888

T here were approximately 1,051 holders of recordhef common stock as of December 31, 2010. The Coynpas neve
declared or paid a cash dividend on its commonkstdtie Company currently intends to retain futegenings to finance the growth ¢
development of its business and, therefore, doeamipate paying any cash dividends in the feeeble future on its common stock.

The Company believes factors such as quarterlytdations in results of operations and announcemehtsew products by tt
Company or by its competitors may cause the mamke¢ of the common stock to fluctuate, perhapriiantly. In addition, in recent years
stock market in general, and the shares of teclggotmmpanies in particular, have experienced exrgmice fluctuations. The Compasy’
common stock has alsexperienced a relatively low trading volume, makinfurther susceptible to extreme price fluctuatio These facto
may adversely affect the market price of the Comsacommon stock.

On September 4, 2009, the Company raised $15.@bmitrough the sale of 2.5 million shares of isnton stock, $.01 par value
share. The shares were sold under a shelf reigstratatement which was declared effective by Sleeurities and Exchange Commissior
August 21, 2009. On September 23, 2009, the Coynpmieed an additional $2,250,000 when the Commanopderwriter, exercised an over-
allotment option in full to purchase an additior®15,000 shares of the Compasmy¢ommon stock at the public offering price of $6ke!
share. The aggregate net proceeds received yaimpany from the two transactions were approximeé&b.9 million. The Company paid
underwriter a fee in the amount of 6% of the gnasxeeds received by the Company from the offef$#ig035,000) and paid $339,000 in o
transaction fees.

Effective April 26, 2010, GSE Systems Inc., throuigh wholly owned subsidiary GSE Systems, Ltd. (GSEK), completed th
acquisition of TAS Holdings Ltd. (“TAS")a provider of engineering consulting, specializingelectrical system design, instrumentation
controls engineering and automation engineeringe @& acquired 100% of the outstanding common smwficKAS. The purchase price for-
common stock of TAS was equal to (i) the consoéidatet asset value of TAS as of April 26, 2010,rapimately $600,000, and (i) four tim
the adjusted consolidated pre-tax income of TASthar year ended September 30, 2009, approximately ®illion (the ‘Adjusted Profi
Consideration”), for a total of approximately $28lion in cash, GSE Systems, Inc. common stock @mdingent consideration.
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Approximately $500,000 of the consolidated net &gakie was paid on the closing date and the renm@i$100,000 of the consolida
net asset value was paid during the third quar@02 On the closing date, the TAS Shareholders vesttitled to receive approximat
$683,000 (40% of the Adjusted Profit Consideratipayable in GSE common stock. Based upon the flarmgreed to by the parties, the 1
Shareholders received 122,617 shares of GSE corstook.

The following graph compares the Compangumulative total shareholder return since Decer@hbe2005 through December 31, 2
with that of the NYSE Amex Composite Index and arggroup index. The Peer Group consists of congsaselected on a line-bfisiness bas
and includes Aspen Technology, Inc.3L€ommunications Holdings and Honeywell InternagionThe graph assumes an initial investme
$100 on December 31, 2005 in the Compamgmmon stock and each index. There were noetids declared or paid by the Company dt
the five year period. The Company has never pativadend on its common stock. The indices areveighted daily, using the marl
capitalization on the previous tracking day. Themparisons shown in the graph below are based Uiystorical data. The stock pr
performance shown in the graph below is not neciygsadicative of, or intended to forecast, thet@atial future performance of the Company’
common stock. The graph was prepared for the Caynpyp Research Data Group, Inc.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

Among GSE Systems, Inc., the MYSE Amex Composite Index
and a Peer Group

5900 -

123112005

1213112006

—&— GSE Systems, Inc.

123112007

123112008

—-4—- NY 3E Amex Composite

1213112009

123112010

---@---- Peer Group

#2100 invested on 1243105 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal yearending December 31.

12/31/200% | 12/31/200¢ | 12/31/2007 | 12/31/200¢ | 12/31/200¢ |12/31/201(
GSE Systems, Inc 100.0(¢ 536.3] 825.8] 475.8] 441.94 291.94
NYSE Amex 100.0(¢ 119.5¢ 144.67 87.07 118.5 152.13
Composite
Peer Group 100.0( 121.4 166.41 96.43 118.5] 148.34

Sales of Unregistered Securities

The Company’s sales of unregistered securitiexdutie past three years are described in Item Beabo
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ITEM 6. FLECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Historical consolidated results of operations amathice sheet data presented below have been ddrovadthe historical financi
statements of the Company. This information shdeéldead in connection with the Company’s constdiddinancial statements.

(in thousands, except per share data) Years ended December
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operatic
Contract revenu $ 47,21 $ 40,06( $ 29,00« $ 31,90 $ 27,50
Cost of revenue 36,08’ 29,73t 21,18 22,211 19,60:
Gross profit 11,13: 10,32« 7,81 9,68 7,90(
Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati 11,68: 7,74¢ 7,38 7,21¢ 4,92¢
ESA related charge - 1,50¢ - - -
Administrative charges from GP Strateg - - - - 68t
Depreciatior 57¢ 504 44¢€ 258 18€
Amortization of definite-lived intangible
assets 10z - - - -
Total operating expenses 12,36¢ 9,761 7,82¢ 7,472 5,80(
Operating income (los: (1,239 562 (12) 2,211 2,10
Interest income (expense), t 19 56 13C (439 (764)
ESA related charge - (86%) - - -
Loss on extinguishment of de - - - - (1,429
Gain (loss) on derivative instrumetr (913) 763 (459) (11) (24)
Other income (expense), net 83 (397) (22€) (55E) (81)
Income (loss) before income tay (2,049 12C (561) 1,21z (197
Provision for income taxes 20€ 917 12¢ 43 14¢
Net income (loss $ (2,249 $ (797) $ (690) $ 1,16¢ $ (34¢€)
Basic income (loss) per common share (1) $ (0.12) $ (0.05) $ (0.0 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.07)
Diluted income (loss) per common share (1) $ (0.12) $ (0.0 $ (0.0 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.07)
Weighted average common shares outstani
-Basic 18,97¢ 16,93¢ 15,745 12,927 9,53¢
-Diluted 18,97¢ 16,93¢ 15,745 14,81¢ 9,53¢

As of December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Balance Sheet dat
Working capital $ 30,04C $ 31,46¢ $ 13,88¢ $ 14,711 $ 1,46:
Total asset 53,61 49,52( 31,01¢ 28,36¢ 18,44¢
Long-term liabilities 79¢ 20¢€ 90¢€ 69t 251
Stockholders' equit 36,90¢ 37,14 20,70( 20,36 7,361

(1) In 2006, $279,000 preferred stock dividendsenstded to net loss to arrive at net loss attribtdecommon shareholde
In 2007, $49,000 preferred stock dividends wereudttl from net income to arrive at net income fatited to common shareholde
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSDN AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS .

At December 31, 2010, the Company had two sepegatdving credit agreements for revolving linescodédit with BOA which were 1
expire on May 31, 2012. The Company and its sugnsidGSE Power Systems, Inc., were jointly andesay liable as cdsorrowers. Th
credit facilities enabled the Company to borrowdsiio support working capital needs and standlgrietf credit. The first line of credit whi
was in the principal amount of up to $3.5 milliorasvamended on March 29, 2010 to increase the pahemount to $5.0 million. Tt
revolving line of credit enabled the Company torbar funds up to 90% of eligible foreign accountseaigable, plus 75% of eligible unbill
foreign receivables and 100% of cash collateratigel to BOA on outstanding warranty standby lettérsredit. This line of credit was 9(
guaranteed by the Expdrzport Bank of the United States. The interest it this line of credit is based on the daily LIB@ate plus 150 bas
points, with interest only payments due monthijhe®econd line of credit was in the principal amafrup to $2.5 million. This line of cre:
enabled the Company to borrow funds up to 80% ahekiic accounts receivable, 30% of domestic unbitieceivables and 100% of
principal balance of a $600,000 certificate of d@pssued by BOA. The interest rate on this lfieredit was based on the daily LIBOR |
plus 225 basis points, with interest only paymehis monthly. The credit agreements contained cer&strictive covenants regarding ful
acquisitions, incurrence of debt and the paymertiwifiends. In addition, both credit agreementstaimed financial covenants with respec
the Companys minimum tangible net worth, debt service coveragio, and funded debt to EBITDA ratio. At Decesni81, 2010 ar
throughout all of 2010, the Company had not paig iaterest or principal payments related to anyr®emgs for over one year. As such
debt service coverage ratio is not applicable ateb#er 31, 2010. The financial covenant calcutatiat December 31, 2010 are shown below:

As of
Covenan Dec. 31, 201(
Tangible net wortl Must Exceed $15.0 millio $31.8 million
Funded debt to EBITDA rati Not to Exceed 2.50 : 1.C (30.90) : 1.0¢

For the funded debt to EBITDA ratio calculationgthmount of outstanding standby letters of credd aurety bonds that are not c
collateralized are included as funded debt. Atddeloer 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding staledieys of credit and surety bonds
were not cash collateralized of $4.5million. Dodhle Companyg net loss of $2.2 million for the year ended Delgen81, 2010, the Company
in default on its funded debt to EBITDA ratio atd@enber 31, 2010.

Due to the Company’s financial covenant default,ABftas made the following amendments to the Commangvolving credit agreeme
effective March 14, 2011:

« A written waiver has been granted for the fundelt die EBITDA ratio default.

« The $5.0 million principal line of credit has beenminated.

« The financial covenants for the $2.5 million pripai line of credit have been deleted.

« The Company is required to cash collateralize @i$@nding standby letters of credit, which to&8s4 million.

« All future letters of credit issued by BOA must dssh collateralized.

« Borrowings under the line of credit must be caslhateralized. Currently the Company has in pla&6@0,000 certificate of deposit
collateral for the line of credit.
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At December 31, 2010, the Company had cash andemashalents of $26.6 million and has $600,000 lakée under its $2.5 millic
line of credit. Of this amount $3.4 million wibe restricted as cash collateral for the Compamytstanding standby letters of cred
accordance with the March 14, 2011 amendment t&Ctrapanys revolving credit agreement. The Company hasredtinto 2011 with $55
million of backlog; $37.7 million of which is expet to convert to revenue in 2011. The Companicigates that its normal operations \
generate all of the funds necessary to fund itsalicated operations during the next twelve monfilse Company believes that it will hé
sufficient liquidity and working capital without ddional financing. However, notwithstanding therdgoing, the Company may be require
look for additional capital to fund its operatioiifs the Company is unable to operate profitably ageherate sufficient cash fr
operations. There can be no assurance that the&@onmwould be successful in raising such additidunadis.

On April 26, 2010, the Company completed the agtjois of TAS Holdings Ltd (“TAS”),acquiring 100% ownership in TAS fo
purchase price of approximately $2.3 million inlta&SE Systems, Inc. common stock and contingemsideration. TAS has been renai
TAS Engineering Consultants, Ltd. TAS, locatedSiockton-onfees in the United Kingdom, provides engineeringseidting, specializing i
electrical system design, instrumentation and otsmtengineering and automation engineering. TA® ahgages in the computer modelin
major electrical distribution systems containingiable sources of electric generation operatindifi¢rent utilization voltages. The majority
TAS’s customers reside in the petroleum refining, od gas, chemical and petrochemical industries. adwiisition of TAS was strategice
important for the Company for the following reasoRgst, TASS expertise in electrical distribution system maoughith variable sources
power, such as renewable energy generation, witl GSE extend its capability into the modeling anttulation of electrical distribution a
grid systems. Secondly, TAS routinely encounteaining opportunities that coincide with their erggning and consulting projects ther
creating cross selling opportunities for GSE’s graytraining organization. Third, the acquisitionpands GSE presence in the UK throu
access to existing TAS clients such as British ddetim and ConocoPhillips. Lastly, the acquisit@hTAS, coupled with GSE' ongoiny
training activities at the University of Strathce,dwill enhance the Company’s ability to suppoe thK’s planned construction of eight n
nuclear plants in the coming years through bothnuatear simulation and training businesses whiehparsuing opportunities in those areas.

On July 28, 2010, GSE-UNIS Simulation Technology,Ctd. (“GSE-UNIS"),a limited liability company, received a formal boess:
license from the Chinese government. GSE-UNISLE ®Dwned by Beijing UNIS Investment Co., Ltd. (“UN) and 49% owned by GSE.
of December 31, 2010, the joiménture had yet to commence commercial operatidit®owgh it had incurred minimal administrat
expenses. On October 1, 2010, the Company coiedb$587,000 in cash, as its initial investmenG®EUNIS. In September 2010, UN
contributed approximately $600,000 in cash asniai investment to GSE-UNIS. UNIS and GSE wilake additional contributions to GSE-
UNIS of approximately $900,000 and $800,000, retpely, over the next fifteen months. The largsk@reholder of UNIS is Tsingh
University, a prestigious technology universityGhina. Established in 1988, UNIS has been act;graincubator company transferring |
technologies from the Universityresearch laboratory to the commercial sectoe drigin of its simulation platform can be tracextk to 198¢
a national awaravinning technology developed by Tsinghua Universi@ver the past 20 years, hundreds of simulatave bbeen built bas
upon this technology for approximately 200 custariarthe fossil fueled electric power industry, @aeting for about 50% of the total Chin
fossil fueled power market. Its solid customerebasd strong relationships with the academic ancemgonent sector will help GSBENIS
service contracts in both the fossil fueled as waelhuclear power markets in the Chinese market.

On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sitiqui of EnVision Systems, Inc. (“EnVision"gcquiring 100% ownership
EnVision for a purchase price of approximately $rhilion in cash and contingent consideration. Vi&ion, which has been renamed C
EnVision Inc., provides interactive muhiedia tutorials and simulation models, primarily ttte petrochemical and oil & gas refin
industries. EnVision is headquartered in MadisNd, has an office in Chennai, India, and was fodniote 1991. EnVisiors tutorials an
simulation models serve the rapidly growing engyel training market for the oil & gas refining agpecialty chemicals industries. EnVisisen
products provide a foundation in process fundantemad plant operations and interaction. EnVisias bompleted more than 750 installat
in over 28 countries and its approximately 130rtkenclude Shell Oil Company, BP, Total and Chevro
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.

As further discussed in Note 2 to the consoliddieancial statements, in preparing the Comparfiiancial statements, managen
makes several estimates and assumptions that affecCompanys reported amounts of assets, liabilities, reverams$ expenses. Thc
accounting estimates that have the most signifiéaptact on the Company’operating results and place the most significlerhands ¢
management's judgment are discussed below. Fof @ikse policies, management cautions that fuguents rarely develop exactly as forec
and the best estimates may require adjustment.

Revenue Recognition on Long-Term ContractsThe majority of the Comparg/’revenue is derived through the sale of unic
designed systems containing hardware, softwarecdimer materials under fixepice contracts. In accordance with U.S. generatigepte
accounting principles, the revenue under thesalfptce contracts is accounted for on the percentdgompletion method. This methodolc
recognizes revenue and earnings asrk progresses on the contract and is based @stanate of the revenue and earnings earned to ldat
amounts recognized in prior periods. The Compaseb its estimate of the degree of completion®ttntract by reviewing the relationshiy
costs incurred to date to the expected total cthets will be incurred on the project. Estimated tcact earnings are reviewed and rev
periodically as the work progresses, and the cutivelaffect of any change in estimate is recognizedhe period in which the change
identified. Estimated losses are charged againsirggs in the period such losses are identifiede Tompany recognizes revenue arising
contract claims either as income or as an offseinag a potential loss only when the amount ofcfaén can be estimated reliably and realize
is probable and there is a legal basis of the claim

Uncertainties inherent in the performance of can$ranclude labor availability and productivity, tadal costs, change order scope
pricing, software modification and customer accepgaissues. The reliability of these cost estimédesritical to the Compang’ revenu
recognition as a significant change in the estima@n cause the Compasyevenue and related margins to change significdrdm the
amounts estimated in the early stages of the pgrojec

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfcompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warran
costs based on historical and projected claimsréqpee. The Company’s long-term contracts genepatbvide for a ongrear warranty on par
labor and any bug fixes as it relates to softwanbedded in the systems.

The Company’s system design contracts do not ndynpaibvide for “post customer support servicd?QS) in terms of softwa
upgrades, software enhancements or telephone sugpasrder to obtain PCS, the customers normallyst purchase a separate contract.
PCS arrangements are generally for a yea- period renewable annually and include custoso@port, unspecified software upgrades,
maintenance releases. The Company recognizesueVWem these contracts ratably over the life efdlgreements
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Revenue from the sale of software licenses whichataequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Companyg modeling
tools are recognized when the license agreemesigiged, the license fee is fixed and determinatiddivery has occurred, and collectior
considered probable.

Revenue for contracts with multiple elements isoggtzed in accordance with ASC 605-Revenue RecognitioMultiple Elemer
Arrangements

Revenue from certain consulting or training cortgas recognized on a time-and-material basis. tifee-andmaterial type contrac
revenue is recognized based on hours incurred¢@ati@acted labor rate plus expenses.

Capitalization of Computer Software Developmentt€osin accordance with U.S. generally accepted aduogirprinciples, th
Company capitalizes computer software developmestisancurred after technological feasibility haei established, but prior to the releas
the software product for sale to customers. Oheeptroduct is available to be sold, the Companyrtres the costs, on a straight line met
over the three year estimated useful life of thedpct. As of December 31, 2010, the Company hasapstalized software development cost
$1.8 million. On an annual basis, and more frefjyeas conditions indicate, the Company assessesetbovery of the unamortized softw
computer costs by estimating the net undiscoundsti lows expected to be generated by the saleegbtoduct. If the undiscounted cash fl
are not sufficient to recover the unamortized safevcosts the Company will writtewn the investment to its estimated fair valueedasr
future discounted cash flows. The excess of anynanized computer software costs over the relattdrealizable value is written down ¢
charged to operations. Significant changes instiles projections could result in an impairmentwéspect to the capitalized software th.
reported on the Company’s consolidated balancetshee

Deferred Income Tax Valuation Allowancéeferred income taxes arise from temporary tiffiees between the tax bases of asse!
liabilities and their reported amounts in the fioi@h statements. Management makes a regular assessinithe realizability of the Compary’
deferred tax assets. In making this assessmenggeaent considers whether it is more likely thanthat some or all of the deferred tax as
will not be realized. The ultimate realizationd=fferred tax assets is dependent upon the genemdtfature taxable income during the perioc
which those temporary differences become deductiblanagement considers the scheduled reversaefefrréd tax liabilities and project
future taxable income of the Company in making #gsessment. A valuation allowance is recordeddoce the total deferred income tax ¢
to its realizable value. As of December 31, 2(h@, Companys largest deferred tax asset related to a U.Sopetating loss carryforward
$15.9 million which expires in various amounts bedéw 2017 and 2030. The amount of U.S. loss camyat which can be used by
Company each year is limited due to changes inGbmpany’s ownership which occurred in 2003. Thagortion of the Compang’los:
carryforward may expire unutilized. We believe ttteg Company will achieve profitable operationsuture years that will enable the Comp
to recover the benefit of its net deferred tax &ssklowever, other than a portion of the net defitax assets that are related to the Compgany’
Swedish and English subsidiaries, the recoveryhef et deferred tax assets could not be substeahtiay currently available objecti
evidence. Accordingly, the Company has establigrei8.7 million valuation allowance for its nefeteed tax assets.

Results of Operations.

The following table sets forth the results of opieras for the periods presented expressed in tmoissaf dollars and as a percentac
contract revenue.
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($ in thousands) Years ended December 3!

2010 % 2009 % 2008 %
Contract revenu $ 47,21 100.(% $ 40,06( 100.(% $ 29,00¢ 100.(%
Cost of revenue 36,08 76.4% 29,73¢ 74.2% 21,18 73.1%
Gross profit 11,13: 23.6% 10,324 25.8% 7,81 26.%
Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati 11,68: 24.% 7,74¢ 19.2% 7,38 25.48%
ESA related charge - 0.C% 1,50¢ 3.8% - 0.C%
Depreciatior 57¢ 1.2% 504 1.2% 44¢ 1.5%
Amortization of definite-lived
intangible assets 102 0.2% - 0.C% -
Total operating expenses 12,36¢ 26.1% 9,761 24.%% 7,82¢ 26.%%
Operating income (los: (1,239 (2.6)% 563 1.4% (12 (0.0%
Interest income, ne 19 0.C% 56 0.1% 13C 0.4%
ESA related charge - 0.C% (86%) (2.2% - 0.C%
Gain (loss) on derivative instrumel (919) (1.9% 763 1.9% (459) (1.6)%
Other income (expense), net 83 0.2% (397) (0.9% (22€) (0.8%
Income (loss) before income tay (2,049 (4.9% 12C 0.2% (567) (2.0%
Provision for income taxes 20€ 0.4% 917 2.2% 12¢ 0.4%
Net loss $ (2,249) (4.8)% $ (797) 2.0% $ (690 (2.4)%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2010 Beecember 31, 2009.

Contract Revenue Contract revenue for the year ended Decembe@10 totaled $47.2 million, which was 17.9% higktean thi
$40.1 million total revenue for the year ended Dalcer 31, 2009. The Company recorded total order$4df4 million in the year end
December 31, 2010 versus $54.4 million in the wrated December 31, 2009. Included in the 2009srdas an $18.4 million contract to bt
a new nuclear power plant simulator for a two weitctor plant in Slovakia. The contract includpgraximately $12.0 million for hardware,
largest portion being a distributed control sysfeom Siemens that the customer requested be aptre contract in addition to approximat
$6.0 million related specifically to the simulatdn 2010, the Company received three change otd&kng $5.4 million for this contract whi
included approximately $4.4 million for revisiorsthe Siemens digital control system. Due to theicant hardware portion of the project,
overall margin on the project is lower than the @amy’s normal gross margin. In the years ended DeceBihe2010 and 2009, the Comp.
recognized $10.4 million and $5.4 million of comtraevenue, respectively, on this project using fleecentage-otompletion method, whic
accounted for 22.0% and 13.5% of the Company’s @afeted revenue, respectively. In 2010, the Camfmnewly acquired subsidiary, T,
Engineering Consulting Ltd, had total revenue ofi%@illion. At December 31, 2010, the Companiacklog was $55.9 million, of which $
million related to the Slovakia contract. The Camp's backlog increased 3.7% from December 31, 2098 the Companyg’backlog totale
$53.9 million.

Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $11.1 million for the yeanded December 31, 2010 versus $10.3 million fer yhar ende

December 31, 2009. As a percentage of revenuss gnofit decreased from 25.8% for the twelve memthded December 31, 2009 to 23
for the twelve months ended December, 31 201(he decrease in gross margin reflects the follovtengs:
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¢ The Company has a $4.7 million contract to provedé&ull scope AGR replacement simulator with a Bhitiutility. In 201C
disagreements arose with the customer over theneatel composition of the simulator testing proceduthe scope of certi
plant systems being included in the simulator drel groject schedule. These issues were resolvédtiae customer in eal
2011, however, the resolution has significantlyéased the Comparg/tosts to complete the contract. Although the amy it
currently in negotiations with the customer for #iddal funding, the Company revised its estimdatesomplete the project in t
fourth quarter 2010 and recorded a $1.2 milliors)

+ The lowermargined $23.8 million full scope simulator anditdigcontrol system order received in 2009 fromlavak utility
made up 22.0% of the Compés total revenue in 2010 versus only 13.5% of reednl2009

Selling, General and Administrative Expense3elling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) exyses totaled $11.7 million and $7.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2010 diib2respectively. Fluctuations in the componentSG&A spending were as follows:

+ Business development and marketing costs increased$3.2 million for the year ended December 3102to $4.2 million i
the year ended December 31, 2010. Bidding andogadpcost, which are the costs of operations peedoassisting with tf
preparation of contract proposals totaled $1.4iomilfor the year ended December 31, 2010, a $482ifease from the pri
year. TAS, which was acquired on April 26, 2010¢curred $216,000 of business development expermeshé perio
commencing on the date of acquisition and endingddenember 31, 2010. During 2010, the Company hiretth a busine:
development manager in the United Kingdom and hizeBusiness development manager in the United sSfateits 3L
visualization program. During 2009, the Compamgdhibusiness development managers for both itsepsosimulation busine
and its education and training business and a rtiagkspecialist for the nuclear simulation busineaslditionally, the Compar
incurred costs of approximately $200,000 for hagstine Company’s September 2010 Simworld sseonference in Stockhol
Sweden. The Company did not host a Simworld cenfez in 2009

+ The Companys general and administrative expenses increased $#b2 million for the year ended December 31, 2{096.¢
million in the year ended December 31, 2010. Teedase of $2.7 million is primarily attributabéethe following:
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o TAS, which was acquired on April 26, 2010, incurf#9,000 of G&A expenses for the period commencinghe
closing date of the acquisition and ending on Ddamm31, 2010

o The change in the fair value of contingent congitien (accretion expense) related to the TAS adipriswas
$147,000 for the year ended December 31, 2

o The Company incurred approximately $710,000 of egpse related to its acquisition efforts for theryeade:
December 31, 2010. These acquisition costs wereposed of legal, travel, due diligence, valuatior audi
expenses. The Company incurred no acquisitione@leosts in 200¢

o The Company recognized approximately $297,000 oifm currency losses for the year ended Decemibs
2010. The losses were mainly related to the CorigaBOA Euro denominated operating account, intercory
receivable/payable accounts, and a eleneminated value added tax receivable. For the geded December :
2009, the Company had recognized foreign curreaaysgof $130,00(

o The Company incurred bad debt expense of approgi;n$249,000 in 2010 versus none in 2C

o The Company incurred approximately $197,000 ofsosliated to changes in the CompangXecutive managemi
in 2010. Mr. Jim Eberle started with the CompanyJune 1, 2010 as Chief Operating Officer and pvamoted t
Chief Executive Officer on November 1, 2010 upoa tthtirement of Mr. John Moran as Chief Executiféder.

+ Gross spending on software product developmentvéid@ment”)totaled $1.6 million in the year ended December28i,0 a
compared to $1.3 million in 2009. For the yearexhdecember 31, 2010, the Company expensed $663@dCapitalize
$903,000 of its development spending. For the gedled December 31, 2009, the Company expensed(®2a&nd capitalize
$861,000. The Company’s capitalized developmepeeditures in 2010 were mainly related to the au&tation of RELAP5-
HD software (which simulates transient fluid dynasjineutronics and heat transfer in nuclear poviemtg) to run on tt
Company’s reatime executive software; the replacement of theerurGraphic User Interface of SimSuite Pro withDE
Designer; and feature enhancements to Jtopmernetpdeling tool that generates two phase network mhymanodels.. Tt
Company anticipates that its total gross developgrspanding in 2011 will approximate $1.5 millic

ESA Related ChargesGSE is a 10% owner of the Emirates Simulation Aoage LC in the United Arab Emirates.

Based upon various events which occurred in la@926he Company determined that its remaining itnaeat in ESA had be:
impaired and established reserves for the tradgvalole due from ESA at December 31, 2009 and déisé that GSE had on deposit with Ur
National Bank as a partial guarantee for I's credit facility. Partially offsetting these chas was the reversal of the remaining deferredt
related to the Company’sale of five simulators to ESA in prior years dhd remaining agent fee that was due upon paymitiie fina
outstanding receivable. The charges recordedratiteipresentation in the statement of operationthe year ended December 31, 2009 we
follows:
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Year endec
December 31,

(in thousands) 2009
Trade receivabl $ 1,60¢
Accrued agent fee (96)
Operating expense 1,50¢

Restricted cas- bank guarantee ar

accrued interest incon 1,291
Investment in ES/ 117
Deferred profit (543)
Other expense, net 86E
Total $ 2,37:

In 2010, Union National Bank withdrew a total ofd®2000 from the cash GSE had on deposit with them gartial guarantee against
ESA’s line of credit.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense totaled $579,000 and $804d the years ended December 31, 2010 and 268Pectively. Th
higher 2010 depreciation expense is primarily #sult of the Companyg’capital purchases of new computers for new lainesupgraded serve

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assedsnortization expense related to definiteed intangible assets totaled $102,000 an
for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2008ectgely. As part of the Comparsyacquisition of TAS in 2010, the Company reco
intangible assets totaling approximately $740,0@8 wstimated lives of one to ten years.

Operating Income (Loss) The Company had an operating loss of $1.2 mil{26% of revenue) in the year ended Decembe2@10
as compared with operating income of $563,000 (1o4%&venue) for the year ended December 31, 200@ variances were due to the fac
outlined above.

Interest Income, Net The Companyg interest income, net totaled $19,000 and $56f60@he years ended December 31, 2010
2009, respectively.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had two sepaeatdving credit agreements for revolving linescoédit with BOA which wer
scheduled to expire on May 31, 2012. The first lof credit was in the principal amount of up toGsBnillion and was guaranteed by the |
Exportimport Bank. The second line of credit was in thi@g@pal amount of up to $2.5 million. The Compadig not borrow any funds agai
either BOA line of credit, although the lines hakh utilized to collateralize letters of credit wihhad been issued as performance bonds.

The deferred financing costs incurred when the Bi@és of credit were first established in 2008 waneortized over the original two-
year term of the lines of credit. Amortization khegin April 2008 and ended March 31, 2010. Theedefl financing costs incurred
conjunction with the extension of the BOA linescoédit until May 31, 2012 were being amortized ower 25 month period of the lines of cr
beginning as of April 1, 2010. However, in conjtian with the revisions to the Compasyevolving credit agreements discussed belowd
liquidity section, we expensed the remaining badaas of December 31, 2010. Amortization totale®, 30 and $46,000 for the twelve mor
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company hadoappately $179,000 and $336,000, respectively, aghcin Certificates
Deposit with BOA that were being used as collatéoalvarious performance bonds. The Company remmbidterest income of $18,000
$61,000 from the Certificates of Deposit in for thelve months ended December 31, 2010 and 2088ectvely.

The Company had $17.0 million and $150,000 depdsitea money market account with BOA on December 2110, and 200
respectively. Interest income earned on the BOAeganarket account totaled $84,000 and $0 for dssyended 2010 and 2009, respectively.

In May 2007, the Company deposited $1.2 millioroiatrestricted, interestearing account at the Union National Bank in theatés
Arab Emirates as a partial guarantee for the $iilBon credit facility that UNB has extended to ESGSE recorded approximately $0 .
$26,000 interest income in the years ended DeeeRib 2010 and 2009, respectively. In 2009, then@any determined that its investmer
ESA was impaired. As such, the Company establish&dl reserve for the amount in restricted castoant as of December 31, 2009.
interest income earned from this account in 2016 n@t recorded in interest income but was creditethe reserve balance. In 2010, Ui
National Bank withdrew a total of $294,000 from ttesh GSE had on deposit with them as a partialagtee against ES's line of credit; ¢
December 31, 2010 the Company had $1.0 million neimgin the UNB account.

The Company had other interest income in the yade@& December 31, 2010 of $9,000 and $11,000 iryehe ended December
2009.

Gain (Loss) on Derivative InstrumentsThe Company periodically enters into forward foreigkchange contracts to manage m:
risks associated with the fluctuations in foreigmrency exchange rates on foreigerominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@10, th
Company had foreign exchange contracts outstandfngpproximately 1.6 million Pounds Sterling, 1Gv8llion Euro, and 865.2 millic
Japanese Yen at fixed rates. The contracts expireadous dates through February 2014. The Compaaynot designated the contract
hedges and has recognized a loss on the chanige @stimated fair value of the contracts of $748 @0 the twelve months ended Decembe
2010.

At December 31, 2009, the Company had foreign exgdaontracts outstanding of approximately 2 millRounds Sterling, 3 millic
Euro, and 759 million Japanese Yen at fixed rald®e contracts expire on various dates through Febra014. The Company had
designated the contracts as hedges and had reedgmigain on the change in the estimated fair vafile contracts of $851,000 for the twe
months ended December 31, 2009.

The estimated fair values of the contracts at Déeem1, 2010 and 2009 were a net asset of $81,000(6&12,000, respectively, ¢
were recorded on the balance sheets as follows:
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December 31

(in thousands) 2010 2009
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 20€ $ 51t
Other assets 117 39¢€
32E 911
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (204) (34)
Other liabilities (40) (65)
(244) (99
Net fair value $ 81 % 812

The foreign currency denominated tragdeirables and unbilled receivables that are reltitede outstanding foreign exchange
contracts at December 31, 2010 are remeasured ahthof each period into the functional currensingi the current exchange rate at the end of
the period. For the years ended December 31, 20d®009, the Company incurred a $168,000 los$8800 loss, respectively, from the
remeasurement of such trade and unbilled receisable

Other Income (Expense), NetThe Company recognized $83,000 of other inconat,for the year ended December 31, 201(
contrast, the Company recognized $397,000 of atkpense, net for the same period in 2009. The meajmponents of other income (exper
net include the following items:

The Company accounted for its investment in ESA ugimg equity method. In accordance with the equisthod, the Compal
eliminated 10% of the profit from this contract e training simulators are assets that have beeorded on the books of ESA, and
Company was thus required to eliminate its propagte share of the profit included in the assetizaESA began to amortize the trair
simulators effective January 1, 2009 over a fowaryife; accordingly, GSE began to amortize theedefd profit in January 2009 and recogn
income of $181,000 for the year ended DecembefB8@9. However, in conjunction with the Compangetermination that its investmen
ESA was impaired as of December 31, 2009, GSE vefftthe balance of the deferred profit, recognizadditional income of $543,000. ¢
the discussion above ESA related charges.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Compecygnized a $615,000 equity loss on its investnienESA. However, i
conjunction with the Company’determination that its investment in ESA was iimgzhas of December 31, 2009, it wrote off the bedaof it
investment in ESA, recognizing an additional eqlogs of $117,000. See the discussion abo&SiA related charges.

The Company had other miscellaneous income in ¢laesyended December 31, 2010 and 2009 of $83,@D6f#87,000, respectively.
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Provision for Income Taxes

The Company files in the United States federalsfidtion and in several state and foreign jurisditd. Because of the net opera
loss carryforwards, the Company is subject to Wefleral and state income tax examinations fromsy4807 and forward and is subjec
foreign tax examinations by tax authorities fornge2005 and forward. Open tax years related te stad foreign jurisdictions remain subjec
examination but are not considered material tofimancial position, results of operations or cashws.

As of December 31, 2010, there have been no mhtt@mges to the liability for uncertain tax pasits. Furthermore, the Compan
not aware of any tax positions for which it is reably possible that the total amounts of unrecgghtax benefits would significantly decre
or increase within the next twelve months.

The Companys tax provision in 2010 was $206,000 and consisfeg,000 state income taxes, $382,000 foreignrmetaxes incurre
by the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, and a $1@5,8et credit for foreign income tax withholding several nord.S. contracts. In the fii
quarter 2010, the Company reversed a $400,000 a&cfuforeign income tax withholding on a contraleét it completed in China. Partie
offsetting this credit were withholding taxes tatglapproximately $215,000 on various contractsmleted in Mexico, South Korea and Can:

The Companys tax provision in 2009 was $917,000 and consisfe$29,000 U.S. federal income taxes, $80,000 steteme taxe:
$569,000 foreign income taxes incurred by the Comjsaforeign subsidiaries, and $239,000 foreigrome tax withholding on several ndhS,
contracts.

The Company has a full valuation allowance on itS.l&nd Scottish net deferred tax assets at Dece3ib2010.
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2009 Biecember 31, 2008.

Contract Revenue Contract revenue for the year ended Decembef@19 totaled $40.1 million, which was 38.1% highktean th
$29.0 million total revenue for the year ended Dalcer 31, 2008. The Company recorded total order$5df4 million in the year end
December 31, 2009 versus $44.0 million in the yeried December 31, 2008. Included in the 2009rsmias an $18.4 million contract to bt
a new nuclear power plant simulator for a two weéctor plant in Slovakia. The contract includpgraximately $12.0 million for hardware, |
largest portion being a distributed control sysfeom Siemens that the customer requested be aptre contract in addition to approximat
$6.0 million related specifically to the simulatdbue to the significant hardware portion of theject, the overall margin on the project
lower than the Company’normal gross margin. In the year ended DeceBibe2009, the Company recognized $5.4 million oftcact revenu
on this project using the percentage-of-completigthod, which accounted for 13.5% of the Compamgnsolidated revenue. At Decembel
2009, the Company’s backlog was $53.9 million, @ick $13.0 million related to this contract. Then@anys backlog increased 41.5% fr
December 31, 2008 when the Company’s backlog @h&8.1 million.

Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $10.3 million for the yearded December 31, 2009 versus $7.8 million foryde ended Decemt
31, 2008. As a percentage of revenue, gross pitefiteased from 26.9% for the twelve months endedeBber 31, 2008 to 25.8% for
twelve months ended December, 31 2009. The dserim gross margin mainly reflected the impadheflower margin on the $18.4 milli
full scope simulator and digital control systemerceceived in the first quarter 2009 from a Sloutikty.
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Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative (“SG&A&xpenses totaled $7.7 million and 9
million for the years ended December 31, 2009 dliB2respectively. Fluctuations in the componentSG&A spending were as follows:

+ Business development and marketing costs increfasad$2.9 million for the year ended December 3102to $3.1 million i
the year ended December 31, 2009. The spendimgaise mainly reflects a $352,000 increase of bgldind proposal cos
which are the costs of operations personnel instisgi with the preparation of contract proposald an$104,000 increase
business development labor and benefit costs.009 2he Company hired business development man&gelsth its proce:
simulation business and its education and traifinginess. These increases were partially offsea I$137,000 decrease
business development travel expenses. In additimnCompany did not have a Simworld usesbnference in 2009, but sp
approximately $75,000 in 2008 for ite-annual Simworld conference in Beijing, Chii

¢ The Companys general and administrative expenses were viytwaithanged at $4.2 million for the year ended Drdmr 31
2009 and $4.2 million for the year ended Decemlie2B08.

+ Gross spending on software product developmentvéidpment”)totaled $1.3 million in the year ended December2il9 a
compared to $907,000 for the same period in 2008.the year ended December 31, 2009, the Compgensed $425,000 a
capitalized $861,000 of its development spendirgyepensed $316,000 and capitalized $591,000 deitelopment spending
the year ended December 31, 2008. The Compargpitalized development expenditures in 2009 weaély related to tr
customization of RELAPRRT software (which simulates transient fluid dynesnineutronics and heat transfer in nuclear p
plants) to run on the Company’s reihe executive software; the replacement of theesurGraphic User Interface of SimSi
Pro with JADE Designer; the development of geneiimulation models for three oil and gas refininggasses: continuo
catalytic reformer, hydrotreater, and amine treattm@&nd a generic combined cycle gas turbine sitoul

ESA related charges GSE is a 10% owner of the Emirates Simulation AoagelLLC in the United Arab Emirates. Although E
was formed in late 2005, it had its grand openinglanuary 14, 2009 and signed its first custormanitrg contract on the same day. Des
ESA’s promotional efforts, 2009 revenue totaled onlyDAP09,000 ($57,000), and they incurred a net los@ABD 22.6 million ($6.:
million). Per ESA’s latest financial projectioriSSA would not become profitable until 2016 and vaobt become cash positive until 2017,

At December 31, 2009, ESA had borrowed a total BDA36.4 million ($9.9 million) from its credit fdiy with Union National Ban}
including accrued interest payable. ESA was dekmd in paying both principal and interest (a taAED 5.3 million or $1.5 million) and
January 2010, UNB drew upon the guarantees ofhite® tpartners to pay off the delinquency, withdrapn$145,000 from GSE'restricted ca:
account. In February 2010, GSE was notified thafBad missed another loan payment and that 108#%eoémount due ($24,000) would
withdrawn from the Company'’s restricted cash actoun

At a meeting of ESAS three shareholders held at ESA on February 11Q,28e shareholders reached agreement to sigmtiffcaeduct
costs and begin to explore options up to and inctuthe selling of ESA.

Accordingly, based upon these events, the Compatgrmined that its remaining investment in ESA bhadn impaired and establis|
reserves for the trade receivable due from ESAatember 31, 2009 and the cash that GSE has onitlefthsUNB as a partial guarantee
ESA’s credit facility. Partially offsetting thes#harges was the reversal of the remaining defgrrefit related to the Comparg/'sale of fiv
simulators to ESA in prior years and the remairdaggnt fee that was due upon payment of the finistauoding receivable. The charges reca
and the presentation in the statement of operafanthe year ended December 31, 2009 were asiAfsllo
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Year ende(
December 31,

(in thousands) 2009
Trade receivabl $ 1,60¢
Accrued agent fee (96)
Operating expense 1,50¢

Restricted cas- bank guarantee at

accrued interest incon 1,291
Investment in ES/ 117
Deferred profit (543)
Other expense, net 86E
Total $ 2,37

Depreciation Depreciation expense totaled $504,000 and $806dr the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The higher 2009 depreciation expevesea result of the Company’s 2008 capital purebaslated to the Company’s move to its
Sykesville, Maryland headquarters in 2008 and tivelpase of new computers for new hires.

Operating Income (Loss) The Company had operating income of $563,00041of revenue) in the year ended December 31, 28
compared with operating loss of $12,000 (0.0% wéneie) for the year ended December 31, 2008. &hances were due to the factors outl
above.

Interest Income (Expense), NefThe Company interest income, net totaled $56,000 and $130{60€he years ended December
2009 and 2008, respectively.

On March 28, 2008, the Company entered into twasgp revolving line of credit agreements for tyaar revolving lines of crec
with BOA, replacing the Company’credit facility with Laurus Master Fund. Onedliof credit is in the principal amount of up to %a&illion
and is guaranteed by the U.S. Explonport Bank. The second line of credit was oriffinan the principal amount of up to $1.5 millic
however, on May 5, 2009, the credit agreement wasnaed to increase the principal amount to $2.5amil The Company had not borrov
any funds against either BOA line of credit. Hoeewat December 31, 2009, $2.4 million of the dréatility was utilized as collateral for thi
standby letters of credit.

The deferred financing costs incurred in conjunctigth the Laurus Master Fund line of credit weneoatized over the twgear perio
of the line of credit, with the final amortizatiaxpense recorded in February 2008. Amortizatigmease totaled $89,000 in the year el
December 31, 2008. The deferred financing costsried in conjunction with the BOA lines of crediere being amortized over the tweal
period of the lines of credit. Amortization begampril 2008 and totaled $46,000 and $53,000 ffer years ended December 31, 2009 and :
respectively.
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Interest income earned on short-term investmentseofCompanys operating cash totaled $4,000 for the year emdsxmber 31, 20(
versus $67,000 in the year ended December 31, Z008.lower interest income in 2009 mainly reflectae termination of the Compay’
commercial automated investment account with BO#kesecond quarter of 2009.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company hadoappately $336,000 and $2.9 million, respectivady,cash in Certificates
Deposit with BOA that were being used as collatésalvarious performance bonds. At December 3D926he Company also had a $600,
Certificate of Deposit which was issued as addilarollateral for one of the BOA lines of credithe Company earned approximately $61
and $132,000 in interest income on the Certificafe3eposit in the years ended December 31, 2062808, respectively.

In May 2007, the Company deposited $1.2 millioroiatrestricted, interestearing account at the Union National Bank in thetet
Arab Emirates as a partial guarantee for the $tfilllon credit facility that UNB has extended to ESGSE recorded approximately $26,
and $48,000 interest income in the years endedreee31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The redudtidnterest income reflected the lo
interest rates in 2009.

The Company had other interest income in the ypde@ December 31, 2009 of $11,000 and $25,000eiry¢lar ended December
2008.

Gain (Loss) on Derivative InstrumentsThe Company periodically enters into forward foreigxkchange contracts to manage m:
risks associated with the fluctuations in foreigmrency exchange rates on foreigerominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@19, th
Company had foreign exchange contracts outstarafimgpproximately 2 million Pounds Sterling, 3 ndhi Euro, and 759 million Japanese '
at fixed rates. The contracts expire on variougsl#dtrough February 2014. The Company had nogdatEd the contracts as hedges ant
recognized a gain on the change in the estimateddhue of the contracts of $851,000 for the tveetwonths ended December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had foreign exghaontracts outstanding of approximately 2 millRounds Sterling, 4 millic
Euro, and 68 million Japanese Yen at fixed ratée dontracts expire on various dates through Fep2@14. The Company had not design
the contracts as hedges and had recognized ahod®eahange in the estimated fair value of theragots of $174,000 for the twelve mor
ended December 31, 2008.

The estimated fair value of the contracts at Deaan®i, 2009 and 2008 was a net asset of $812,00@G aret liability of $58,00
respectively, and were recorded on the balancashsdollows:
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December 31

(in thousands) 2009 2008
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 51t $ 14
Other assets 39€ 537
911 551
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (34) (42€)
Other liabilities (65) (189)
(99 (609)
Net fair value $ 812 $ (58)

The foreign currency denominated tradeirables and unbilled receivables that are reladete outstanding foreign exchange
contracts at December 31, 2010 are remeasured ahthof each period into the functional currensingi the current exchange rate at the end of
the period. For the years ended December 31, 20d@009, the Company incurred a $168,000 los$88d@00 loss, respectively, from the
remeasurement of such trade and unbilled receisable

Other Income (Expense), NetThe Company recognized $83,000 of other inconat,for the year ended December 31, 201(
contrast, the Company recognized $397,000 of atkpense, net for the same period in 2009. The meajmponents of other income (exper
net include the following items:

e The Company accounted for its investment in ESAgitiie equity method. In accordance with the gquigthod, the Company
eliminated 10% of the profit from this contractthe training simulators are assets that have lmmrded on the books of ESA, and the
Company was thus required to eliminate its propagte share of the profit included in the assaiezaESA began to amortize the
training simulators effective January 1, 2009 avéour year life; accordingly, GSE began to amerttze deferred profit in January 2009
and recognized income of $181,000 for the year @dkErember 31, 2009. However, in conjunction g Company’s determination
that its investment in ESA was impaired as of Ddoen31, 2009, GSE wrote off the balance of therdefieprofit, recognizing addition.
income of $543,000. See the discussion abo®SiA related charges.

e For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Compmognized a $615,000 equity loss, respectivelytsomvestment in
ESA. However, in conjunction with the Company’sedeination that its investment in ESA was impaiasdf December 31, 2009, it
wrote off the balance of its investment in ESA agwmizing an additional equity loss of $117,000e 8 discussion above HEA relatet
charges.

e The Company had other miscellaneous income in ¢lagsyended December 31, 2010 and 2009 of $83,@D6f&#87,000, respectively.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company files in the United States federalsflidtion and in several state and foreign jurisditd. Because of the net opera
loss carryforwards, the Company is subject to Wefleral and state income tax examinations fromsy@&807 and forward and is subjec
foreign tax examinations by tax authorities fornge2005 and forward. Open tax years related te stad foreign jurisdictions remain subjec
examination but are not considered material tofimancial position, results of operations or cashws.
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As of December 31, 2009, there had been no mathaiges to the liability for uncertain tax posiso Furthermore, the Company \
not aware of any tax positions for which it wassa@ably possible that the total amounts of unreizeghtax benefits would significan
decrease or increase within the next twelve months.

The Companys tax provision in 2009 was $917,000 and consisfe$29,000 U.S. federal income taxes, $80,000 steteme taxe:
$569,000 foreign income taxes incurred by the Camjsaforeign subsidiaries, and $239,000 foreigrome tax withholding on several n@hS.
contracts.

The Companys tax provision in 2008 was $129,000 and consiste&$10,000 state income taxes, $226,000 foreigmonre ta:
withholding on several non-U.S. contracts, and $09,foreign income taxes incurred by the Compargteign subsidiaries. The income
expense was partially offset by a $126,000 crediinfthe reduction of the valuation allowance agathe net deferred tax assets of
Company’s Swedish subsidiary.

The Company had a full valuation allowance on itS.Unhet deferred tax assets at December 31, 2009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources.
As of December 31, 2010, GSE had cash and cashadeuis of $26.6 million versus $25.3 million atde@enber 31, 2009.

Cash From Operating ActivitiesFor the year ended December 31, 2010, net casldebby operating activities totaled $2.4 mill
which was an increase of $2.1 million as compaeetti¢ year ended December 31, 2009.

Significant changes in the Company’s assets abiditias in the year ended December 31, 2010 irsdiid

+ A $903,000 increase in the Company’s contractsivabé&e. The Compang’trade receivables, net of the allowance for dol
accounts, decreased from $6.4 million at Decemtligr2809 to $5.7 million at December 31, 2010. Twmpanys unbillec
receivables increased by $2.0 million to $11.5iomllat December 31, 2010. The increase in thelledhieceivables is due to 1
timing of contracted billing milestones of the Caang’s current projects. In January and February 2@ Company invoice
$2.9 million of the unbilled amounts; the balandettee unbilled amounts is expected to be invoiced eollected within or
year. At December 31, 2010, trade receivableganding for more than 90 days totaled $318,000uge#d .4 million at Decemk
31, 2009, excluding the $1.6 million due from ESAigh had been fully reserved at both dates. Inudan2011, the Compa
received a stop work order from NuScale Power (“dal&’). NuScales primary investor is a defendant in a lawsuit lgftby the
Securities and Exchange Commission and has ceasdihfj NuScales current operations. As such, the Company ineckés ba
debt reserve approximately $400,000 as of Dece®ibe2010.

+ A $922,000 increase in prepaid expenses and otssgtsa The Company’'s Value Added Tax (“VATrgceivable increas
$250,000 at December 31, 2010 as compared to ibveygar. VAT is included in payments the Compamgkes to Siemens for 1
DCS system being provided to a Slovak utility. Gi&ds filed for a refund of the VAT paid. In additioprepaid foreign incon
taxes and employee advances have increased a 00,000 from 200!
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+ A $932,000 increase in accounts payable, accruethbensation and accrued expenses. The Compamncounts payable &
accrued liabilities have increased $358,000 dubeacacosts accrued related to the Compsiagquisition efforts as of December
2010. Additionally, accrued compensation increa$865,000 primarily due to an increase in the Camfsmheadcount fro
December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2(

+ A $1.7 million increase in billings in excess of’eaue earned. The increase is due to the timirgpofracted billing milestones
the Compan’s current projects

For the year ended December 31, 2009, net cashide\by operating activities totaled $326,000 andréased $1.9 million
compared to 2008 .Significant changes in the Company’s assets abditias in 2009 included:

¢ A $5.1 million increase in the Company’s contraseivable. The Compary/trade receivables increased from $7.3 mi
(including $1.6 million due from ESA) at Decembdr, 2008 to $8.2 million at December 31, 2009 (idadg the same $1.6 millic
due from ESA). The Compars/unbilled receivables increased by $5.5 millior$%5 million at December 31, 2009. The incr
in the unbilled receivables is due to the timingcoftracted billing milestones of the Compangurrent projects. In January
February 2010, the Company invoiced $1.3 milliorthe unbilled amounts. At December 31, 2009, tradeivables outstandi
for more than 90 days totaled $3.0 million vers@s3$million at December 31, 2008; $1.6 million bétoverdue amount was ¢
from ESA at both dates. Approximately $300,00@hef over 90 day balance at December 31, 2009 raseeeived as of the €
of February 2010. At a meeting of the three ESArsholders held at ESA on February 17, 2010, tleresiolders reach
agreement to significantly reduce costs and begiexplore options up to and including the sellifgg®A. Accordingly, th
Company increased its bad debt reserve from $220@kcember 31, 2008 to $1.7 million at December2809 mainly to reser
the overdue receivable from ES

+ A $4.1 million increase in accounts payable, acdroempensation and accrued expenses. The Congpangbunts payable ¢
accrued liabilities had increased due to mateniatipases and the utilization of subcontractorsexesal of the Compang’curren
projects.

+ A $1.4 million decrease in billings in excess oferue earned. The decrease was due to the tirhic@ntracted billing mileston
of the Compan’s current projects

Net cash provided by operating activities was $8ilBon for the year ended December 31, 2008. Tiast significant change in t

Company’s assets and liabilities in 2008 was a #iilBon increase in the Compargybillings in excess of revenue earned. The irsereeas di
to the timing of contracted billing milestones bétCompany’s current projects.

Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing ActivitiEsr the year ended December 31, 2010, net cashimsedesting activities was $1
million.

The Company made capital expenditures of $519,0@0capitalized software development costs of $9UR,0Cash used as collate
for standby letters of credit, bank guaranteesfarglgn currency contracts decreased by $841,000.
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Effective April 26, 2010, GSE Systems Inc., throuigh wholly owned subsidiary GSE Systems, Ltd. (GSEK), completed th
acquisition of TAS Holdings Ltd. The purchasecpriotaled approximately $2.3 million with approstaly $500,000 paid in cash at clos
$683,000 paid postlosing in GSE common stock, approximately $100,8@8 paid during September 2010, and the balarfegrdé until th
first and second anniversary of the closing datAS had approximately $68,000 cash on their balaheet as of the acquisition date.

On the closing date, TAS entered into a sale aadeleack agreement with the former TAS shareholdénsler the terms of tl
agreement, the TAS shareholders purchased theirgiddcupied by TAS for approximately $377,000 &sfec and TAS entered into a fiyeal
lease for approximately $31,000 per year, payablequal monthly installments. TAS may terminate kase after April 26, 2013 upon
months written notice.

On July 28, 2010, GSE-UNIS Simulation Technology,Ctd. (“GSE-UNIS"),a limited liability company, received a formal buess:
license from the Chinese government. GSE-UNISLE Bwned by Beijing UNIS Investment Co., Ltd. (“UN) and 49% owned by GSE.
October 1, 2010, the Company contributed $587,008aish, as its initial investment to GEBHS. In September 2010, UNIS contribL
approximately $600,000 in cash as its initial inment to GSE-UNIS. UNIS and GSE will make additibrontributions to GSE/NIS of
approximately $900,000 and $800,000, respectivelgr the next fifteen months.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, net cashidpea\wby investing activities was $1.2 million. Ti@@mpany made capi
expenditures of $361,000, increased its investnimeRSA by $14,000, and capitalized software develept costs of $861,000. $2.5 millior
cash used as collateral for letters of credit, bgudrantees and foreign currency contracts waagetkin 2009, $2.1 million of which related
performance bond for ESA which expired in Octob@d2

Net cash used in investing activities was $2.6iamilfor the year ended December 31, 2008. The @Gomnmade capital expenditure:
$705,000, increased its investment in ESA by $48%#nd capitalized software development costs 81 FH0. The Company also restrictes
additional $836,000 of cash as collateral for penfance bonds issued by the Company and backedbgitst letters of credit.

Cash Provided by Financing ActivitiesFor the year ended December 31, 2010, net ceshidpd by financing activities total
$94,000.

The Company received $176,000 from the issuanceowfmon stock from the exercise of warrants and eyea stock options a
spent $82,000 on deferred financing costs in catjan with the Bank of America lines of credit.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, net cashdp\by financing activities totaled $15.4 millio@n September 4, 2009,
Company raised $15.0 million through the sale &frillion shares of its common stock, $.01 par egber share. The shares were sold un
shelf registration statement which was declaredctiffe by the Securities and Exchange CommissioAuwgust 21, 2009. On September
2009, the Company raised an additional $2,250,008nvthe Company’s underwriter exercised an @detment option in full to purchase
additional 375,000 shares of the Compangommon stock at the public offering price of ®6p&r share. The aggregate net proceeds recey
the Company from the two transactions was approaly&15.9 million. The Company received $121,6@0n the issuance of common st
for employee stock options and warrants exercisaidng the year ended December 31, 2009. In acocsdavith the amendment to -
Companys $2.5 million BOA line of credit effective May 2009, the Company placed $600,000 in a restriceatificate of deposit. Th
certificate of deposit is included in the borrowibgse calculation to determine the amount of fuhdsthe Company can utilize under its ¢
million line of credit. In the year ended DecemBg&r 2009, the Company spent $20,000 on deferneahding costs in conjunction with the Bi
of America lines of credit.
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The Company generated $483,000 from financing iietsvin the year ended December 31, 2008. The faom received $571,0
from the issuance of common stock from the exerafs@arrants and employee stock options and sp@Bf0$0 on deferred financing cost:
conjunction with the new Bank of America lines oédit.

Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2010, the Company had two sepasatdving credit agreements for revolving linescaédit with BOA which were 1
expire on May 31, 2012. The Company and its sudnsid GSE Power Systems, Inc., were jointly andesaly liable as cdsorrowers. Th
credit facilities enabled the Company to borrowdsitio support working capital needs and standlgriedf credit. This revolving line of cre
enabled the Company to borrow funds up to 90% igiléé foreign accounts receivable, plus 75% ofiblie unbilled foreign receivables &
100% of cash collateral pledged to BOA on outstagdvarranty standby letters of credit. This linecoddit was 90% guaranteed by the Export-
Import Bank of the United States. The second tfieredit was in the principal amount of up to $&flion. This line of credit enabled t
Company to borrow funds up to 80% of domestic ant®teceivable, 30% of domestic unbilled receivalaied 100% of the principal balanct
a $600,000 certificate of deposit issued by BOAe Thterest rate on this line of credit was basedhe daily LIBOR rate plus 225 basis poi
with interest only payments due monthly. The crediteements contained certain restrictive covenagiarding future acquisitions, incurre
of debt and the payment of dividends. In additlooth credit agreements contained financial covenaith respect to the Compasyminimun
tangible net worth, debt service coverage rati@ amded debt to EBITDA ratio. At December 3010 and throughout all of 2010,
Company had not paid any interest or principal payts related to any borrowings for over one yees.such the debt service coverage rat
not applicable at December 31, 2010. The finarmaknant calculations at December 31, 2010 arersthelow:

As of
Covenan Dec. 31, 201(
Tangible net worth Must Exceed $15.0 $31.8 million
million
Funded debt to EBITDA Not to Exceed 2.50:  (30.90) : 1.00
ratio 1.00

For the funded debt to EBITDA ratio calculationgthmount of outstanding standby letters of credd aurety bonds that are not c
collateralized are included as funded debt. Atddelger 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding staledieys of credit and surety bonds -
were not cash collateralized of $4.5 million. Ditethe Company net loss of $2.2 million for the year ended Deoem31, 2010, tt
Company was in default on its funded debt to EBIT2#fio at December 31, 2010.

Due to the Company’s financial covenant default,ABftas made the following amendments to the Commangvolving credit agreeme
effective March 14, 2011:

« A written waiver has been granted for the fundelt die EBITDA ratio default.

« The $5.0 million principal line of credit has beenminated.

« The financial covenants for the $2.5 million pripai line of credit have been deleted.

« The Company is required to cash collateralize @$@nding standby letters of credit, which to&8s4 million.
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« All future letters of credit issued by BOA must ¢esh collateralized.
« Borrowings under the line of credit must be caslhateralized. Currently the Company has in plac6@0,000 certificate of deposit
collateral for the line of credit.

Common Stock Offering

On September 4, 2009, the Company raised $15.@0bmitrough the sale of 2.5 million shares of isnton stock, $.01 par value
share. The shares were sold under a shelf restratatement which was declared effective by Sleeurities and Exchange Commissior
August 21, 2009. On September 23, 2009, the Coynpeined an additional $2,250,000 when the Commanpderwriter, exercised an over-
allotment option in full to purchase an additio35,000 shares of the Compasmy¢ommon stock at the public offering price of $6kl
share. The aggregate net proceeds received ydmpany from the two transactions was approximekély.9 million. The Company paid
underwriter a fee in the amount of 6% of the gnasxeeds received by the Company from the offef#1g035,000) and paid 339,000 in of
transaction fees.

Contractual Cash Commitments

The following summarizes the Company’s contractagh obligations as of December 31, 2010, anceffext these obligations ¢
expected to have on its liquidity and cash floviuture periods:

Payments Due by Perioc
(in thousands)
Less
Contractual Cash than 1 After 5
Obligations Total year |1-3 Yeard4-5 Yearq Years
Long Term Debt | $ 41 $ 1% 19 2
Subcontractor and$ 10,68]$ 8,09¢$ 2,581 $ 419 -
Purchase
Commitments
Net Future $ 392|% 711$ 1551% 441$ 1,204
[Minimum Lease
Payments
Total $ 14,60] $ 8,88]$ 4,141% 441$ 1,204

As of December 31, 2010, the Company veaiicgently liable for five standby letters of cite@ind three surety bonds totaling $4.7
million which represent performance bonds on eggmitracts. The Company has deposited the fullevafione standby letter of credit
($179,000) in a certificate of deposit, which hagmrestricted in that the Company does not hasesado these funds until the related letter of
credit has expired. The cash has been recordéteocBompany’s balance sheet at December 31, 20 ticted cash.

51




At December 31, 2010, the Company has $1.0 milhoa restricted, interest-bearing account at thk/National Bank (“UNB”)in the
United Arab Emirates as a partial guarantee forsthe8 million credit facility that UNB has exterttito ESA. The Company established a
reserve against the restricted cash account agoérbber 31, 2009. Any interest income earned ttosmaccount in 2010 was not recorde
interest income but was credited to the reservarizal. In 2010, Union National Bank withdrew a ftofe$294,000 from the account.

2011 Liquidity Outlook

At December 31, 2010, the Company had cash andemaskalents of $26.6 million and has $600,000 latée under its $2.5 millic
line of credit. Of this amount $3.4 million willebrestricted as cash collateral for the Compamutstanding standby letters of cred
accordance with the March 14, 2011 amendment t&Ctmapanys revolving credit agreement. The Company hasrediteto 2011 with $55
million of backlog; $37.7 million of which is expet to convert to revenue in 2011. The Companicigates that its normal operations \
generate all of the funds necessary to fund itsalisated operations during the next twelve monfiise Company believes that it will hé
sufficient liquidity and working capital without ddional financing. However, notwithstanding therdgoing, the Company may be require
look for additional capital to fund its operatiorfs the Company is unable to operate profitably ageherate sufficient cash frc
operations. There can be no assurance that the&uonwould be successful in raising such additifunadis.

Foreign Exchange.

A portion of the Company's international sales nesehas been and may be received in a currency thidue the currency in which t
expenses relating to such revenue are paid. Aowyl the Company periodically enters into forwdiodeign exchange contracts to manage
market risks associated with the fluctuations irefgn currency exchange rates.

Off-balance Sheet Obligations

The Company has no dffalance sheet obligations as of December 31, 28Xd@pt for its operating lease commitments andtaidisng
letters of credit and surety bonds. &mmtractual Cash Commitmerdbove.

New Accounting Standards.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stasslddpdate (“ASU”) 2009-13Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-
Deliverable Arrangements.ASU 2009-13 amends the guidance that in the absehgendor-specific objective and thighrty evidence fc
deliverables in multipleleliverable arrangements, companies will be reduie develop a best estimate of the selling prizeseparal
deliverables and allocate arrangements considerasing the relative selling price method. ASU 203 expands the disclosure requirem
for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements. The guidanddwigffective for financial statements issuedffecal years beginning after Ju
15, 2010. Early adoption is permitted. The Conypdoes not anticipate the adoption of ASU 20390 have a material impact on its finan
statements.
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In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-Stftware (Topic 985), Certain Revenue Arrangemeénds Include Softwal
Elements. ASU 200914 amends the guidance to exclude for the scomoftivare revenue accounting requirements tangiteyzts if th
product contains both software and non-softwarepmrants that function together to deliver a produessential functionality and factors
consider in determining whether a product is wittia scope of the guidance. The guidance willflectve for financial statements issued
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2010. Eadgption is permitted. The Company does not grateithe adoption of ASU 2009 to have
material impact on its financial statements.

Other Matters .

Management believes inflation has not had a maten@act on the Company's operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALIT ATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Companys market risk is principally confined to changeddreign currency exchange rates. During the yeded December 3
2010, 44% of the Comparg/tevenue was from contracts which required paysnierd currency other than U.S. Dollars, princip&lros (31%
Japanese Yen (9%) and Swedish Krona (2%). Foyehes ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, 33% andr2gpectively, of the Comparsy’
revenue was from contracts which required paymiengs currency other than U.S. Dollars, principaiywedish Krona, British Pounds Sterl
and Japanese Yen.

In addition, during the years ended December 31020009 and 2008, 13%, 13% and 14%, respectieélthe Companys expense
were incurred in Swedish Krona. The Company’s sup®e to foreign exchange rate fluctuations arisggairt from intereompany accounts
which costs incurred in one entity are charged tteeo entities in different foreign jurisdictionghe Company is also exposed to fort
exchange rate fluctuations as the financial resfltsll foreign subsidiaries are translated int@Udollars in consolidation. As exchange r
vary, those results when translated may vary frapeetations and adversely impact overall expectefitpbility.

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exae contracts to manage market risks associatddthaét fluctuations in foreig
currency exchange rates. The principal currenciesvhich such forward exchange contracts are editete are the Pound Sterling, the Euro
the Japanese Yen. It is the Company's policy ®osugh derivative financial instruments to protegainst market risk arising in the nori
course of business in order to reduce the impadhe$e exposures. The Company minimizes credit ssxpoby limiting counterparties
nationally recognized financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had foreigina@xge contracts outstanding of approximately liléom Pounds Sterling, 10
million Euro, and 865.2 million Japanese Yen a¢fixates. The contracts expire on various datesigin February 2014. The Company hac
designated the contracts as hedges and has re@tdes on the change in the estimated fair valdleeocontracts of $745,000 for the year er
December 31, 2010. The estimated fair value efctintracts was a net asset of $81,000 at Dece®ib@010. The Company recognized a
of $851,000 for the year ended December 31, 2089 adoss of approximately $174,000 for the yeateenDecember 31, 2008, on the cha
in fair value of its forward currency exchange cants. A 10% fluctuation in the foreign currencileange rates up or down as of Decembe
2010 would have increased/decreased the changtinmaged fair value of the contracts by $8,100.
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm — Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.:

We have audited GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidigties™Company”internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2010, bas
on criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiointhe Treadwa
Commission (COSO). The Company's management iomefigge for maintaining effective internal contmler financial reporting and for
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comvel financial reporting, included in the accomyiag Managemens$ Report on Intern
Control over Financial Reporting Item 9A(b). Ouispensibility is to express an opinion on the Conyminternal control over financ
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight io@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cortrar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aatli@ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestaWée believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyesdcepted accounting principles.
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ifpjmeto the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettilansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdimpany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
transactions are recorded as necessary to peregagation of financial statements in accordancé génerally accepted accounting princig
and that receipts and expenditures of the compamype@ing made only in accordance with authorizatiohmanagement and directors of
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediegaprevention or timely detection of unauthorizeztjuisition, use, or disposition of
company's assets that could have a material effetite financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods angiect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdures may deteriorate.
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In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internabntrol over financial reporting as of December 3210
based on criteria establishedliternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatairtbe Treadwa
Commission (COSO). We also have audited, in aerord with the standards of the Public Company Acting Oversight Board (Unite
States), the consolidated balance sheets of thep@wyras of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and theedetainsolidated statements of operati
comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ eguitycash flows for each of the years in the tlyese-period ended December 31, 2010,
our report dated March 14, 2011 expressed an uifigdabpinion on those consolidated financial staats.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 14, 2011




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm — Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries2scember 31, 2010 and 2009, anc
related consolidated statements of operations, oeimepsive loss, changes in stockholdeuity and cash flows for each of the years ir
three-year period ended December 31, 2010. Thassotidated financial statements are the respditgibf the Companys management. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesgsotidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighafglo(United States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obteeasonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, onsalt@sis, evidence supporting the amounts andodisas in the financial statements. An ¢
also includes assessing the accounting princies and significant estimates made by managememiek as evaluating the overall finan:
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetsereferred to above present fairly, in all mater@spects, the financial position of G
Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December@I) and 2009, and the results of their operatiowktheir cash flows for each of the year
the three-year period ended December 31, 2010nfoooity with U.S. generally accepted accountingpgiples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boldnited States), the Company’
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2010, based on criteria establishedté@rnal Control—Integrated Framewoigsuet

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Tmeadway Commission (COSO), and our report datedchl 10, 2011 expressed
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the @amy’s internal control over financial reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 14, 2011
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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Iltem 1. Financial Statements
GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Contract receivables, n
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current asse

Equipment and leasehold improveme
Accumulated depreciation

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Software development costs, |
Goodwill

Intangible assets, n
Long-term restricted cas
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensation and payroll ta

Billings in excess of revenue earr

Accrued warrant
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock $.01 par value, 2,0008¢0res authorized, shares issued
outstanding none in 2010 and 2
Common stock $.01 par value, 30,000,0@0es authorized, shares issued
outstanding 19,171,855 in 2010 and 18,930,368 (9.
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equit

The accompanying notes are an integral part oethessolidated financial statemer
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December 31

2010 2009
$ 26,577 $ 25,27(
17¢ 93¢
17,201 15,941
1,99: 1,491
45,94¢ 43,64(
4,721 4,06F
(3,667 (3,076)
1,06( 98¢
1,79¢ 1,86¢
2,60¢ 1,73¢
637 -
794 87¢€
775 411
$ 53,61 $ 49,52(
$ 4,945 $ 5,00¢
1,75¢ 852
2,05: 1,747
4,26¢ 2,57¢
1,68( 1,27¢
1,21( 711
15,90¢ 12,171
79¢ 20€
16,70¢ 12,37,
192 18¢
69,29¢ 67,55¢
(31,869 (29,615
(720) (990)
36,90¢ 37,14:
$ 53,61 $ 49,52(




GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Contract revenu
Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expense¢
Selling, general and administrati
ESA related charge
Depreciatior
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets

Total operating expenses
Operating income (los:

Interest income, ne

ESA related charge

Gain (loss) on derivative instrumer
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income tax

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Basic loss per common share

Diluted loss per common share

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer

(in thousands, except per share de

Years ended December 3!

2010 2009 2008
47,21: $ 40,060 $ 29,00¢
36,081 29,73¢ 21,187
11,13: 10,32+ 7,817
11,68: 7,74¢ 7,38¢

- 1,50¢ -
57¢ 504 44¢€
102 - -

12,36+ 9,761 7,82¢
(1,237) 562 (12)
19 56 13C
- (865) -
(913) 762 (453)
83 (397) (226)
(2,049 12¢ (561)
20€ 917 12¢
(2,249 $ (797 $ (690)
0.12) $ 0.05 $ (0.04)
0.12) $ 0.05 $ (0.04)




GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands

Years ended December 3!

2010 2009 2008
Net loss $ (2,249 % (797) $ (690)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 27C 224 (327)
Comprehensive loss $ (1,979 $ (579 $ (@1,01)

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer
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Balance, January 1, 200!

Stoclk-based compensatic
expense

Common stock issued fi
options exercised, net
30,645 shares returned
GSE to pay for employee
income tax liabilities o
$251

Common stock issued fi
services provide

Common stock issued fi
warrants exercise

Foreign currency translatic
adjustmen

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 20C

Stoclk-based compensatic
expense

Issuance of common sto

Common stock issued fi
options exercise

Common stock issued fi
services provide

Common stock issued fi
warrants exercise

Foreign currency translatic
adjustmen

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 20C

Stoclk-based compensatic
expense

Common stock issued fi
options exercise

Common stock issued fi
warrants exercise

Common stock issued fi
services provide:

Common stock issued fi
TAS acquisitior

Foreign currency translatic
adjustmen

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 201

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer

GSE SYSTEMS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'
(in thousands

Accumulated

Preferred Common
Stock Stock
Shares Amount Shares

EQUITY

Accumulated

Comprehensive
Total

155C $ 15!

(28,12t

(69(

$ 20,36

65!

13
54

(327
(690

15,9¢€

2,87

n

(28,81¢

(79

20,70
90
15,87
10

11

22,
(797

(29,61¢

(2,24

37,14

80

7
68.

27!
(2,249
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net ¢
provided by operating activitie
Depreciatior
Intangible asset amortizatic
Capitalized software amortizatic
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Change in fair value of contingent considera
Stocl-based compensation expel
Equity loss on investment in G-UNIS Simulation Technology Co. Lt
Elimination of profit on Emirates Simulation Atemy, LLC contrac
Amortization of deferred profit on Emirates Siation Academy, LLC contrac
Equity loss on investment in Emirates Simulattarademy, LLC
Reserve on cash collateral for Emirates Simutadicademy, LLC line of cred
(Gain)/loss on derivative instrumet
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Contract receivable
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable, accrued compé@nsaind accrued expens
Billings in excess of revenues ear
Accrued warranty reservi
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Release (restriction) of cash as collateraldtiers of credit, bank guarante
and foreign currency contrac

Capital expenditure
Capitalized software development cc

Investment in GS-UNIS Simulation Technology Co. Lt

Acquisitions, net of cash acquir
Proceeds from sale/leaseback transac

Drawdown of cash collateral on Emirates SimataAcademy, LLC line of cred
Investment in Emirates Simulation Academy, LLC

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common si
Restriction of cash for credit facility collatel

Deferred financing costs

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase in cash and cash equivalen
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ye:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric

Supplemental cash flow disclosure
Non-cash financing activitie

Issuance of 122,617 shares of comstock to acquire TAS Holdings Ltd.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oethessolidated financial statemer
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Years ended December 3!

2010 2009 2008
$ (2,249 $ (797 $ (690)
57¢ 504 44€
102 - -
97¢ 482 274
92 46 142
147 - -
882 1,01¢ 781
13 - -
- - 28
- (724) -
- 732 212
- 1,291 -
912 (769) 452
(903) (5,100 (527)
(922) 15€ (149)
932 4,14¢ (1,039)
1,66¢ (1,427) 1,75(
407 207 342
(20¢) 54€ 22C
2,43z 32€ 2,25¢
1,13¢ 2,48¢ (83€)
(51¢) (361) (705)
(903) (861) (591)
(587) - -
(54¢) - -
377 - -
(294) - -
- (14) (486)
(1,340) 1,24¢ (2,619)
17€ 15,997 571
- (600) -
(82 (20 (89
94 15,37, 482
121 45 (19)
1,307 16,99¢ 102
25,27( 8,271 8,17:
$ 26577 $ 2527( $ 8,271
$ 682 $ - % )




1. Business and basis of presentation

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems", “GS#"the "Company") provides training simulators autlicational solutions to the enel
process, manufacturing and government sectors.

The Companys operations are subject to certain risks and taiogies including, among others, rapid technolabahanges, success
the Companys product development, marketing and distributitrategies, the need to manage growth, the needtéinrkey personnel a
protect intellectual property, and the availabilifyadditional financing on terms acceptable toGoenpany.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had cash andezgshkialents of $26.6 million. Although the Compamas in default on two
its financial covenants under its line of creditemgment, the Company has received a written wdieen its bank. At December 31, 2010,
Company had two separate revolving credit agreesrfentrevolving lines of credit with BOA which wete expire on May 31, 2012. The cr¢
facilities enabled the Company to borrow fundsupmort working capital needs and standby lettersedlit. The first line of credit which was
the principal amount of up to $5.0 million. Thisd of credit was 90% guaranteed by the Expmort Bank of the United States. The sec
line of credit was in the principal amount of up $8.5 million. Both credit agreements containataficial covenants with respect to
Company’s minimum tangible net worth, debt sendogerage ratio, and funded debt to EBITDA ratibhe Company was in default onsitthe
funded debt to EBITDA ratio as of December 31, 20IDue to the Company’s financial covenant deféBdtnk of America (“‘BOA”)has mad
the following amendments to the Company’s revolingdit agreements effective March 14, 2011:
« A written waiver has been granted for the fundelt e EBITDA ratio default.
« The $5.0 million principal line of credit has beenminated.
« The financial covenants for the $2.5 million pripai line of credit have been deleted.
« The Company is required to cash collateralize @i$@nding standby letters of credit, which to&8s4 million.
« All future letters of credit issued by BOA must desh collateralized.
« Borrowings under the line of credit must be caslhateralized. Currently the Company has in plac6@0,000 certificate of deposit
collateral for the line of credit.

Despite these changes to its lines of credit, thm@any anticipates that its cash on hand and itsalooperations will provide all of the fur
necessary to fund its consolidated operations duttie next twelve months. The Company believes ithaill have sufficient liquidity an
working capital without additional financing.
2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Principles of consolidatiol

The accompanying consolidated financial statemémthide the accounts of the Company and its whollyred subsidiaries. /

intercompany balances and transactions have beeimated.
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Accounting estimate

The preparation of financial statements in confoymwith accounting principles generally acceptedhie United States of Ameri
requires management to make estimates and assms\ptiat affect the reported amounts of assets iabdities and disclosure of conting:
assets and liabilities at the date of the finansfatements and the reported amounts of revenuesxgenses during the reporting period. O
ongoing basis, the Company evaluates the estimested, including but not limited to those relatedrdgenue recognition, the allowance
doubtful accounts receivable, impairments of godldemd other intangible assets, valuation of inibley assets acquired and conting
consideration issued in business acquisitions,rewme taxes. Actual results could differ fromdbestimates.

Revenue recognitic

The majority of the Compang’revenue is derived through the sale of uniquelsighed systems containing hardware, softwar¢
other materials under fixed-price contracts. laaadance with U.S. generally accepted accountiimgimles, the revenue under these fiymtte
contracts is accounted for on the percentagesaipletion method. This methodology recognizesmaeeand earnings as work progresses o
contract and is based on an estimate of the revende@arnings earned to date, less amounts re@shimzrior periods. The Company base
estimate of the degree of completion of the contogareviewing the relationship of costs incurreddate to the expected total costs that wi
incurred on the project. Estimated contract easerg reviewed and revised periodically as the woogresses, and the cumulative effect of
change in estimate is recognized in the periodhictiwthe change is identified. Estimated losseschegged against earnings in the period
losses are identified. The Company recognizesntgy@rising from contract claims either as incomasoan offset against a potential loss
when the amount of the claim can be estimatedhigliand realization is probable and there is allbgais of the claim.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfcompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warran
costs based on historical and projected claimsréqpee. The Company’s long-term contracts genepatbvide for a ongrear warranty on par
labor and any bug fixes as it relates to softwanbedded in the systems.

The Company’s system design contracts do not ndynpaibvide for “post customer support servicd?QS) in terms of softwa
upgrades, software enhancements or telephone sugparrder to obtain PCS, the customers must atiynpurchase a separate contract. !
PCS arrangements are generally for a yea- period renewable annually and include custoso@port, unspecified software upgrades,
maintenance releases. The Company recognizesueverm these contracts ratably over the life efdlgreements.

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whichaaequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Companyg modeling

tools are recognized when the license agreemesigied, the license fee is fixed and determinatidivery has occurred, and collectiot
considered probable.
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Revenue for contracts with multiple elements isoggtzed in accordance with ASC 605-Revenue RecognitiomMultiple Elemer
Arrangements

Revenues from certain consulting or training cast@are recognized on a time-and-material basis.tife-andmaterial type contrac
revenue is recognized based on hours incurred¢@ati@acted labor rate plus expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hahdhighly liquid investments with maturities of ¢ months or less at the dati
purchase.

The Company had $17.0 million and $150,000 depdbsitea money market account with BOA on December Z110 and 200
respectively. There were no other cash equivalents

Contract receivables

Contract receivables include recoverable costsamadued profit not billed which represents reveremognized in excess of amot
billed. The liability “Billings in excess of revele earned” represents billings in excess of reveecegnized.

Billed receivables are recorded at invoiced amauifitee allowance for doubtful accounts is basedhitorical trends of past d
accounts, writesffs, and specific identification and review of pdse accounts. The activity in the allowancedoubtful accounts is as follow

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December !
2010 2009 2008
Beginning balanc $ 1,74¢ $ 23 2
Current year provisio 294 1,744 -

Current year write-offs - - -

Ending balance $ 2,040 $ 1,74¢ $ 2

At a meeting of ESAS three shareholders held at ESA on February 110,208 response to ESA's deteriorating financialdition, the
shareholders reached agreement to significantlycedosts and begin to explore options up to addiding the selling of ESA. According
the Company increased its allowance for doubtfabaats by $1.6 million for the outstanding tradeeiigable from ESA as of December
2009.

Equipment and leasehold improvements,
Equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated usiegstraightine method with estimated useful lives rangingniréhree to te
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized dwetife of the lease or the estimated useful kfbjchever is shorter, using the straidihe

method. Upon sale or retirement, the cost andaglamortization are eliminated from the respectiweounts and any resulting gain or los
included in operations. Maintenance and repairchagged to expense as incurred.
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Software development costs

Certain computer software development costs argatiaed in the accompanying consolidated balard@ets in accordance with U
generally accepted accounting principles. Capiilbn of computer software development costs lzegpon the establishment of technolog
feasibility. Capitalization ceases and amortizatidrcapitalized costs begins when the software geods commercially available for gene
release to customers. Amortization of capitalizethputer software development costs is includezbst of revenue and is determined using
straight-line method over the remaining estimatszhemic life of the product, not to exceed threarge

Development expenditur

Development expenditures incurred to meet cust@pecifications under contracts are charged to aontrosts. Company sponsc
development expenditures are charged to operasierinacurred and are included in selling, generdl asministrative expenses. The amo
incurred for Company sponsored development actwitelating to the development of new productssardices or the improvement of exist
products and services, were approximately $1.6ianill$1.3 million, and $907,000, for the years eh@@cember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2!
respectively. Certain of these expenditures wepitalized as software development costs. See Nd@eftware development costs.

Impairment of lon-lived assets

Long{ived assets, such as property, plant, and equipneapitalized computer software costs subjectnoréization, and intangibl
subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairinehenever events or changes in circumstancesatalitat the carrying amount of an a
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assetsetbeld and used is measured by a comparisore afaitrying amount of an asset to estim
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be geeeiby the asset. If the carrying amount of aptassceeds its estimated future cash flow
impairment charge is recognized at the amount biglwtine carrying amount of the asset exceeds thedhue of the asset. Assets to be disp
of would be separately presented in the balancetstrel reported at the lower of the carrying amaurfair value less costs to sell, and woult
longer be depreciated.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Companys intangible assets include amounts recognizedmmection with acquisitions, including customemtignships, contra
backlog and software. Intangible assets are ihjtidlued at fair market value using generally gted valuation methods appropriate for
type of intangible asset. Amortization is recogdizen a straightine basis over the estimated useful life of theamgible assets, except
contract backlog which is recognized in proportiorthe projected revenue streams of the relatekldgcintangible assets with definite lives
reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairmearise. Except for goodwill, the Company does retehany intangible assets with indefi
useful lives.
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Gooduwill represents the excess of costs over fliresof assets of businesses acquir@tie Company reviews its goodwill annually,
November 30, for impairment, or more frequentlgwents and circumstances indicate that the asggttoe impaired. An impairment loss
recognized to the extent that the carrying amoweeeds the assetfair value. For goodwill, the impairment detemation is made at tl
reporting unit level and consists of two stepsst-ithe Company determines the fair value of antipy unit and compares it to its carry
amount. Second, if the carrying amount of a répgrtinit exceeds its fair value, an impairment lssgecognized for any excess of the carr
amount of the reporting un#’goodwill over the implied fair value of that gead. The implied fair value of goodwill is deteirmed by
allocating the fair value of the reporting unitarmanner similar to a purchase price allocati®he residual fair value after this allocation is
implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwilNo impairment losses were recognized in 2010, 2008008.

Foreign currency translatiol

Balance sheet accounts for foreign operationsransiated at the exchange rate at the balance ghiextand income statement acca
are translated at the average exchange rate forpgr®d. The resulting translation adjustments areluded in accumulated ott
comprehensive loss. Transaction gains and losssslting from changes in exchange rates, are dedoin operating income in the perioc
which they occur. For the years ended December2810, 2009, and 2008, foreign currency transactjaims/(losses) were approximai
$(297,000), $130,000, and $41,000, respectively.

Warranty

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfcompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warran
costs based on historical experience and projedé#ahs. The activity in the warranty accountssdalows:

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December !
2010 2009 2008

Beginning balanc  $ 127 % 1,06 $ 72
Current year 71 60 79
provision

Current year claim (33( (407 (44¢
Currency adjustment 1 1 (¢
Ending balance $ 168 $ 127 % 1,06

Income taxe

Income taxes are provided under the asset anditjaiiethod. Under this method, deferred incometaare determined based on
differences between the financial statement andbtses of assets and liabilities using enacteddtes in effect for the year in which
differences are expected to reverse. Valuatiomwahces are established, when necessary, to rel@fered tax assets to the amounts exp
to be realized. Provision is made for the Compaoytsent liability for federal, state and foreigrtome taxes and the change in the Comp
deferred income tax assets and liabilities.
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Stock-based compensation

Compensation expense related to share based aigaigetsognized on a pro rata straidihe basis based on the value of share av
that are scheduled to vest during the requisiteiceperiod. During the twelve months ended Decam®i, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Comj
recognized $807,000, $906,000 and $650,000, rasphgtof pre-tax stockdased compensation expense under the fair valukochetAs o
December 31, 2010, the Company had $2.6 milliomrokecognized compensation related to the unvestetibp of outstanding stock opti
awards expected to be recognized through April 2016

Loss per shan

Basic loss per share is based on the weighted gezeramber of outstanding common shares for theogemiluted loss per she
adjusts the weighted average shares outstandirtgéquotential dilution that could occur if stochtions, warrants or convertible preferred s
were exercised or converted into common stock. Aumeber of common shares and common share equisalsed in the determination of be
and diluted loss per share was as follows:
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(in thousands, except for share and per share aitsd
Years ended December

2010 2009 2008

Numerator:
Net loss attributed t
common stockholders $ (2,249 $ (797 $ (690)

Denominator
Weighte-average shares outstanding for bi
earnings per sha 18,975,00 16,938,39. 15,746,61

Effect of dilutive securities
Employee stock options, warrants ¢
convertible preferred stock - - -

Adjusted weighte-average shares outstand
and assumed conversions for dilu
earnings per share 18,975,00 16,938,39. 15,746,61

Shares related to dilutive securities exaiL
because inclusion would be anti-dilati 1,679,90° 1,791,75 1,196,74

Conversion of outstanding stock options and wasrards not assumed for the years ended Decemb@03@, 2009 and 2008 beca
the impact was antiilutive. Included in the shares related to dilatisecurities excluded from the diluted earningsgbare calculation for tl
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 ctasge, were in the money options and warrantsling 518,546 shares, 641,631 sh
and 910,480 shares, respectively.

Concentration of credit risk
The Company is subject to concentration of creit with respect to contract receivables. Credik ron contract receivables
mitigated by the nature of the Company's worldwédstomer base and its credit policies. The Comparuystomers are not concentrated in

specific geographic region, but are concentratatiénenergy industry. The following customers hps@vided more than 10% of the Company’
revenue for the indicated period:

Years ended December {

2010 2009 2008
Slovenské elektrarne, a 22.0% 13.5% 0.0%
Emerson Process Managem 11.1% 12.1% 16.2%
Titan-2 Concerr 5.0% 10.7% 0.0%
American Electric Powe 0.9% 6.8% 10.5%
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Fair values of financial instrumen

The carrying amounts of current assets and culiaditities reported in the Consolidated Balance&hk approximate fair value due
their short term duration.

Deferred financing fee

The Company amortizes the cost incurred to obta&ibt dinancing using the straiglite method over the term of the underly
obligations. The amortization of deferred finamgicosts is included in interest expense. Deferiednting costs are classified within ot
assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Derivative instrument

The Company adopted ASC 8IZerivatives and Hedgingin January 1, 2009. ASC 815 enhances the diselasguirements about
entity’s derivative instruments and hedging acditigt

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exaa contracts to manage market risks associatédthat fluctuations in foreig
currency exchange rates. It is the Company's ptdiayse such derivative financial instruments totget against market risk arising in the not
course of business in order to reduce the impadhese exposures. The Company minimizes credit ®xpoby limiting counterparties
nationally recognized financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had foreigima&mge contracts outstanding of approximately lilgom Pounds Sterling, 10
million Euro, and 865.2 million Japanese Yen agfixates. At December 31, 2009, the Company haigio exchange contracts outstandin
approximately 2 million Pounds Sterling, 3 milli&uro, and 759 million Japanese Yen at fixed rafé® contracts expire on various di
through February 2014. The Company had not detgdrthe foreign exchange contracts as hedges ahdeharded the estimated fair valut
the contracts in the consolidated balance shefetllaws:

December 31

(in thousands) 2010 2009
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other currenta  $ 20€ $ 51t
Other assets 117 39¢€
32E 911
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (204) (34)
Other liabilities (40Q) (65)
(244) (99
Net fair value $ 81 ¢ 81z

The changes in the fair value of the foreign exgeacontracts are included in gain (loss) on dekieanstruments in the consolidated stater
of operations.
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The foreign currency denominated trade receivableiilled receivables, billings in excess of reveearned and subcontractor accr
that are related to the outstanding foreign exchacantracts are remeasured at the end of eachdpiatim the functional currency using
current exchange rate at the end of the periotle dain or loss resulting from such remeasurengeatso included in gain (loss) on deriva
instruments in the consolidated statement of ofmerat

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and, 200 Company recognized a net gain (loss) owlétévative instruments
outlined below:

Year ended December =

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008
Foreign exchange contra- change $ (745) $ 851 $ (174
in fair value

Remeasurement of related contr
receivables and billings in exct
of revenue earned (16€) (88) (279)
$ (919 $ 762 $ (453

New accounting standart

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stasslddpdate (“ASU”) 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (€op05), Multiple-
Deliverable Arrangements. ASU 2009-13 amends thidagce that in the absence of vendor-specific abvje and thirdparty evidence f
deliverables in multipleleliverable arrangements, companies will be reduiee develop a best estimate of the selling prizeséparal
deliverables and allocate arrangements considerasing the relative selling price method. ASU 203 expands the disclosure requirem
for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements. The guidanddwiéffective for financial statements issuedffecal years beginning after Ju
15, 2010. The Company does not anticipate thetamopf ASU 2009-13 to have a material impacttsrfinancial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 200B- Software (Topic 985), Certain Revenue Arranggmedhat Include Softwa
Elements. ASU 20094 amends the guidance to exclude for the scopmoftfvare revenue accounting requirements tangildelycts if the
product contains both software and non-softwarepmrants that function together to deliver a produessential functionality and factors
consider in determining whether a product is witthia scope of the guidance. The guidance willflectve for financial statements issued
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2010. Then@any does not anticipate the adoption of ASU 208036 have a material impact on
financial statements.

3. Acquisition

Effective April 26, 2010, GSE Systems Inc., throuth wholly owned subsidiary GSE Systems, Ltd. (E55K”), completed th
acquisition of TAS Holdings Ltd. (“TAS”)a provider of engineering consulting, specializingelectrical system design, instrumentation
controls engineering and automation engineeringz G& acquired 100% of the outstanding common stwckAS. The purchase price for -
common stock of TAS was equal to (i) the consofidatet asset value of TAS as of April 26, 2010 rapimately $600,000, and (i) four tim
the adjusted consolidated pre-tax income of TASthar year ended September 30, 2009, approximately ®illion (the ‘Adjusted Profi
Consideration”), for a total of approximately $2adlion in cash, GSE Systems, Inc. common stock @mingent consideration.
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Approximately $500,000 of the consolidated net &gakie was paid on the closing date and the ren@i$100,000 of the consolida
net asset value was paid during the third quar@02 On the closing date, the TAS Shareholders vesttitled to receive approximat
$683,000 (40% of the Adjusted Profit Consideratipayable in GSE common stock. Based upon the flarmgreed to by the parties, the 1
Shareholders received 122,617 shares of GSE corstook.

On the first anniversary of the closing date, t#eSTShareholders are entitled to receive approxity&®&17,000 (30% of the Adjust
Profit Consideration) (the “First Payment’At the option of GSE, the First Payment will be maather (i) 100% in cash or (b) 50% in cash
50% in GSE Systems, Inc. common stock. The valubenGSE common stock will be based upon the wetjaverage of the closing price:
the common stock on the NYSE Amex stock exchang¢hfofiveirading day period ending two trading days priothte first anniversary of tl
closing date. If net profit before taxes of TAS floe nine month period ending December 31, 2016sis than approximately $323,000, the |
Payment will be reduced by an amount equal to fooes the difference between (a) $323,000 andh@)actual net profit before taxes of T
for the nine-month period ending December 31, 2010.

On the second anniversary of the closing date, Tth8 Shareholders are entitled to receive approxpa$517,000 (30% of ti
Adjusted Profit Consideration) (the “Second Payrifjenit the option of GSE, the Second Payment will belenaither (i) 100% in cash or
50% in cash and 50% in GSE Systems, Inc. commark.stbhe value of the GSE common stock will be baggon the weighted average of
closing prices of the common stock on the NYSE Amstock exchange for the five-trading day periodiegdwo4trading days prior to tt
second anniversary of the closing date. If nefiplefore taxes of TAS for the twelve month periedding December 31, 2011 is less -
approximately $431,000, the Second Payment willdgiced by an amount equal to four times the diffee between (a) $431,000 and (b’
actual net profit before taxes of TAS for the tweelmonth period ending December 31, 2011.

Of the $2.3 million gross purchase price, the Camypaccrued $740,000 of contingent consideratioretham its estimate of the f
value of the potential contingent considerationgtag to the TAS Shareholders on the first and st@miversaries of the closing date.
Company will estimate the fair value of the recardenount of contingent consideration on a quartbdgis and any subsequent adjustn
based on actual payments or revised estimateb&vilbcognized in the selling, general, and adnmatise expenses of the consolidated state
of operations during the period of adjustment.

The estimated fair value of the purchase meécerded by the Company consisted of the followinghousands):
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Cash and stock purchase pr $ 1,28¢
Estimated contingent consideration 74C

Total estimated purchase price $ 2,02¢

The Company’s purchase price allocatiaritie net assets acquired was as follows (in thuiga

April 26, 2010
(unaudited)
Cash $ 68
Contract receivable 594
Prepaid expenses and other currasset 17
Property, plant and equipment, | 496
Intangible assel 735
Goodwill 865
Total assets 2,775
Accounts payable, accrued expensnd other liabilities 703
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnomgsncompleted contrac 43
Total liabilities assumed 746
Net assets acquire $ 2,02¢

The Company recorded intangible assetsrasult of the acquisition, which included $68®,06lating to contractual and non-
contractual customer relationships. Contractuataraer relationships acquired totaled $208,000aaadeing amortized over the remaining life
of the contracts, 1-4 years. Non-contractual gustorelationships acquired totaled $478,000 andbeirsg amortized over an estimated useful
life of 10 years. The Company acquired $35,006ustomer related intangible assets for contradtlbgavhich are being amortized over 1 year
subsequent to the acquisition, and $14,000 retaté@demarks, domain names and other marketiageetintangibles which are being
amortized over an estimated useful life of 3 yedrBe intangible assets and accrued contingenidenation for TAS were recorded at
estimated fair value.

TAS' results of operations are included in the adidsited financial statements for the period bemigApril 26, 2010.

On the closing date, TAS entered into a sale aaskleack agreement with the TAS Shareholders. Uhddgerms of the agreement,
TAS Shareholders purchased the building occupie@A$ for approximately $377,000 in cash, which vpasd on the closing date, and T
entered into a fiverear lease for approximately $31,000 per year, pigyia equal monthly installments. TAS may terntntihe lease after Ap
26, 2013 upon six months written notice.
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Pro forma results . Our consolidated financial statements include dperating results of TAS from the date of acqigsit For the twelv

months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the uadygtio forma financial information below assuntest bur material business acquisi
of TAS occurred on January 1, 2009.

(in thousands Twelve Months Ende
December 31
(unaudited)
Pro forma financial information including the acsjtion of TAS 2010 2009
Revenue $ 48,38 % 43,811
Operating income (los: (1,153 40(
Net loss (2,185 (63
Loss per common share — basic $ 0.12 % 0.0C
Loss per common share — diluted $ 0.12 % 0.0C

4. Contract receivables

Contract receivables represent balances due frbroad base of both domestic and international custs. All contract receivables |
considered to be collectible within twelve montRgcoverable costs and accrued profit not billedesgnt costs incurred and associated

accrued on contracts that will become billable ufidare milestones or completion of contracts. Themponents of contract receivables ai
follows:

(in thousands) December 31
2010 2009
Billed receivable: $ 7,73 $ 8,18
Recoverable costs and accrued profit not bi 11,50 9,50
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,040 (1,746
Total contract receivables, net $ 17,20 $ 15,94

5. Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets cohtist iollowing:
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(in thousands) December 31

2010 2009
Prepaid expenst $ 41 $ 34
Employee advance 9l -
Deferred income tax- current 3 -
Value added tax receivak 71 46.
Other current assets 72 67!
Total $ 1,99 $ 1,49

6. Equipment and leasehold improvements
Equipment and leasehold improvements consist ofalf@ving:
(in thousands) December 31

2010 2009
Computer equipmer $ 3,441 $ 2,95
Leasehold improvemen 53! 16
Furniture and fixtures 744 94.
4,72 4,06
Accumulated depreciation (3,667 (3,075
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 1,06 $ 98

Depreciation expense was approximately $579,0004 880, and $446,000 for the years ended December2@10, 2009, and 20(
respectively.

7. Software development costs

Software development costs, net, consist of tHevahg:

(in thousands) December 31
2010 2009
Capitalized software development cc $ 259 $ 2,31
Accumulated amortization (804 (453
Software development costs, net $ 1,79 $ 1,86

Software development costs capitalized were appratdly $903,000 $861,000, and $591,000 for thesyeaded December 31, 20
2009, and 2008, respectively. Amortization of wafte development costs capitalized was approxim&@¥8,000, $483,000, and $274,000
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 286gectively, and was included in cost of revenmethe fourth quarter of 2010, 1
Company wrote off the remaining capitalized val@iar generic training simulators totaling $317000

8. Investment in Emirates Simulation Academy, LLC

On November 8, 2005, the Emirates Simulation AcadenhC (“ESA”), headquartered in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emiratess
formed to build and operate simulation trainingdeaies in the Arab Gulf Region. The members oflitméted liability company include /
Qudra Holding PJSC of the United Arab Emirates (60&6ership), the Centre of Excellence for AppliegsBarch and Training of the Uni
Arab Emirates (30% ownership) and GSE (10% ownpjshfhe Company accounted for its investment i\ ESing the equity method. F
the year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the &ommecognized a $615,000 and $213,000 equity tespectively, on its investment
ESA. The equity loss was recorded in other incéexpense), net.
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In January 2006, GSE received a $15.1 million auitfrom ESA (the “ESA Contracttp supply five simulators and an integre
training program. The Company received change orders totaling $1lBmifrom ESA which increased the total order vabo $16.9 millior
For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Compasggnized $1.2 million, of contract revenue on thisject using the percentage-of-
completion method, which accounted for 4.2% of@wenpanys consolidated revenue. In accordance with théemethod of accounting, tl
Company eliminated 10% of the profit from the ES8n@act as the training simulators were assetshthdtbeen recorded on the books of E
and the Company was thus required to eliminat@ritgortionate share of the profit included in thset value. The profit elimination tota
$28,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008, awdriacorded as another liability on the balancetsheSA assigned a four year life to
simulators and began to amortize the training sitous on their books effective January 1, 2009coidingly, on January 1, 2009, GSE bege
amortize the deferred profit to other income ovésa year period, recognizing income of $181,00hie year ended December 31, 2009.

The Company has provided a partial guarantee of @D®SA's credit facility with Union National BanKUNB"); $1.2 million wa
deposited into a restricted interest-bearing accaith UNB in 2006. The interest earned on therieted cash is part of the pledged deposit.

At December 31, 2009, ESA had borrowed a total BDA36.4 million ($9.9 million) from its credit fdiy with UNB, including
accrued interest payable. ESA was delinquent yingaboth principal and interest (a total of AEB5nillion or $1.5 million) and in Janue
2010, UNB drew upon the guarantees of the threéngar to pay off the delinquency, withdrawing $DOB from GSES restricted ca:
account. In February 2010, GSE was notified tiafABad missed another loan payment and that 108eodmount due ($24,000) would
withdrawn from the Company'’s restricted cash actoun

At a meeting of ESAS three shareholders held at ESA on February 11Q,28e shareholders reached agreement to sigmtifjcaeduct
costs and begin to explore options up to and inetuthe selling of ESA.

Accordingly, based upon these events, the Compatgrmined that its remaining investment in ESA a&c&mber 31, 2009 w
impaired and established reserves for the $1.Gamilrade receivable due from ESA at December 8092and for the cash that GSE ha:
deposit with UNB as a partial guarantee for ESAfedit facility. Partially offsetting these chas was the reversal of the remaining defe
profit related to the Comparg/'sale of five simulators to ESA in prior years &nel remaining agent fee that was due upon payofethe fina
outstanding receivable. The charges recorded lamgresentation in the statement of operationghieryear ended December 31, 2009 a
follows:
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Year endec

(in thousands) December 31, 200
Trade receivabl $ 1,60¢
Accrued agent fee (96)
Operating expense 1,50¢
Restricted cas- bank guarantee at
accrued interest incon 1,291
Investment in ES/ 117
Deferred profit (549
Other expense, net 86E
Total $ 2,37

In 2010, Union National Bank withdrew aalodf $294,000 from the cash GSE had on deposit thikm as a partial guarantee agi
ESA’s line of credit. Any interest income earned frtris account in 2010 was not recorded in intenesbine but was credited to the res:
balance. At December 31, 2010 the Company hadrillion remaining in the UNB account which wasljuteserved.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company adopted ASC 8Zxir Value Measurements and Disclosuresrdonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitiesasere:
on a nonrecurring basis in the first quarter ofdis2009, and such adoption did not have a matenjgéct on the Company‘financial stateme
disclosures.

ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange priaewlould be received for an asset or paid to texrsfliability (an exit price) in tt
principle or most advantageous market for the agiséiibility in an orderly transaction between iketrparticipants on the measurement «
ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchycwitequires an entity to maximize the use of olmdes inputs and minimize the use
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy establishgdASC 820 are:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices, unadjustedgciive markets for identical assets or liabilitieat the reporting entity has the ability
access at the measurement date.

Level 2: inputs are other than quoted prices ithetl within Level 1 that are observable for the assdiability, either directly ¢
indirectly. A Level 2 input must be observable sobstantially the full term of the asset or liail

Level 3: inputs are unobservable and reflect gporting entitys own assumptions about the assumptions that mpak&tipants woul
use in pricing the asset or liability.
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The Company considers the recorded value of cedhits financial assets and liabilities, which st primarily of cash and ce
equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts fgyabapproximate the fair value of the respectissets and liabilities at December 31, :
and December 31, 2009 based upon the short-teumenaft the assets and liabilities.

The Company had $17.0 million and $150,000 depdsitea money market account with BOA on December Z110 and 200
respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company was contifgédiable for five standby letters of credit anddék surety bonds totaling $
million which represent performance bonds on eigdttracts. The Company has deposited the fullevalione standby letters of credit
certificates of deposit ($179,000) which have bessiricted in that the Company does not have adees®se funds until the related letter
credit have expired. The cash has been recordéteoBompany’s balance sheet at December 31, 20fésticted cash and longrm restricte
cash depending on the expiration date of the aeaté of deposit.

On May 5, 2009, one of the Compasyivo credit agreements with Bank of America waemaed to include a $600,000 certificat
deposit issued by Bank of America in the borrowbage calculation to determine the maximum amourgtvaiflable funds that the Comp:
could borrow from the line. The cash depositethia certificate of deposit has been recorded enGbmpanys balance sheet at December
2010 and 2009 as restricted cash.

The following table presents assets and liabiliesasured at fair value at December 31, 2010:

Quoted
Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for  Observable Unobservabl
Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
(in thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market func $ 17,017 $ -3 - 17,017
Certificates of depos 77¢ - - 77¢
Foreign exchange contracts - 32E - 32E
Total assets $ 17,79¢ $ 328 $ - $ 18,12
Foreign exchange contracts $ - $ (244) $ - $ (244)
Total liabilities $ - $ (249 $ - $ (249
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10. Long-term debt
At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company hadmgp-term debt.
Line of Credit

At December 31, 2010, the Company had two sepasatdving credit agreements for revolving linescaédit with BOA which were 1
expire on May 31, 2012. The Company and its sudnsid GSE Power Systems, Inc., were jointly andesaly liable as cdsorrowers. Th
credit facilities enabled the Company to borrowdsitto support working capital needs and standidgrketf credit. The first line of credit whi
was in the principal amount of up to $3.5 milliormasvamended on March 29, 2010 to increase the paheimount to $5.0 million. Tt
revolving line of credit enabled the Company torbar funds up to 90% of eligible foreign accountseaigable, plus 75% of eligible unbill
foreign receivables and 100% of cash collateratigbel to BOA on outstanding warranty standby lettérsredit. This line of credit was 9(
guaranteed by the Expdrzport Bank of the United States. The interest it this line of credit is based on the daily LIB@ate plus 150 bas
points, with interest only payments due monthijxe Becond line of credit was in the principal amafrup to $2.5 million. This line of cre:
enabled the Company to borrow funds up to 80% ohekiic accounts receivable, 30% of domestic unbitleceivables and 100% of -
principal balance of a $600,000 certificate of d@pssued by BOA. The interest rate on this lifieredit was based on the daily LIBOR |
plus 225 basis points, with interest only paymehis monthly. The credit agreements contained cer&strictive covenants regarding fut
acquisitions, incurrence of debt and the paymentiviiends. In addition, both credit agreementstaimed financial covenants with respec
the Companys minimum tangible net worth, debt service coveragto, and funded debt to EBITDA ratio. At Decesnt81, 2010 ar
throughout all of 2010, the Company had not paig iaterest or principal payments related to anyrdwmgs for over one year. As such
debt service coverage ratio is not applicable ateb#er 31, 2010. The financial covenant calcutatiat December 31, 2010 are shown below:

As of
Covenan Dec. 31, 201(
Tangible net wortl Must Exceed $15.0 millio $31.8 million
Funded debt to EBITDA rati Not to Exceed 2.50 : 1.C (30.90) : 1.0(

For the funded debt to EBITDA ratio calculationethmount of outstanding standby letters of credd aurety bonds that are not c
collateralized are included as funded debt. Atddeloer 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding staledieys of credit and surety bonds
were not cash collateralized of $4.4 million. Ooehe Company net loss of $2.2 million for the year ended Deoen81, 2010, the Compe
was in default on its funded debt to EBITDA ratidecember 31, 2010.

Due to the Company’s financial covenant default,ABlas made the following amendments to the Comgangvolving credit agreeme
effective March 14, 2011:

« A written waiver has been granted for the fundelot die EBITDA ratio default.

« The $5.0 million principal line of credit has betenminated.

« The financial covenants for the $2.5 million pripal line of credit have been deleted.

« The Company is required to cash collateralize @dsmnding standby letters of credit, which to&8s4 million.

« All future letters of credit issued by BOA must dssh collateralized.

« Borrowings under the line of credit must be caslhateralized. Currently the Company has in pla&6@0,000 certificate of deposit

collateral for the line of credit.
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11. Income taxes

The consolidated income (loss) before income taxgsglomestic and foreign sources, is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December !
2010 2009 2008
Domestic $ (3,119 % (2,119 % (674)
Foreign 1,071 2,23 113
Total $ (2,049 $ 12C $ (5617)

The provision for income taxes is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December !
2010 2009 2008
Current:
Federa $ -$ 29 $ -
State 9 80 10
Foreign 233 512 24E
Subtotal 242 621 25E
Deferred:
Foreign (36) 29€ (12€)
Subtotal (36) 29€ (12€)
Total $ 20€ $ 917 $ 12¢

The Company is entitled to a deductionféateral and state tax purposes with respect tda@maes’stock option activity. The n
reduction in taxes otherwise payable in excessigfaamount credited to income tax benefit has beedited to additional paid capital. As c
December 31, 2010, the Company had $5.6 milliomrokcognized excess tax deductions related to cosapien for stock option exercit
which will be recognized when the net operating loarryforwards are fully utilized and those exdassbenefits result in a reduction to incc
taxes payable.
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The effective income tax rate differed from titetstory federal income tax rate due to the follogvi

Effective Tax Rate Percentage (
Years ended December

2010 2009 2008
Statutory federal income tax re 34.(% 34.(% (34.0) %
State income taxes, net of federal tax bet (0.5 44.1 1.2
Effect of foreign operation (4.€) (157.2) 0.2
Change in valuation allowan: (38.9) 669.€ 39.¢
Other, principally permanent differences (0.2) 173.% 16.C
Effective tax rate (10.1) % 764.2% 23.(%

Deferred income taxes arise from temporarfetéhces between the tax bases of assets anditikebind their reported amounts
the financial statements. A summary of the tarafbf the significant components of the deferrembime tax assets (liabilities) is as follows:

(in thousands) December 31
2010 2009 2008
Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 5,89¢ $ 5,65 $ 6,691
Capital loss carryforwarc 2,47 2,44: 1,67¢
Accruals and reserv¢ 12¢ 251 61
Expenses not currently deductible for tax pegs 1,35¢ 1,152 412
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwar 16€ 16€ 162
Other 1,163 66C 654
Total deferred tax ass 11,17¢ 10,32 9,65t
Valuation allowance (8,66%2) (8,375 (8,259
Total deferred tax asset less valuation allmea 2,51¢ 1,94¢ 1,39¢

Deferred tax liabilities

Tax in excess of book depreciat - - (8
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidi (2,790 (1,319 (68%)
Software development co: (677) (724) (579
Other (427) (87) -
Total deferred tax liability (2,88¢) (2,124 (1,270

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (372 $ (17€) $ 12€

In assessing the realizability of deferred taxetsssnanagement considers whether it is more litedy not that some or all of 1
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The @tenrealization of deferred tax assets is depenaiem the generation of future taxable inci
during the periods in which those temporary diffexes become deductible. Management considersctiedgled reversal of deferred
liabilities and projected future income in makimgstassessment.

Management believes that the Company will @ahiprofitable operations in future years that esibble the Company to recover
benefit of its deferred tax assets. However, othan for a portion of the deferred tax assets #natrelated to the CompasySwedish ar
English subsidiaries, the Company presently do¢shaee sufficient objective evidence to substaatifie recovery of the deferred tax as
Accordingly, the Company has established a full7$&illion valuation allowance on its U.S. and Sisbitdeferred tax assets at Decembe
2010. The valuation allowance for deferred taxemsmcreased by $287,000 in 2010, increased b,800 in 2009 and decreased by $609
in 2008.
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At December 31, 2010, the Compasyargest deferred tax asset related to a U.Sopeating loss carryforward of $5.6 million wh
expires in various amounts between 2017 and 208@. amount of U.S. loss carryforward which can beduby the Company each yee
limited due to changes in the Company’s ownershiiciv occurred in 2003. Thus, a portion of the Camys loss carryforward may exp
unutilized.

The Company is not aware of any tax positions faict it is reasonably possible that the total ant®wri unrecognized tax bene
would significantly decrease or increase within tlegt twelve months.

The Companys policy for recording interest and penalties asded with uncertain tax positions is to recordrsitems as a compon:
of income tax expense. As of December 31, 20B)Ciimpany has no accrued interest or penalties.

12. Capital stock

The Companys Board of Directors has authorized 32,000,000l &hares of capital stock, of which 30,000,000 designated
common stock and 2,000,000 are designated as méfetock. The Board of Directors has the authdotyestablish one or more classe
preferred stock and to determine, within any cteéfgsreferred stock, the preferences, rights andrattrms of such class.

On September 4, 2009, the Company raised $15.@Gbmitrough the sale of 2.5 million shares of isnenon stock, $.01 par value
share. The shares were sold under a shelf restratatement which was declared effective by Sleeurities and Exchange Commissior
August 21, 2009. On September 23, 2009, the Coynpeined an additional $2,250,000 when the Commanpderwriter, exercised an over-
allotment option in full to purchase an additiol®5,000 shares of the Compasmy¢ommon stock at the public offering price of 6k
share. The aggregate net proceeds received ydmpany from the two transactions was approximekély.9 million. The Company paid
underwriter a fee in the amount of 6% of the gnusxeeds received by the Company from the offe(®ig035,000) and paid 339,000 in of
transaction fees.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has resen&89 583 shares of common stock for issuance: 6Q0I6shares upon exercise
outstanding stock options; 257,511 shares uponcieseeof outstanding warrants; 148,888 shares fturdugrants under the Compagyl199!
Long-Term Incentive Plan; and 166,667 shares upon esesgfiwarrants that the Company is obligated toeiss the event of a default undel
June 2007 common stock sale.

13. Stock-based compensation
Long-term incentive plal

During 1995, the Company established the 1995 Lbega Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Plamijhich permits the granting
stock options (including incentive stock optionsl aronqualified stock options) stock appreciatiagghts, restricted or unrestricted stock awe
phantom stock, performance awards or any combimatfothese to employees, directors or consulta@istions to purchase shares of
Companys common stock under the Plan expire in eitherrs@reten years from the date of grant and genetsiyome exercisable in th
installments with 40% vesting on the first anniaysof the grant date and 30% vesting on eacheoféitond and third anniversaries of the ¢
date, subject to acceleration under certain circantes. The Plan expires on June 30, 2018; tla¢ tatmber of shares that could be is¢
under the Plan is 3,500,000. As of December 8102the Company had 148,888 shares of common sésekved for future grants under
Plan.
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The Company recognizes compensation expense om a@afa straight-line basis over the requisite seryperiod for stoclase:
compensation awards with both graded and cliffimgsterms. The Company recognizes the cumulatffectof a change in the number
awards expected to vest in compensation expenseeirperiod of change. The Company has not cagegiliany portion of its stodkase!

compensation.

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 20092608, the Company recognized $807,000, $906,06G5660,000, respectively

pre-tax stock-based compensation expense undé&ithelue method.

Stock option and warrant activity

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyngeanted stock options to purchase 422,143 staresmmon stock to GS
directors, officers, and employees. No warranfsuichase shares of common stock were issued ib. 201

Information with respect to stock option and watractivity as of and for the year ended Decembe2810 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Exercise Prict

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

(in thousands

Weighted
Average
Remaining

Contractual Life

(Years)

Number
of

Shares
Shares under option and warrant, December 31, 2,061,61
Options grante! 422,14
Options exercise (57,00C
Warrants exercise (45,19¢
Options expire( (28t
Options forfeited (107,14:
Shares under option and warrant, December 31, 2010 2,274,12!
Options expected to vest 902,29

$ 4.3

$
$

1,53
4

4.4
6.6

A summary of the status of the Compayonvested options as of and for the year endedrbiger 31, 2010 is presented below.

outstanding warrants were vested prior to 2010.
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Weighted

Number Average

of Shares Fair Value
Nonvested options at December 31, 2 827,72 $ 4.3
Options grante: 422,14 15
Options vested during the peri (240,14« 3.7
Options forfeited (107,14 4.3
Nonvested options at December 31, 2 902,57 $ 3.1

The fair value of the options granted in 2010, 2888 2008 were estimated on the date of grant uwsiBtack-Scholes optiopricing
model with the following assumptions:

Years ended December ¢

2010 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rate 57%- 2.93% 1.71%- 3.04% 2.75%- 3.05%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected life 2.5- 6.5 year: 5.5- 7.0 years 4.9- 8.5 years
Volatility 37.2- 63.8% 65.9%- 78.22% 68.8%- 78.22%
Weighted average volatilit 55.38% 67.85% 77.40%

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had $2.6anilif unrecognized compensation expense relatdtetanvested portic
of outstanding stock options expected to be re@ghion a proata straight line basis over a weighted averageai®ing service period
approximately 4.9 years.

The Company received cash for the exercise prisecéted with stock options exercised of $95,0003%000, and $282,000 during
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 200&atdsgy. The total intrinsic value realized byrtigipants on stock options exercised
$159,000, $213,000 and $1.4 million during the gearded December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, regpkycti

Common stock issued for services provided

In April 2006, the Company entered into a consgltagreement with an investor relations firm. Aftee initial term, the consultit
agreement was extended for an additional eighteamths from November 2007 through April 2009 anchdditional 25,000 shares of comn
stock was issued as partial compensation for seswiendered, with the shares vesting in monthlyeiments of 1,388 shares. The Comy
delivered the 25,000 common shares to the investations firm in April 2009.

The consulting agreement was extended again fadditional eighteen months from May 2009 throughober 2010 and an additio

30,000 shares of common stock was issued as padimpensation for services rendered, with the shaesting in monthly increments
1,666. The Company delivered the 30,000 sharesmmimon stock to the investor relations firm in G&p2010.
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Compensation expense is determined based on the per share on the last day of each month. lo@ct2010, the consulti
agreement expired. For the ten months ended Oct®beR010, the average price per share was $4.85tten total compensation expe
recognized by the Company was $76,000. For the geded December 31, 2009, the average price e sias $5.96 and the tc
compensation expense recognized by the Company¥i3000. For the year ended December 31, 208&vhrage price per share was $
and the total compensation expense recognizedeb@ dimpany was $131,000.

14. Commitments and contingencies

Leases

The Company is obligated under certain noncancelaplkerating leases for office facilities and equepin Future minimum lea
payments under noncancelable operating leasesZacaimber 31, 2010 are as follows:

(in thousands Gross Futurt
Minimum Lease
Payment:

2011 $ 7
2012 6(
201: 52
201¢ 4:
201t 44
Thereafter 1,2C

Total $ 3,92

Total rent expense under operating lefsethe years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, a8 R8s approximately $942,000,
$867,000, and $921,000, respectively.

Standby Letters of credit, bank guarantees, suyetds and performance bonds

As of December 31, 2010, the Company was contifgédiable for five standby letters of credit anddék surety bonds totaling $
million which represent performance bonds on eighmtracts. The Company has deposited the full evalfi one standby letter of cre
$179,000, in a certificate of deposit, which hasrbeestricted in that the Company does not havesaco these funds until the related lett:
credit has expired. The cash has been recordéteocBompany’s balance sheet at December 31, 20fsticted cash.

The Company has provided a partial guarantee of @D%&SA’s credit facility with Union National Bank; $1.2 ifion was deposite
into a restricted interestearing account with UNB in 2006. The intereshedron the restricted cash is part of the pledggabsit. In Janua
2010, the Company was notified by UNB that ESA weaknquent in making principal and interest paymseam the outstanding borrowings fr
their credit facility and that UNB had drawn upd tguarantees of the three partners to pay offi¢iaquency. The Company established ¢
reserve against the $1.3 million restricted castoant as of December 31, 2009. In 2010, Unioriddat Bank withdrew a total of $294,C
from the cash GSE had on deposit with them as tiapguarantee against ESAline of credit. Any interest income earned frihis account i
2010 was not recorded in interest income but wasligd to the reserve balance. At December 310 26& Company had $1.0 milli
remaining in the UNB account which was fully resstyv
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Contingencies

Various actions and proceedings are presently pgnidi which the Company is a party. In the opinddrmanagement, the aggrec
liabilities, if any, arising from such actions aret expected to have a material adverse effech@financial position, results of operations orh
flows of the Company.

15. Employee benefits

The Company has a qualified defined contributianghat covers substantially all U.S. employeesurgkction 401(k) of the Inter
Revenue Code. Under this plan, the Company's stipdiibasic contribution matches a portion of theigpants' contributions based upo
defined schedule. The Company's contributions éopthhn were approximately $245,000, $197,000, dd P00 for the years ended Decen
31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

16. Segment information

The Company has one reportable business segmeérgrthades simulation solutions and services torthelear and fossil fuel pow
industry, and to the chemical and petrochemicalstiies. Contracts typically range from 10 moriththree years.

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, a@f, 2%, 73%, and 54% of the Companyonsolidated revenue was fr
customers in the nuclear power industry, respdgtivEhe Company designs, develops and deliversniessi and technology solutions to
energy industry worldwide. Revenue, operating meqloss) and total assets for the Compsitynited States, European, and Asian subsid
as of and for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2(id 2008 are as follows:
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(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C

United State! Europe Asia Eliminations  Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 37,197 $ 9,69¢ $ 317 % - 8 47,218
Transfers between geographic locations (674) 121 553 - -
Total contract revenue $ 36,52! $ 9,82( $ 87C $ - $ 47,215
Operating income (loss) $ (2,397) $ 1,157 $ 8 $ - $ (1,237)
Total assets, at December 31 $ 70,78. $ 12,68¢ $ 352 $ (30,217) $ 53,61«
(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C
United State! Europe Asia Eliminations  Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 34,05¢ $ 6,00 $ - $ - % 40,06(
Transfers between geographic locations 323 30 604 (957) -
Total contract revenue $ 34,37¢ $ 6,03 $ 604 $ (957) $ 40,06(
Operating income (loss) $ (536) $ 1,018 $ 81 $ - $ 5632
Total assets, at December 31 $ 71,21¢ $ 571C $ 231 % (27,637) $ 49,52(
(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C
United State! Europe Asia Eliminations  Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 24,48: $ 4521 $ - % - % 29,00¢
Transfers between geographic locations 177 23 407 (607) -
Total contract revenue $ 24.66( $ 4,54¢ 3 407 $ (607) $ 29,00«
Operating income (loss) $ (682) $ 641 $ 29 $ - $ (12
Total assets, at December 31 $ 55,46( $ 3,11C $ 82 $ (27,637) $ 31,01¢

Approximately 71%, 65%, and 63% of the Compa&ni3010, 2009, and 2008 revenue, respectively, wegatl from international sal
of its products and services from all of its sulzsiés.

17. Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatin

(in Year ended December 31,
thousands
2010 2009 2008
Cash
paid:
Interest $ - $ $
Income taxes $ 54 $ 20 $ 6

18. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)

The Company’s quarterly financial information hag been audited but, in managemerdpinion, includes all adjustments neces
for a fair presentation.
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(in thousands, except per share de
Year ended December 31, 2010 Quarterly [

First Seconc Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Contract revenu $ 11,20¢ $ 11,77 $ 11,90¢ $ 12,32¢
Operating income (los: 453 751 (329) (2,109
Net income (loss 44¢ 37C (54¢) (2,520
Basic income (loss) per common share $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ (0.09) $ (0.19)
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ (0.03) $ (0.13)

(in thousands, except per share de
Year ended December 31, 2009 Quarterly [

First Seconc Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Contract revenu $ 8,12¢ $ 10,65 $ 10,217 $ 11,06t
Operating income (los: 531 658 428 (1,059
Net income (loss 33: 571 458 (2,159
Basic income (loss) per common share $ 0.0z $ 0.04 $ 0.0: $ (0.17)
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ (0.11)

19. Subsequent Events

On January 4, 2011, GSE Systems, Inc. (“GSE”) cetegl the acquisition of EnVision Systems, Inc. #&iwon”). EnVision is
headquartered in Madison, NJ and has an officehien@ai, India. EnVision’s tutorials and simulatiomdels serve the rapidly growing entry-
level training market for the oil & gas, refiningnd specialty chemicals industries. EnVis@mroducts provide a foundation in proc
fundamentals, and plant operations and interactidith this knowledge base, users may then gracioatiee full-scope, high-fidelity, redlme
simulations provided by GSE. EnVision has an ifetabase of more than 750 systems in over 28 cimsntand its approximately 130 clie
include Shell Oil Company, BP, Total and Chevr@&mnVision will operate as a wholly-owned subsidiafyGSE, and has been named GS
Envision, Inc.

On the Closing Date, GSE paid $1.2 million in céstihe shareholders of EnVision. In addition, if\Esion attains certain reven
targets for the four-year period ending Decembei2814, the shareholders of EnVision could recejvéo an additional $3.05 million.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE .

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

The Company maintains disclosure controls and phaes that are designed to ensure that informagéiquired to be disclosed by it
its reports filed or submitted pursuant to the $ities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “EmgbhaAct”), is recorded, process:
summarized and reported within the time period<ified in the Securities and Exchange Commissianles and forms and that informal
required to be disclosed by the Company in its Brge Act reports is accumulated and communicatesettagement, including the Company
Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), who is its prin@p executive officer, and Chief Financial OfficétCFQ”), who is its principal financii
officer, to allow timely decisions regarding reqadrdisclosure. At the end of the period coveredhiy report, an evaluation was perforr
under the supervision and with the participationoaf management including our CEO and our CFO heféffectiveness of the design
operation of our disclosure controls and procedprasuant to Rule 135(e) of the Exchange Act. Based on the evaluaifoour disclosur
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2010Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial O#ficconcluded that, as of such date,
disclosure controls and procedures were effectitbeareasonable assurance level.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controlover Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaititaining adequate internal control over finahoéporting as defined in Exchar
Act rule 13ai15(f). Our internal control processes and procesluare designed to provide reasonable assuraneedimsg the reliability c
financial reporting and the preparation of our adigsted financial statements in accordance witlitea¢hStates generally accepted accout
principles.

Under the supervision and with the participationneinagement, including our CEO and CFO, we conduateevaluation of interr
control over financial reporting as of December 2@10 based on the criteria set forth by the Comemibf Sponsoring Organizations of
Treadway Commission ifnternal Control—Integrated FrameworkBased upon our evaluation, we concluded that otarrial control ove
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZ110.

The effectiveness of the Compasynternal control over financial reporting as add@mber 31, 2010 has been audited by KPMG LL
independent registered public accounting firm, vehieport appears in Item 8 of this Annual ReporForm 10-K.
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(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reprting

The Company has made no changes in its internatatsrover financial reporting during the quarteded December 31, 2010 that h
materially affected or are reasonably likely to emitly affect our internal control over financiaporting.

(d) Limitation of Effectiveness of Controls

Internal control over financial reporting has indgr@r limitations. Internal control over financiaporting is a process that invol
human diligence and compliance and is subject psdsa in judgment and breakdowns resulting from mufadures. Internal control ov
financial reporting also can be circumvented bylusibn or improper management override. Becaussuoh limitations, there is a risk tl
material misstatements will not be prevented oectetd on a timely basis by internal control oveaficial reporting. However, these inhe
limitations are known features of the financialagdgmg process. Therefore, it is possible to desigo the process safeguards to reduce, th
not eliminate this risk.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION .

None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE.

The information required by this item, includingrits 401, 405 406 and 407 of RegulatioK,Ss incorporated by reference to
section captioned Directors and Executive Officefdan the definitive Proxy Statement for the Compang011 Annual Meeting of Shareholc
and incorporated herein by reference or will bevjated in an amendment to this Annual Report on FbrK.

The Company has adopted a Conduct of BusinessyPthlat applies to its directors, officers and engpkes, including its princip
executive officer, and principal financial officeThe Conduct of Business Policy is available an @ompanys website at www.gses.com.
addition, the Company has adopted a Code of Efbiciés principal executive officer and senior firigal officers which is also available on
Companys website. The Company will post on its websiferimation about any amendment to, or waiver frony provision of the Code
Ethics that applies to its principal executive ofi, principal financial officer, or principal aaotting officer.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item will eithee lset forth under the Executive Compensatidhsection in the definitive Pro:
Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Sharehslaed incorporated herein by reference or wilpkmvided in an amendment to this Anr
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by this item will be eithget forth under the sections captioneWdting Securities and Principal Holde¢
Thereof,” and “ Executive Compensatichin the definitive Proxy Statement for the 2011 Aahieeting of Shareholders and incorpor:
herein by reference or will be provided in an ammeadt to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item will be eitheet forth under the Directors and Executive Officersection in the definitive Pro:
Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Sharehsléad incorporated herein by reference or wilpb@vided in an amendment to this Anr
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item will be eitheget forth under thé Directors and Executive Officers 8ection in the definitiv
Proxy Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of 8halders and incorporated herein by reference bbeiprovided in an amendment to
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) List of Financial Statements
The following financial statements are includedtém 8:
GSE Systems, Inc. and Subsidiarie

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimg — Internal Control over Financial Reporti
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiiingn — Consolidated Financial Stateme
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,881 200¢

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yesded December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Los$iéoyears ended December 31, 2010,

2009, and 200

Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholBgtsty for the years ended December 31, 2010,
2009, and 200

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@ded December 31, 2010, 2009, and -

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems
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(a) (2) List of Schedules

All other schedules to the consolidated financiatesnents are omitted as the required informasoeither inapplicable or presente:
the consolidated financial statements or relatedsio

(a) (3) List of Exhibits

The Exhibits which are filed with this report or iwh are incorporated by reference are set forthénExhibit Index hereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be si
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duthenized.

GSE Systems, Inc.
By: /s/ JAMES A. EBERLE

James A. Eberle
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities s, report has been signed by the following pessim the capacities and on the d
indicated.

Date: March 14, 2011 / s/ JAMES A. EBERLE

James A. Eberle, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 14, 2011 / s/ JEFFERY G. HOUGH
Jeffery G. Hough, Senior Vice Presid
and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 8, 2011 (Jerome I. Feldman, ChairnfaheoBoard ) By: /s/JEFFERY G. HOUG}H
(Michael D. Feldman, Directc Jeffery G. Hougt
(Dr. Sheldon L. Glashow, Direct Attorney-in-Fact
(Jane Bryant Quinn, Directt
(Dr. Roger Hagengruber, Direct
(Joseph W. Lewis, Directc
(George J. Pedersen, Direc
(Orrie Lee Tawes lll, Directc

N N e e N N

A Power of Attorney, dated March 8, 2011 authogzdeffery G. Hough to sign this Annual Report omrrd.0-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2010 on behalf of certain oflitextors of the Registrant is filed as Exhibit2tb this Annual Report.
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Exhibit

Description of Exhibit

1.1

2.1

2.2

2.4

3(1)

3(ii)

Underwriting Agreement

Underwriting Agreement, dated August 31, 2009 betwthe Company and Roth Capital Partners, LLCviBusly
filed in connection with Form & as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen September 1, 2009 ¢
incorporated herein by reference.

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement,ifuidation, or successior

Share Purchase Agreement relating to TAS Holdihtg, dated April 26, 2010, by and between John Msgér
Anthony Maplesden, and John Easton and GSE Systathand GSE Systems, Inc. previously filed withrfR8K as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissinipril 30, 2010.

Contract for the Sale and Leaseback of Land anddiBgs at 37-39 Norton Road, Stockton-bees TS18 2B
between TAS Holdings Ltd. and John Maplesden, AmphMaplesden and John Easton, dated April 26, @
previously filed with Form 8-K as filed with the Ggities and Exchange Commission on April 30, 2010.

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Januaryll, @Mhong GSE Systems, Inc., Toshi Shinohara, Sadtoshi
Hideo Shinohara, and EnVision Systems, Inc. Preshpo filed with Form 8K as filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on January 10, 2011.

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2@tiden Santosh Joshi and EnVision Systems, Revioush
filed with Form 8-K as filed with the SecuritiescaBxchange Commission on January 10, 2011.

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of the Company. Previously filed in conneotiwith the
GSE Systems, Inc. Form DEF 14A as filed with theusigies and Exchange Commission on November 207 201

incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. Rushidiled in connection with Form DEF 4A as filedth the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Novembe2@W7 and incorporated herein by referet
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10.

4.1

4.2

4.4

10.1

10.z

Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders, ircluding Indenture .

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the CompamgviBusly filed in connection with Amendment Not@ the
GSE Systems, Inc. Form BRegistration Statement as filed with the Seasgitind Exchange Commission on July
1995 and incorporated herein by referet

Form of Warrant to Purchase 166,667 shares of Cam®imck of GSE Systems, Inc. dated as of Jun
2007. Previously filed in connection with the GSkstems, Inc. Form B-filed with the Securities and Exchar
Commission on June 18, 2007 and incorporated heseieference

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Jur003,by and between GSE Systems, Inc. and edtie dfivestor
to sell a total of 1,666,667 shares of GSE ComnmtokS Previously filed in connection with the GSkstems, Int
Form &K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisgsiandune 18, 2007 and incorporated herein by nefer

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June2DB7 by and between GSE Systems, Inc. and eadhe
Investors. Previously filed in connection with tBSE Systems, Inc. Formk8filed with the Securities and Exchar
Commission on June 18, 2007 and incorporated hbsemeference

Consent and Waiver, dated as of June 15, 2007, @i®8E Systems, Inc., GSE Power Systems, Inc. anduk
Master Fund Ltd. Previously filed in connection lwthe GSE Systems, Inc. FormK8filed with the Securities at
Exchange Commission on June 18, 2007 and incogablagrein by referenc

Material Contracts

Agreement among ManTech International Corporatietjonal Patent Development Corporation, GPS Teldynes
Inc., General Physics Corporation, Vattenfall Eegiing AB and GSE Systems, Inc. (dated as of Ai8ijl 1994)
Previously filed in connection with the GSE Systeins. Form St Registration Statement as filed with the Seas
and Exchange Commission on April 24, 1995 and ipa@ted herein by referenc

GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 LorAgrm Incentive Plan, amended as of September Z&,. Breviously filed in connecti

with the GSE Systems, Inc. Form DEF 14A as filethwihe Securities and Exchange Commission on Noeer2d
2007 and incorporated herein by referenc
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10.:

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.€

10.1(¢

Form of Option Agreement Under the GSE Systems, 895 LongTerm Incentive Plan. Previously filed
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormKl8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen Marcl
22, 1996 and incorporated herein by referenc

Memorandum of Association of Limited Liability Compy dated November 8, 2005 by and between Al C
Holding PJSC, Centre of Excellence for Applied Resk and Training, and GSE Systems, Inc. Prewofiigld in
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormQ®-filed with the Securities and Exchange Comnaissin Octobe
4, 2006 and incorporated herein by refere|

Supply Agreement Contract by and between Emiraitesil&tion Academy, LLC and GSE Power Systems, tlatec
January 3, 2006. Previously filed in connectiothwhe GSE Systems, Inc. Form Q@A filed with the Securities al
Exchange Commission on October 4, 2006 and incatpdrherein by referenc

License and Technology Transfer Agreement by antiv@n GSE Power Systems, Inc. and Emirates Sirou
Academy, LLC dated January 3, 2006. Previousbdfih connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. ForaQ1A filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on liéstd, 2006 and incorporated herein by refere

Office Lease Agreement between 1332 Londontown, La@i GSE Systems, Inc. (dated as of Februar
2008). Previously filed in connection with the ESystems, Inc. Form R-as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on March 11, 2008 and incorporated hdrgireference.

$3,500,000 Ex-Im Banksuaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line afed, dated as of March :
2008. Previously filed in connection with the GS#stems, Inc. Form B-as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorporated helsimeference.

Security Agreement by and among GSE Systems, B8SE Power Systems, Inc and Bank of America, N.Aea
March 28, 2008. Previously filed in connectiontwihe GSE Systems, Inc. FornK8as filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorpaddterein by reference.

Borrower Agreement by and among GSE Systems, G8E Power Systems, Inc. and Bank of America, Na#ed

March 28, 2008. Previously filed in connectiontwihe GSE Systems, Inc. FornK8as filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorpatdterein by reference.
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10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢
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$1,500,000 Domestic Revolving Line of Credit datedof March 28, 2008. Previously filed in connewtivith the
GSE Systems, Inc. FormK-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissn April 3, 2008 and incorporat
herein by reference.

Security Agreement by and among GSE Systems, G®E Power Systems, Inc. and Bank of America, Naied a
of March 28, 2008 (Domestic Revolving Line of CtgdiPreviously filed in connection with the GSEs&ms, Inc
Form 8K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimison April 3, 2008 and incorporated herein
reference.

Continuing and Unconditional Guaranty by GSE Prec®slutions, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. datscbaMarct
28, 2008. Previously filed in connection with tleSE Systems, Inc. Form KB-as filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorpatdterein by reference.

Continuing and Unconditional Guaranty by MSHI, Inand Bank of America, N.A. dated as of March
2008. Previously filed in connection with the GSistems, Inc. Form B-as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorporated hebsimeference.

Pledge Agreement by and among the Company, MSHdl, BSE Power Systems, Inc., GSE Process Solutino:
and Bank of America, N.A. dated as of March 28,&08reviously filed in connection with the GSE t&yss, Inc
Form 8K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimison April 3, 2008 and incorporated herein
reference.

First Amendment to $1,500,000 Domestic RevolvingeLiof Credit, dated May 5, 2009. Previously filet
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormQ@@s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comigrissn May 11
2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to Security Agreement by and amG&E Systems, Inc., GSE Power Systems, Inc. and Bt
America N.A (Domestic Revolving Line of Credit),tdd as of May 5, 2009. Previously filed in conmatiwith the
GSE Systems, Inc. Form 1D-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comignis®n May 11, 2009 al
incorporated herein by referen:
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Ratification of Guarantee by GSE Process Solutidns, and MSHI, Inc. (Ex-Im Bankuaranteed Transacti
Specific Revolving Line of Credit), dated May 5,080 Previously filed in connection with the GSEs®&yns, Inc
Form 10Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comiorisen May 11, 2009 and incorporated hereir
reference.

Second Amendment to Loan AgreemelEx-Im BankGuaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line oédi)
dated March 29, 2010. Previously filed in connettidgth the GSE Systems, Inc. Fornk8as filed with the Securitis
and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2010 and inoafed herein by reference.

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (Domestic Rawplkine of Credit) dated March 29, 2010. Previguged
in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forid 8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissn April 2
2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Ratification of Guaranty (Ex-Im Ban®uaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line oédlt) dated March 2
2010. Previously filed in connection with the GS#stems, Inc. Form B-as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 2, 2010 and incorporated hebsimeference.

Ratification of Guaranty (Domestic Revolving Liné @redit) dated March 29, 2010. Previously filedconnectio
with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormkBas filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimis®n April 2, 2010 ar
incorporated herein by reference.

Consulting Agreement, dated as of April 30, 201@een John V. Moran and GSE Systems, Inc. Prewdilst in
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forrid 8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissn April 30
2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Agreement dated as of November 1, 2@1Wden GSE Systems, Inc. and James Eberle. Pshyided
in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Fori Bled with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarNovembe
1, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.*

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20fdem GSE Systems, Inc. and Clour Jerry Jen. Previou:
filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. F@# as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comioissr
February 2, 2011 and incorporated herein by refaren

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20Medem GSE Systems, Inc. and Jeffery G. Hough. i®usly
filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. F@# as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comioissr
February 2, 2011 and incorporated herein by refaren

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20iWedem GSE Systems, Inc. and Michael D. Feldmagg
herewith.
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10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3(
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10.3%

10.3¢

14.1

21.1

23.1

24.1

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20feem GSE Systems, Inc. and Gill Grady. Previotitgy in
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Fori{ 8led with the Securities and Exchange CommissionFebruary
2011 and incorporated herein by referen:

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20f\ieee GSE Systems, Inc. and Lawrence Gordon, filed
herewith.

Third Amendment to Loan Agreemer(Ex-Im Bank-Guaranteed Transaction Specific Revig\iine of Credit)
dated March 14, 2011. Filed herewith.

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement (Domestic Reva\iine of Credit) dated March 14, 2011. Filedeveth.
Ratification of Guaranty (Domestic Revolving LineEGredit) dated March 14, 2011. Filed herewith.
Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20tidem GSE Systems, Inc. and Jerome |. FeldmanvicRisdy

filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. F@&iK filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimis®n
February 2, 2011 and incorporated herein by refa¢

Code of Ethics

Code of Ethics for the Principal Executive Offimd Senior Financial Officers. Previously filed dannectiol
with the GSE Systems, Inc. Form KCfiled with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarMarch 31, 2006 a
incorporated herein by referen:

Subsidiaries.

List of Subsidiaries of Registrant at DecemberZi1,0, filed herewith

Consents of Experts and Counse

Consent of KPMG LLP, filed herewith.

Power of Attorney

Power of Attorney for Directors’ and Officers’ Sigtures on SEC Form 10-K, filed herewith.







31.

32.

Certifications
31.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Caany pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act R8dke14(a)/15(d-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 and #th% Garbane-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewitt

31.ZCertification of Chief Financial Officer of the Cqrany pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Rede14(a)/15(d-14
(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 and 4@#darbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Section 1350 Certifications

32.1Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer of the Company pursuant to 18.0.SSection 13E
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@rkey Act of 2002, file herewith.

* Management contracts or compensatory plansiredjto be filed as exhibits pursuant to Item Iyofcthis report







Exhibit 10.27
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

AGREEMENT, dated as of January 1, 2011, betweeb Systems, Inc. a Delaware corporation with priatgxecutive offices at 13
Londontown Blvd., Sykesville, MD 21784 (the "Compéd), and Michael Feldman, residing at 145 WesteRaRoad, Bedford Hills, NY 10507
("Employee").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Employee currently serves as Execitice President in charge of International Busin@eselopment of the
Company.

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Employeenupe terms and subject to the terms and condigen$orth in this
Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisks,mutual promises, covenants, and conditions mewtained and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt afftcncy of which are hereby acknowledged, thetiparhereto intending to be legally bound
hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Employrhen

The Company hereby agrees to continue to employl@&mae, and Employee hereby agrees to continuert@ ke Company, all upon the terms
and subject to the conditions set forth in thiseéament.

Section 2. Capaeihd Duties.

Employee shall be employed in the capacity of EtieelVice President in charge of International Biesis Development of the Company and
shall have the duties, responsibilities, and aitiesrnormally performed by the Executive Vice Raesgt in charge of International Business
Development of a company and such other dutieppresbilities, and authorities as are assignednolly the Chief Executive Officer (the
“CEQO") or the Board of Directors of the Companye(ttiBoard") so long as such additional duties, rasfimlities, and authorities are consistent
with Employee's position and level of authorityEasecutive Vice President in charge of InternatidBasiness Development of the

Company. Employee shall devote substantially falli® business time and attention to promote anaiack the business of the Company.

Section 3. Term ohfoyment.
Unless sooner terminated in accordance with theigioms of this Agreement, the term of employmenEmployee by the Company pursuant to

this Agreement shall be for the period (the "Empteynt Period") commencing on January 1, 2011 adithgron December 31, 2012 (the
“Scheduled Termination Date”).




Section 4. Compeiwsat

During the Employment Period, subject to all thente and conditions of this Agreement and as congiansfor all services to be rendered by
Employee under this Agreement, the Company shglktpar provide Employee with the following:

(a) Base Salary. Commencing January 1, 2011Ctmepany shall pay to Employee a base annual satahe rate of One
Hundred Eighty One Thousand Dollars ($181,000.@).January 1, 2012, the base annual salary shalidbeased, as determined by the
Board of Directors of the Company by a minimumbaf greater of (i) 3% or (ii) the percentage inceciasthe Consumer Price Index (as
hereinafter defined) over the preceding twelve hentThe "Consumer Price Index" shall mean the Quwes Price Index for all Urban
Consumers published by the Bureau of Labor Stegistinited States Department of Labor, or the sippht or successor thereto if
publication of such index should be discontinu&tie base salary will be payable at such intervalsadaries are paid generally to other
executive officers of the Company.

(b)  Bonus. Once the Company's year end finamtiaimation is available the Chief Executive Offiand the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Compéhyg “Compensation CommitteeShall determine Employee's bonus (the "Bonus"}He
year then ending based upon (i) meeting the gealsysEmployee and accepted by the Chief Exec@iffieer and the Board of Directors and
(i) overall Company performance. The Employeatgét bonus is Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($23,0@) for 2011, and Employee's
target bonus shall increase each succeeding yahelyreater of (i) 3% or (ii) the percentage imasein the Consumer Price Index over the
preceding twelve months. As soon as reasonabbtipadle, Employee's goals for 2011 will be predaaed mutually agreed upon. Any
bonus to be paid to Employee for any year of ttgse&ment shall be paid on or prior to March 15heffollowing year.

(c)  Vacation. Employee shall be entitled to tacain accordance with the Company's policy ferseénior executives.

(d)  Automobile. The Company shall provide Em@ewith an automobile allowance of Seven Thousamd Flundred
Dollars ($7,200.00) per year, and shall pay thenteaiance, gas, and insurance expenses in connagtioauch automobile.

(e)  Club Membership. The Company shall providepleiyee an allowance for club membership of Fourugamd Dollars
($4,000.00) per year.

)] Medical and Dental Insurance. The Comparsllgtay Employee’s monthly Medical and Dental Irsswre premiums in
association with Company provided health insurgiass.

(9) Benefit Plans. Employee shall be entitlegadticipate in all employee benefit plans mairgdily the Company for its
senior executives or employees, including withgutthtion the Company's medical and 401(k) plans.




Section 5. Expenses.

The Company shall reimburse Employee for all reabtnexpenses (including, but not limited to, comitig education, business travel, and
customer entertainment expenses) incurred by hioommection with his employment hereunder in acaonceé with the written policy and
guidelines established by the Company for execuffieers.

Section 6. Non-Cortigpen, Non-Solicitation.

Employee agrees that during the period he is enepldyy the Company under this Agreement and foriagef one (1) year after the
termination of his employment he will not directlyindirectly, (a) solicit or offer employment toyaperson who was employed by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries while Employeeswmployed by the Company (b) solicit, offer aice in competition with the
Company, any person, entity or governmental authdnat was under contract with the Company or witfiom the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was actively soliciting business frwhile Employee was employed by the Company, obécome engaged in a business that is
directly competitive with the business of the Compar any of its subsidiaries.

Section 7. Patents.

Any interest in patents, patent applications, inias, copyrights, developments, and processe<li' 8wentions") which Employee now or
hereafter during the period he is employed by tbm@any under this Agreement or otherwise may owateoelop relating to the fields in which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries may theergaged shall belong to the Company; and forthwgtbn request of the Company, Employee
shall execute all such assignments and other dattsna@d take all such other action as the Compayreasonably request in order to vest in
the Company all his right, title, and interest mddo Such Inventions free and clear of all liesigrges, and encumbrances.

Section 8. Confidahinformation.

All confidential information which Employee may ngwssess, may obtain during the Employment Peoiothay create prior to the end of the
period he is employed by the Company under thisfgrent or otherwise relating to the business oCitmapany or of any of its customers or
suppliers shall not be published, disclosed, orevaatessible by him to any other person, firmooperation either during or after the
termination of his employment or used by him exakping the Employment Period in the business andhfe benefit of the Company, in each
case without prior written permission of the Compd@mployee shall return all tangible evidencewftsconfidential information to the
Company prior to or at the termination of his enyph@nt For purposes of this Agreement, “confidertitdrmation” means any and all
information related to the Company or any of itesdiaries that is not generally known by otherthwihom they compete or do business.




Section 9. Termioati

Except as provided in Section 13, Employee's enméoyt hereunder may be terminated without any bre&this Agreement only under the
following circumstances:

@) Death. Employee's employment hereushell terminate upon his death.

(b) Disability. If, as a result of Employgécapacity due to physical or mental illness pkipee shall have been absent
from his duties hereunder on a full-time basistfar entire period of three (3) consecutive mordhsl, within 30 days after a Notice of
Termination (as defined in Section 9(d)) is givaalsnot have returned to the performance of httedthereunder on a full-time basis, the
Company may terminate Employee's employment heerund

(©) Cause. The Company may terminate Engaisyemployment hereunder for Cause. For purpdsbsdgreement, the
Company shall have "Cause" to terminate Employaajsloyment hereunder upon the occurrence of atiyeofollowing (i) the willful and
continued failure by Employee to substantially parf his duties or obligations hereunder (other tiay such failure resulting from
Employee's incapacity due to physical or mentaésk), after demand for substantial performandelisered by the Company that
specifically identifies the manner in which the Gmany believes Employee has not substantially peréarhis duties or obligations, (ii) the
willful engaging by Employee in misconduct which,the reasonable opinion of the Board of the Compwaill have a material adverse
effect on the reputation, operations, prospectsuginess relations of the Company, (iii) the cotieit of Employee of any felony or the entry
by Employee of any plea of nolo contendere in raspdo an indictment for a crime involving moraipitude, or (iv) the breach by Employee
of a term or condition of this Agreement. For pges of this paragraph, no act, or failure to@et=mployee's part shall be considered
"willful" unless done, or omitted to be done, byrhmot in good faith and without reasonable behet this action or omission was in the best
interest of the Company. Notwithstanding the foirgpEmployee shall not be deemed to have beerinated for Cause without the
following (i) reasonable notice to Employee settiagh the reasons for the Company's intentioretmtnate for Cause, (ii) an opportunity for
Employee, together with his counsel, to be heafdrbehe Board, and (iii) delivery to Employee dflatice of Termination in accordance
with Section 9(d).

(d) Notice of Termination. Any terminatioh Employee's employment by the Company (other teamination pursuant to
Section 9(a)) shall be communicated by a NoticEeymination to the other party hereto. For purpagehis Agreement, a "Notice of
Termination" shall mean a written notice which siradicate the specific termination provision ingti\greement relied upon and shall set
forth in reasonable detail the facts and circuntstarclaimed to provide a basis for termination wiplbyee's employment under the provision
so indicated.

(e) Date of Termination. "Date of Termimatl shall mean (i) if Employee's employment is terabed by his death, the date
of his death, (ii) if Employee's employment is térated pursuant to Section 9(b), 30 days afterdéadf Termination is given (provided that
Employee shall not have returned to the performafides duties on a full-time basis during suchdag period), and (iii) if Employee's
employment is terminated for any other reasongdtte specified in the Notice of Termination, whgttall not be earlier than the date on
which the Notice of Termination is given.




Section 10. Compensation upon Teation or During Disability.

(@ During any period that Employee failptrform his duties hereunder as a result of incigpdue to physical or mental
illness ("disability period"), Employee shall camiie to receive his full salary at the rate theaffact for such period until his employment is
terminated pursuant to Section 9(b), provided plegtments so made to Employee during the disalgiétyod shall be reduced by the sum of
the amounts, if any, payable to Employee at orrgddhe time of any such payment under disabiigpefit plans of the Company and which
were not previously applied to reduce any such paym

(b) If Employee's employment shall be terawdéa for Cause, the Company shall pay Employe#uhisalary through the
Date of Termination at the rate in effect at tmeetiNotice of Termination is given.

(©) If the Company shall terminate Emplogeghployment in breach of the terms of this Agrestthen the Company
shall pay Employee his full salary and provide Eoypk his benefits for a period equal to the greaitéi) the number of months then
remaining on the term of this Agreement and (ii)ni@nths. All options to purchase the Company's comstock granted to Employee under
the Company's option plan or otherwise shall imragdy become fully vested and shall terminate ahglate as they would have terminated
if Employee’'s employment by the Company had nohlieeninated.

(d) If Employees employment is terminated at the Scheduled Tetimm®ate of this Agreement or if Employee contisize
an employee after the Scheduled Termination DateEanployees employment is subsequently terminated by the Gomor a reason otk
than (i) the death or disability of the Employeg(igrcause, Employee shall be entitled to recdiigefull salary and benefits for a period of
year from the date of termination.

Section 11. Accelerated Vestin@gtions Upon Change of Control.

After the date of this Agreement, in the event @ftenge of Control (as defined below) of the Conyp#ime options granted to
Employee under the Company's option plan or otteshall become fully vested immediately priorttte tlate such Change of Control shall
be deemed to have occurred and any conditionet&hployee’s entitlement to such options undeQbmpany’s option plan or otherwise
shall be deemed to have satisfied.

For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Céntfadche Company shall be deemed to have occuasedf the first day that
any one or more of the following conditions shall/a been satisfied:

@ Any person (other than a person in adrtf the Company as of the date of this Agreemangther than a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee fiep&an of the Company, or a company owned diseotlindirectly by the stockholders of
the Company in substantially the same proportiagnthair ownership of voting securities of the Comgabecomes the beneficial owner,
directly or indirectly, of securities of the Compamepresenting a majority of the combined votingvpoof the Company’s then outstanding
securities; or




(b) The stockholders of the Company appréxjea plan of complete liquidation of the Compdmich includes a termination
and liquidation of all Employee’s rights under aamryangement governed by Section 409A of the IntdReaenue Code of 1986, as amended
(“Code™); or (y) an agreement for the sale or d&pon of all or substantially all the Company’sess; or (z) a merger, consolidation, or
reorganization of the Company with or involving asther corporation, other than a merger, consaidabr reorganization that would result
in the voting securities of the Company outstandimignediately prior thereto continuing to repres@ither by remaining outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the suing entity) at least a majority of the combineding power of the voting securities of the
Company (or such surviving entity) outstanding indimé&ely after such merger, consolidation, or renrgation.

For purposes of this definition of Change in CohttBerson” shall have the meaning ascribed to saah in Section 3(a)(9) of the
Securities Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Aeid used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) thereofuifiolg a “group” as defined in Section 13
(d) thereof, and “Beneficial Owner” shall have theaning ascribed to such term in Rule 13d-3 of3haeral Rules and regulations under the
1934 Act.

Section 12. Successors; Bindingeggent.

The Company will require any successor (whethexatlior indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidatioatherwise) to all or substantially all
of the business and/or assets of the Company, t@eament in form and substance reasonably satisfatdmployee, to expressly assume
and agree to perform this Agreement in the samenaraend to the same extent that the Company wautgdpired to perform it if no such
succession had taken place.

Section 13. Severance upon Chaf@ontrol.

In the event of a Change of Control, Employee neasninate this Agreement for Good Reason (as defireeein). Upon termination for Good
Reason, Employee shall, for a period of 12 monthsifthe date of his termination, continue to reeeiglary and all benefits (including medical,
dental and life insurance coverage and any othemg@oy-provided benefits, including car and clubwahlnces) that Employee is receiving as of
the date (the “Effective Date”) the Change of Cohtrccurs (collectively, “Severance Benefits”). dddition, the Employee shall also be entitled
to receive on the date of termination an amounaktguthe average of the Bonus amounts paid to &yegl for the two years prior to the year in
which the Change of Control takes place.

“Good Reason” shall mean Employee’s good faith mieiteation that any of the following occurs: (a) mout Employee prior written consent
Employee’s duties, responsibilities or authoritgdmme materially inconsistent with those of Empldgerirrent position; (b) Employee’s annual
base salary (as the same may be increased anamyéreafter) and bonus programs are materiallycest| (c) Employee’s benefits (including
medical, dental and life insurance coverage andosimgr Company-provided benefits, including caclab allowances to which Employee is
entitled as of the Effective Date) are either diggswed or materially reduced; (d) Employgerimary office or location is moved more tharyf
(50) miles from Employee’s current office or locatj or (e) either the Company or any successor eamfails to honor all the material terms
and provisions of this Agreement. In the everEwfployee’s decision to terminate employment for GB@ason, Employee must give notice to
Company of the existence of the conditions givisgg to the termination for Good Reason withinatin(90) days of the initial existence of the
conditions. Upon such notice, Company shall hagerad of thirty (30) days during which it may redy the conditions (“Cure Period”). If the
Company fails the cure the conditions constitutimg Good Reason during the Cure Period, Employteeisination of employment must occur
within a period of ninety (90) days following thepération of the Cure Period in order for the temation to constitute a termination pursuant to
Good Reason for purposes of this Agreement.




Section 14. No Third Party Benigfites.

This Agreement does not create, and shall not hstnged as creating, any rights enforceable bypangon not a party to this
Agreement (except as provided in Section 12).

Section 15. Fees and Expenses.

The Company shall pay all reasonable legal feeg@ated expenses (including the costs of expevigence, and counsel) incurred by
Employee as a result of a contest or dispute owgpl&yee's termination of employment if such conteddispute is settled or adjudicated on
terms that are substantially in favor of Employleeaddition, the Company shall pay Employee intergsthe prevailing prime rate, on any
amounts payable to Employee hereunder that arpaidtwhen due.

Section 16. Representations andaiéies of Employee.

Employee represents and warrants to the Compahyah&Bmployee is under no contractual or othetrict®n or obligation
which is inconsistent with the execution of thisrégment, the performance of his duties hereundéhgeoother rights of the Company
hereunder and (b) Employee is under no physicaiental disability that would hinder his performamdeluties under this Agreement.

Section 17. Life Insurance.
If requested by the Company, Employee shall sutmrstich physical examinations and otherwise také aations and execute and deliver
such documents as may be reasonably necessargtite¢éhe Company, at its expense and for its ovmefite to obtain life insurance on the
life of Employee. Employee has no reason to beltba¢ his life is not insurable with a reputableltirance company at rates now prevailing in
the City of Baltimore for healthy men of his age.

Section 18. Modification.

This Agreement sets forth the entire understandfrthe parties with respect to the subject matezebf, supersede all existing agreements
between them concerning such subject matter, arydomanodified only by a written instrument duly exged by each party.




Section 19. Notices.

Any notice or other communication required or pétad to be given hereunder shall be in writing ahdll be mailed by certified mail, return
receipt requested, or delivered against receifitdgarty to whom it is to be given at the adddssuch party set forth in the preamble to this
Agreement (or to such other address as the paatylsve furnished in writing in accordance witle fhrovisions of this Section 19).

Section 20. Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constnuegd¢ordance with the laws of the State of Marylavithout giving effect to conflict of
laws.

Section 21. 409A of the Code

This Agreement is intended to comply with the regoients of Section 409A of the Code or any exemgtiom Section 409A of the Code,
and shall in all respects be administered in a@wd with and interpreted to ensure compliance S#ttion 409A of the Code. Employee’s
termination of employment under this Agreementldbalinterpreted in a manner consistent with tigasstion from service rules under
Section 409A of the Code. For purposes of Seet@8A of the Code, each payment made under thisekgeat shall be treated as a separate
payment and the right to a series of payments uthiieAgreement shall be treat as a right to aesesf separate payments. In no event shall
Employee, directly or indirectly, designate theecalar year of the payment. Furthermore, if, atithe of termination of employment with t
Company, Company has stock which is publicly tradedn established securities market and Emplayaespecified employee” (as defined
in Section 409A of the Code) and it is necessapostpone the commencement of any payments oriteengierwise payable pursuant to this
Agreement as a result of such termination of empleyt to prevent any accelerated or additional tedeu Section 409A of the Code, then
Company shall postpone the commencement of the @atyaf such payment or benefits hereunder (witloytreduction in such payments or
benefits ultimately paid or provided to Employd®ttare not otherwise paid within the short-defeexaeption under Section 409A of the
Code and are in excess of the lessor of two (24i() Employee’s then annual compensation oth{@)limit on compensation then set forth in
Section 401(a)(17) of the Code, until the first qdlydate that occurs after the date that is sixithe following Employee’s separation from
service with the Company (within the meaning oftfec409A of the Code). The accumulated postpamadunt shall be paid in a lump sum
payment within ten days after the end of the sixithgeriod.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly exectésl Agreement as of the date first above written.

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

By:

Date

Date



Exhibit 10.29

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

AGREEMENT, dated as of January 1, 2011, betweeb Systems, Inc. a Delaware corporation with priatgxecutive offices at 13
Londontown Blvd., Sykesville, MD 21784 (the "Compd), and Lawrence Gordon, residing at 30 Talbof Short Hills, NJ 07078
("Employee").

WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, the Employee currently serves as Senioe WAresident and General Counsel of the Company.

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Employeeupe terms and subject to the terms and condigeh$orth in this
Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisks,mutual promises, covenants, and conditions mewtained and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt affecmncy of which are hereby acknowledged, thetiparhereto intending to be legally bound
hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Employrhen

The Company hereby agrees to continue to employl@®ree, and Employee hereby agrees to continuert@ ske Company, all upon the terms
and subject to the conditions set forth in thiseéament.

Section 2. Capaeibhd Duties.

Employee shall be employed in the capacity of Seviice President and General Counsel of the Compadyshall have the duties,
responsibilities, and authorities normally perfodiy the Senior Vice President and General Cowfseelcompany and such other duties,
responsibilities, and authorities as are assigodiin by the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ”) thre Board of Directors of the Company (the
"Board") so long as such additional duties, resfilitsees, and authorities are consistent with Eayae's position and level of authority as Se
Vice President and General Counsel of the Comp&mployee shall devote substantially all of hisibass time and attention to promote and
advance the business of the Company.

Section 3. Term ohfoyment.
Unless sooner terminated in accordance with theigioms of this Agreement, the term of employmenEmployee by the Company pursuant to

this Agreement shall be for the period (the "Empleynt Period") commencing on January 1, 2011 adithgron December 31, 2012 (the
“Scheduled Termination Date”).




Section 4. Compeiwsat

During the Employment Period, subject to all thente and conditions of this Agreement and as congiansfor all services to be rendered by
Employee under this Agreement, the Company shgltgpar provide Employee with the following:

(@) Base Salary. Commencing January 1, 2011Ctmepany shall pay to Employee a base annual satdahe rate of Two
Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($220,000.00). J&muary 1, 2012, the base annual salary shalldoeased, as determined by the Board
of Directors of the Company by a minimum of theajee of (i) 3% or (ii) the percentage increasehim €Consumer Price Index (as hereinafter
defined) over the preceding twelve months. TherdSTmner Price Index" shall mean the Consumer PnideX for all Urban Consumers
published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, Unikates Department of Labor, or the supplementiccessor thereto if publication of such
index should be discontinued. The base salarybeilbayable at such intervals as salaries aregemdrally to other executive officers of the
Company.

(b)  Bonus. Once the Company's year end finamtiaimation is available the Chief Executive Offiand the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Compéhyg “Compensation Committeeshall determine Employee's bonus (the "Bonus"}He
year then ending based upon (i) meeting the gealsysEmployee and accepted by the Chief Exec@iffieer and the Board of Directors and
(i) overall Company performance. The Employeatgét bonus is Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000f602011, and Employee's target bonus
shall increase each succeeding year by the gre&f@r3% or (ii) the percentage increase in thea§€lomer Price Index over the preceding
twelve months. As soon as reasonably practic&btgloyee's goals for 2011 will be prepared and millytiagreed upon. Any bonus to be
paid to Employee for any year of this Agreementidfepaid on or prior to March 15 of the followiygar.

(c)  Vacation. Employee shall be entitled to tacain accordance with the Company's policy fersenior executives.

(d)  Automobile. The Company shall provide Em@eywith an automobile allowance of Seven Thousamd Fundred
Dollars ($7,200.00) per year, and shall pay thenteaiance, gas, and insurance expenses in connagtioauch automobile.

(e)  Club Membership. The Company shall provideplertyee an allowance for club membership of Fourudamd Dollars
($4,000.00) per year.

)] Medical and Dental Insurance. The Comparsllgtay Employee’s monthly Medical and Dental Irsswre premiums in
association with Company provided health insuragiaes.

(g) Benefit Plans. Employee shall be entitlegadicipate in all employee benefit plans mairgditry the Company for its
senior executives or employees, including withgutthtion the Company's medical and 401(k) plans.




Section 5. Expenses.

The Company shall reimburse Employee for all reabtnexpenses (including, but not limited to, comitig education, business travel, and
customer entertainment expenses) incurred by hioommection with his employment hereunder in acaonceé with the written policy and
guidelines established by the Company for execuffieers.

Section 6. Non-Cortigpen, Non-Solicitation.

Employee agrees that during the period he is enepldyy the Company under this Agreement and foriagef one (1) year after the
termination of his employment he will not directlyindirectly, (a) solicit or offer employment toyaperson who was employed by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries while Employeeswmployed by the Company (b) solicit, offer aice in competition with the
Company, any person, entity or governmental authdnat was under contract with the Company or witfiom the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was actively soliciting business frwhile Employee was employed by the Company, obécome engaged in a business that is
directly competitive with the business of the Compar any of its subsidiaries.

Section 7. Patents.

Any interest in patents, patent applications, inias, copyrights, developments, and processe<li' 8wentions") which Employee now or
hereafter during the period he is employed by tbm@any under this Agreement or otherwise may owateoelop relating to the fields in which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries may theergaged shall belong to the Company; and forthwgtbn request of the Company, Employee
shall execute all such assignments and other dattsna@d take all such other action as the Compayreasonably request in order to vest in
the Company all his right, title, and interest mddo Such Inventions free and clear of all liesigrges, and encumbrances.

Section 8. Confidahinformation.

All confidential information which Employee may ngwssess, may obtain during the Employment Peoiothay create prior to the end of the
period he is employed by the Company under thisfgrent or otherwise relating to the business oCitmapany or of any of its customers or
suppliers shall not be published, disclosed, orevaatessible by him to any other person, firmooperation either during or after the
termination of his employment or used by him exakping the Employment Period in the business andhfe benefit of the Company, in each
case without prior written permission of the Compd@mployee shall return all tangible evidencewftsconfidential information to the
Company prior to or at the termination of his enyph@nt For purposes of this Agreement, “confidertitdrmation” means any and all
information related to the Company or any of itesdiaries that is not generally known by otherthwihom they compete or do business.




Section 9. Termioati

Except as provided in Section 13, Employee's enméoyt hereunder may be terminated without any bre&this Agreement only under the
following circumstances:

@) Death. Employee's employment hereushell terminate upon his death.

(b) Disability. If, as a result of Employgécapacity due to physical or mental illness pkipee shall have been absent
from his duties hereunder on a full-time basistfar entire period of three (3) consecutive mordhsl, within 30 days after a Notice of
Termination (as defined in Section 9(d)) is givaalsnot have returned to the performance of httedthereunder on a full-time basis, the
Company may terminate Employee's employment heerund

(©) Cause. The Company may terminate Engaisyemployment hereunder for Cause. For purpdsbsdgreement, the
Company shall have "Cause" to terminate Employaajsloyment hereunder upon the occurrence of atiyeofollowing (i) the willful and
continued failure by Employee to substantially parf his duties or obligations hereunder (other tiay such failure resulting from
Employee's incapacity due to physical or mentaésk), after demand for substantial performandelisered by the Company that
specifically identifies the manner in which the Gmany believes Employee has not substantially peréarhis duties or obligations, (ii) the
willful engaging by Employee in misconduct which,the reasonable opinion of the Board of the Compwaill have a material adverse
effect on the reputation, operations, prospectsuginess relations of the Company, (iii) the cotieit of Employee of any felony or the entry
by Employee of any plea of nolo contendere in raspdo an indictment for a crime involving moraipitude, or (iv) the breach by Employee
of a term or condition of this Agreement. For pges of this paragraph, no act, or failure to@et=mployee's part shall be considered
"willful" unless done, or omitted to be done, byrhmot in good faith and without reasonable behet this action or omission was in the best
interest of the Company. Notwithstanding the foirgpEmployee shall not be deemed to have beerinated for Cause without the
following (i) reasonable notice to Employee settiagh the reasons for the Company's intentioretmtnate for Cause, (ii) an opportunity for
Employee, together with his counsel, to be heafdrbehe Board, and (iii) delivery to Employee dflatice of Termination in accordance
with Section 9(d).

(d) Notice of Termination. Any terminatioh Employee's employment by the Company (other teamination pursuant to
Section 9(a)) shall be communicated by a NoticEeymination to the other party hereto. For purpagehis Agreement, a "Notice of
Termination" shall mean a written notice which siradicate the specific termination provision ingti\greement relied upon and shall set
forth in reasonable detail the facts and circuntstarclaimed to provide a basis for termination wiplbyee's employment under the provision
so indicated.

(e) Date of Termination. "Date of Termimatl shall mean (i) if Employee's employment is terabed by his death, the date
of his death, (ii) if Employee's employment is térated pursuant to Section 9(b), 30 days afterdéadf Termination is given (provided that
Employee shall not have returned to the performafides duties on a full-time basis during suchdag period), and (iii) if Employee's
employment is terminated for any other reasongdtte specified in the Notice of Termination, whgttall not be earlier than the date on
which the Notice of Termination is given.




Section 10. Compensation upon Teation or During Disability.

(@ During any period that Employee failptrform his duties hereunder as a result of incigpdue to physical or mental
illness ("disability period"), Employee shall camiie to receive his full salary at the rate theaffact for such period until his employment is
terminated pursuant to Section 9(b), provided plegtments so made to Employee during the disalgiétyod shall be reduced by the sum of
the amounts, if any, payable to Employee at orrgddhe time of any such payment under disabiigpefit plans of the Company and which
were not previously applied to reduce any such paym

(b) If Employee's employment shall be terawdéa for Cause, the Company shall pay Employe#uhisalary through the
Date of Termination at the rate in effect at tmeetiNotice of Termination is given.

(©) If the Company shall terminate Emplogeghployment in breach of the terms of this Agrestthen the Company
shall pay Employee his full salary and provide Eoypk his benefits for a period equal to the greaitéi) the number of months then
remaining on the term of this Agreement and (ii)ni@nths. All options to purchase the Company's comstock granted to Employee under
the Company's option plan or otherwise shall imragdy become fully vested and shall terminate ahglate as they would have terminated
if Employee’'s employment by the Company had nohlieeninated.

(d) If Employees employment is terminated at the Scheduled Tetimm®ate of this Agreement or if Employee contisize
an employee after the Scheduled Termination DateEanployees employment is subsequently terminated by the Gomor a reason otk
than (i) the death or disability of the Employeg(igrcause, Employee shall be entitled to recdiigefull salary and benefits for a period of
year from the date of termination.

Section 11. Accelerated Vestin@gtions Upon Change of Control.

After the date of this Agreement, in the event @ftenge of Control (as defined below) of the Conyp#ime options granted to
Employee under the Company's option plan or otteshall become fully vested immediately priorttte tlate such Change of Control shall
be deemed to have occurred and any conditionet&hployee’s entitlement to such options undeQbmpany’s option plan or otherwise
shall be deemed to have satisfied.

For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Céntfadche Company shall be deemed to have occuasedf the first day that
any one or more of the following conditions shall/a been satisfied:

@ Any person (other than a person in adrtf the Company as of the date of this Agreemangther than a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee fiep&an of the Company, or a company owned diseotlindirectly by the stockholders of
the Company in substantially the same proportiagnthair ownership of voting securities of the Comgabecomes the beneficial owner,
directly or indirectly, of securities of the Compamepresenting a majority of the combined votingvpoof the Company’s then outstanding
securities; or




(b) The stockholders of the Company appréxjea plan of complete liquidation of the Compdmich includes a termination
and liquidation of all Employee’s rights under aamryangement governed by Section 409A of the IntdReaenue Code of 1986, as amended
(“Code™); or (y) an agreement for the sale or d&pon of all or substantially all the Company’sess; or (z) a merger, consolidation, or
reorganization of the Company with or involving asther corporation, other than a merger, consaidabr reorganization that would result
in the voting securities of the Company outstandimignediately prior thereto continuing to repres@ither by remaining outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the suing entity) at least a majority of the combineding power of the voting securities of the
Company (or such surviving entity) outstanding indimé&ely after such merger, consolidation, or renrgation.

For purposes of this definition of Change in CohttBerson” shall have the meaning ascribed to saah in Section 3(a)(9) of the
Securities Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Aeid used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) thereofuifiolg a “group” as defined in Section 13
(d) thereof, and “Beneficial Owner” shall have theaning ascribed to such term in Rule 13d-3 of3haeral Rules and regulations under the
1934 Act.

Section 12. Successors; Bindingeggent.

The Company will require any successor (whethexatlior indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidatioatherwise) to all or substantially all
of the business and/or assets of the Company, t@eament in form and substance reasonably satisfatdmployee, to expressly assume
and agree to perform this Agreement in the samenaraend to the same extent that the Company wautgdpired to perform it if no such
succession had taken place.

Section 13. Severance upon Chaf@ontrol.

In the event of a Change of Control, Employee neasninate this Agreement for Good Reason (as defireeein). Upon termination for Good
Reason, Employee shall, for a period of 12 monthsifthe date of his termination, continue to reeeiglary and all benefits (including medical,
dental and life insurance coverage and any othemg@oy-provided benefits, including car and clubwahlnces) that Employee is receiving as of
the date (the “Effective Date”) the Change of Cohtrccurs (collectively, “Severance Benefits”). dddition, the Employee shall also be entitled
to receive on the date of termination an amounaktguthe average of the Bonus amounts paid to &yegl for the two years prior to the year in
which the Change of Control takes place.

“Good Reason” shall mean Employee’s good faith mieiteation that any of the following occurs: (a) mout Employee prior written consent
Employee’s duties, responsibilities or authoritgdmme materially inconsistent with those of Empldgerirrent position; (b) Employee’s annual
base salary (as the same may be increased anamyéreafter) and bonus programs are materiallycest| (c) Employee’s benefits (including
medical, dental and life insurance coverage andosimgr Company-provided benefits, including caclab allowances to which Employee is
entitled as of the Effective Date) are either diggswed or materially reduced; (d) Employgerimary office or location is moved more tharyf
(50) miles from Employee’s current office or locatj or (e) either the Company or any successor eamfails to honor all the material terms
and provisions of this Agreement. In the everEwfployee’s decision to terminate employment for GB@ason, Employee must give notice to
Company of the existence of the conditions givisgg to the termination for Good Reason withinatin(90) days of the initial existence of the
conditions. Upon such notice, Company shall hagerad of thirty (30) days during which it may redy the conditions (“Cure Period”). If the
Company fails the cure the conditions constitutimg Good Reason during the Cure Period, Employteeisination of employment must occur
within a period of ninety (90) days following thepération of the Cure Period in order for the temation to constitute a termination pursuant to
Good Reason for purposes of this Agreement.




Section 14. No Third Party Benigfites.

This Agreement does not create, and shall not hstnged as creating, any rights enforceable bypangon not a party to this
Agreement (except as provided in Section 12).

Section 15. Fees and Expenses.

The Company shall pay all reasonable legal feeg@ated expenses (including the costs of expevigence, and counsel) incurred by
Employee as a result of a contest or dispute owgpl&yee's termination of employment if such conteddispute is settled or adjudicated on
terms that are substantially in favor of Employleeaddition, the Company shall pay Employee intergsthe prevailing prime rate, on any
amounts payable to Employee hereunder that arpaidtwhen due.

Section 16. Representations andaiéies of Employee.

Employee represents and warrants to the Compahyah&Bmployee is under no contractual or othetrict®n or obligation
which is inconsistent with the execution of thisrégment, the performance of his duties hereundéhgeoother rights of the Company
hereunder and (b) Employee is under no physicaiental disability that would hinder his performamdeluties under this Agreement.

Section 17. Life Insurance.
If requested by the Company, Employee shall sutmrstich physical examinations and otherwise také aations and execute and deliver
such documents as may be reasonably necessargtite¢éhe Company, at its expense and for its ovmefite to obtain life insurance on the
life of Employee. Employee has no reason to beltba¢ his life is not insurable with a reputableltirance company at rates now prevailing in
the City of Baltimore for healthy men of his age.

Section 18. Modification.

This Agreement sets forth the entire understandfrthe parties with respect to the subject matezebf, supersede all existing agreements
between them concerning such subject matter, arydomanodified only by a written instrument duly exged by each party.




Section 19. Notices.

Any notice or other communication required or pétad to be given hereunder shall be in writing ahdll be mailed by certified mail, return
receipt requested, or delivered against receifitdgarty to whom it is to be given at the adddssuch party set forth in the preamble to this
Agreement (or to such other address as the paatylsve furnished in writing in accordance witle fhrovisions of this Section 19).

Section 20. Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constnuegd¢ordance with the laws of the State of Marylavithout giving effect to conflict of
laws.

Section 21. 409A of the Code

This Agreement is intended to comply with the regunents of Section 409A of the Code or any exemgtiom Section 409A of the Code, and
shall in all respects be administered in accordaviteand interpreted to ensure compliance withti8ect09A of the Code. Employee’s
termination of employment under this Agreementldbalinterpreted in a manner consistent with thpgassgtion from service rules under Section
409A of the Code. For purposes of Section 409fkefCode, each payment made under this Agreemahtoehtreated as a separate payment
and the right to a series of payments under thiz&ment shall be treat as a right to a seriesprage payments. In no event shall Employee,
directly or indirectly, designate the calendar yefathe payment. Furthermore, if, at the timeesfriination of employment with the Company,
Company has stock which is publicly traded on daldished securities market and Employee is a ‘ifipdeemployee” (as defined in Section
409A of the Code) and it is necessary to postppbeebmmencement of any payments or benefits otherpayable pursuant to this Agreement
as a result of such termination of employment &vpnt any accelerated or additional tax under 8e@D9A of the Code, then Company shall
postpone the commencement of the payment of sughea or benefits hereunder (without any reductiosuch payments or benefits
ultimately paid or provided to Employee) that act otherwise paid within the short-deferral exceptiinder Section 409A of the Code and are
in excess of the lessor of two (2) times (i) Emgles then annual compensation or (ii) the limittompensation then set forth in Section 401(a)
(17) of the Code, until the first payroll date tloaturs after the date that is six months followkrgployee’s separation from service with the
Company (within the meaning of Section 409A of @wle). The accumulated postponed amount shakigeipa lump sum payment within t
days after the end of the six month period.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly exectésl Agreement as of the date first above written.

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

By:

Date

Date



Exhibit 10.30

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT
(Ex-Im Bank-Guaranteed Transaction Specific Revolvig Line of Credit)

This Third Amendment to Loan Agreement (thidrhendment”) dated as of March 14, 2011 is betwdgamk of America, N.A. (the *
Bank ") and GSE Systems, Inc, a Delaware corporation GSE "), and GSE Power Systems, Inc,. a Delaware corporation (“Power”), as co-
borrowers (GSE and Power are referred to individually andembively as, the ‘Borrower ”).

BACKGROUND

A. The Borrower and the Bank entered into that cedta@an Agreement (Ex-Im Bantuaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Lin
Credit) dated as of March 28, 2008, as amendedhby ¢ertain First Amendment to Loan Agreement (ExBankGuarantee
Transaction Specific Revolving Line of Credit) dhtes of May 5, 2009 and that certain Second AmentitoeLoan Agreement (Ekn
Bank-Guaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving LafeCredit) dated as of March 29, 2010 (collectyyehe “ Original Loan
Agreement”).

B. The Borrower has requested that the Bank modifyrévelving line of credit established by the Origil.oan Agreement and wai
certain financial covenants established by thei@aid oan Agreement, and the Bank has agreed todapon the terms and conditi
set forth in this Amendmer

C. The purpose of the modification is to, among otihémgs, provide for an early maturity of, and tleentination of availability and a
commitment of the Bank to make cash advances sste letters of credit under, the revolving life®dit established by the Origi
Loan Agreement as of the Final Disbursement Datalédined below)

AGREEMENT

Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises i@ mutual agreements contained herein, theggdnmgreby amend the Original Lt
Agreement on the following terms and conditions:

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS All capitalized terms used herein that are nefirged herein shall have the mean
ascribed to them in the Original Loan Agreementessithe context specifically requires otherwise.

SECTION 2. AMENDMENT TO ORISAL LOAN AGREEMENT . The following amendment is hereby made tc
Original Loan Agreement:

(A) The following definition in Section1l of the Original Loan Agreement is hereby amenaled restated in its entirety to r
as follows:

“ Final Disbursement Date” means March 14, 2011.”

SECTION 3. _LIMITED WAIVER OF FINANCIAL COVENANT. Section 9.6 of the Original Loan Agreement reggiithe Borrowe
to maintain on a consolidated basis a Funded DeldERITDA Ratio not exceeding 2.50 to 1.00 (for pasps of this Section 3 of tl
Amendment, the Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio is nefdrto as the “Financial Covenant’yhe Borrower was in breach of the Finan
Covenant for the reporting period ended Decembe310. The Borrower has requested that the Baaikeathe aboveeferenced breach of t
Financial Covenant, and the Bank has agreed toeansixch breach of the Financial Covenant for thenem period ended December
2010. No waiver of any other provision of the @ral Loan Agreement shall be effective unless gghfin a writing and signed by the par
hereto. This limited waiver shall be effective wittspect to the Financial Covenant only for theqekspecified above and shall not constitt
waiver of any other requirement of the Loan Docutsen




SECTION 4. CONDITIONS PRECHNE . This Amendment shall become effec
upon (a) the execution and delivery of this Amendiiy the Borrower and the Bank and that certaipd3@ Account Pledge Agreement of e
date herewith by the Borrower and the Bank; (b)Bhek’s receipt from the Borrower of the reasondbbs and expenses of the Bankbunse
and (c) all proceedings required to be taken byBbeower in connection with the transactions comated by this Amendment having b
taken in form and substance satisfactory to thekBamd its counsel, and the Bank having receivedsath counterpart originals of t
Amendment executed by all parties listed on theatigre page(s) and originals, certified or othesies of such other documents as the [
may reasonably request.

SECTION 5. NOVATION; DEFENSESND CLAIMS . Nothing hereunder is intended, or shall be coest, to be
novation or an accord and satisfaction of any albian or liability of the Borrower to the Bank. &lBorrower and any Guarantor do not |
have, nor had at any prior time, any defensesyhol, without limitation, the defense of usurylgims, counterclaims, crosstions or equitie
or rights of rescission, setoff, abatement or dution, with respect to the Original Loan Agreememntany other document executec
connection therewith, or the enforcement of Banksts thereunder, and the Borrower and any Guardntther waive and release any anc
such defenses, claims, counterclaims, cross-acéind®quities, and rights of rescission, set-dfgtament and diminution with respect thereto.

SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS BNVARRANTIES . The Borrower represents and warrants to, andeagsith th
Bank, that this Amendment (and any other documeatted by the Borrower in connection with this Ardment) has been duly authorizec
all necessary company action on the part of thedaer, has been duly executed by a duly authoraféder (or officers) of the Borrower a
constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Barrower, enforceable against the Borrower in agance with the terms hereof (and thereof).

SECTION 7. BINDING EFFECTThis Amendment shall be binding upon the Bornoarad the Bank and their respec
successors and assigns, and shall inure to thditeithe Borrower and the Bank and their respacsuccessors and assigns.

SECTION 8. COUNTERPARTSThis Amendment may be executed in any numbeoahterparts and by the differ
parties on separate counterparts. Each such epanteshall be deemed to be an original, but athstounterparts shall together constitute
and the same agreement.

SECTION 9. AMENDMENT AND WAIER . No amendment of this Amendment, and no waivearyf one or more
the provisions hereof shall be effective unlesdagh in a writing and signed by the parties heret

SECTION 10. GOVERNING LAWThis Amendment and the rights and obligationthefBorrower and the Bank shall
governed by and construed according to the lavtBeoBtate of Maryland without regard to conflicidaws principles and the laws of the Uni
States as the same may be applicable.

SECTION 11. SEVERABILITY Any provision of this Amendment that is heldb® inoperative, unenforceable, voidz
or invalid in any jurisdiction shall, as to thatigdiction, be ineffective, unenforceable, voidivalid without affecting the remaining provisic
in that or any other jurisdiction, and to this ehd provisions of this Amendment are declared tséweerable.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have cauBsdAmendment to be duly executed and deliveredhleyr proper and du
authorized officers on the date first above writteintending to create an instrument executed useal.




The “Bank™: The “Borrower”:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. GSE SYSTEMS, INC.
By: By: (Seal)
Kevin Mahon Jeffery G. Hough
Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

GSE POWER SYSTEMS, INC.

By: (Seal)
Jeffery G. Hough
Chief Financial Officer

Federal law requires all financial institutionsaiotain, verify and record information that idergffieach person who opens an account or obt
loan. The Bank will ask for the Borrowsrlegal name, address, tax ID number or socialrggewmber and other identifying information. 7
Bank may also ask for additional information or de@ntation or take other actions reasonably nepessaerify the identity of the Borrowe
guarantors or other related persons.



Exhibit 10.31

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT
(Domestic Revolving Line of Credit)

This Third Amendment to Loan Agreement (thidrhendment”) dated as of March 14, 2011 is betwdgamk of America, N.A. (the *
Bank ") and GSE Systems, Inc, a Delaware corporation GSE "), and GSE Power Systems, Inc, a Delaware corporation Power”), as
co-borrowers (GSE and Power are referred to individually andemtively as, the ‘Borrower ”).

BACKGROUND

A. The Borrower and the Bank entered into that cefta@n Agreement (Domestic Revolving Line of Credited as of March 28, 20!
as amended by that certain First Amendment to LAgneement (Domestic Revolving Line of Credit) dateddof May 5, 2009 and tt
certain Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (Domédtivolving Line of Credit) dated as of March 2912 (collectively, the “
Original Loan Agreement”).

B. The Borrower has requested that the Bank modifyrévelving line of credit established by the Origil.oan Agreement and wai
certain financial covenants established by the iGaig_oan Agreement, and the Bank has agreed wodapon the terms and conditi
set forth in this Amendmer

C. The purpose of the modification is to, among otiidémgs, provide that any future credit accommodegionder the revolving line
credit established by the Original Loan Agreemératisbe cash collateralized and to delete certaincial covenants established by
Original Loan Agreemen

AGREEMENT

Now, therefore, in consideration of the premised e mutual agreements contained herein, theegdngreby amend the Original L
Agreement on the following terms and conditions:

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS All capitalized terms used herein that are netindd herein shall have the mean
ascribed to them in the Original Loan Agreementessithe context specifically requires otherwise.

SECTION 2. AMENDMENTS TO ORIMKAL LOAN AGREEMENT . The following amendments are hereby mac
the Original Loan Agreement:

(A) Section 7.12 of the Original Loan &gment is hereby amended and restated in its grttireead as follows:

“7.12 Conditions to Each Extension oédit under the Domestic Line

Before each extension of credit under the Domdstie, including any cash advances and the issuaheay letters of cred
the Borrower shall:

(a) Immediately Cash Collateralize suobdi extension in an amount equal to 105% of tmewnt of the cash advance or
Letter of Credit Obligations underlying, and anysBirsements to fund drawings under, a letter aditras applicable. For purpo:
hereof, “Cash Collateralize” means to pledge and deposit with or deliver toBhek, for the benefit of the Bank, cash or dej
account balances pursuant to documentation in fanch substance acceptable to the Bank in its saleahsolute discretion. Ce
collateral shall be maintained in a blocked, irdedeearing deposit account at the Bank. The Borrdvezeby grants to the Banl
security interest in all such deposit accountsahdalances therein and all proceeds thereof.inMdirest on such cash collateral sha
paid to the Borrower upon the Borrowerequest, provided that such interest shall Is¢ &ipplied to any outstanding obligations of
Borrower to the Bank.




(b) If requested by the Bank, delivertite Bank a Domestic Borrowing Base Certificate whshall be current within five (
banking days of the date of the request.

(c) Deliver to the Bank such other docateginstruments and things as may be necessalgsimable in the discretion of the B
to perfect its security interest in the Collatexat to protect its rights with respect to the Gelial.”

(B) Section 9.4 of the Original Loan Agneent is hereby deleted in its entirety and repmlacith:
“9.4 [Intentionally Omitted].”
©) Section 9.5 of the Original Loan Agneent is hereby deleted in its entirety and replagith:
“9.5 [ Intentionally Omitte§l”
(D) Section 9.6 of the Original Loan Agneent is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaci¢h:
“9.6 [ Intentionally Omittefl”

SECTION 3. LIMITED WAIVER OF FINANCIAL COVENANT. Section 9.6 of the Original Loan Agreement reggliithe Borrowe
to maintain on a consolidated basis a Funded DeldERITDA Ratio not exceeding 2.50 to 1.00 (for pasps of this Section 3 of tl
Amendment, the Funded Debt to EBITDA Ratio is neddrto as the “Financial Covenant’yhe Borrower was in breach of the Finan
Covenant for the reporting period ended Decembe310. The Borrower has requested that the Baaikeathe aboveeferenced breach of t
Financial Covenant, and the Bank has agreed toeansixch breach of the Financial Covenant for theneyp period ended December
2010. No waiver of any other provision of the @ral Loan Agreement shall be effective unless sghfin a writing and signed by the par
hereto. This limited waiver shall be effective wittspect to the Financial Covenant only for theqekspecified above and shall not constitt
waiver of any other requirement of the Loan Docutsertxcept as expressly modified by this Amendmaltterms, conditions, rights a
remedies contained in the Original Loan Agreembatisemain in full force and effect.

SECTION 4. _CONDITIONS PRECEDENT This Amendment shall become effective upon Ilf@) éxecution and delivery of (i) tl
Amendment by the Borrower and the Bank and (ii)atifRation of Guaranty of even date herewith, &gl of MSHI, Inc. and GSE Proc
Solutions, Inc. in favor of the Bank; (b) the Baskéeceipt from the Borrower of the reasonable feebs expenses of the Bank's counsel; ar
all proceedings required to be taken by the Borraweonnection with the transactions contempldigdhis Amendment having been take
form and substance satisfactory to the Bank anddtsisel, and the Bank having received all sucmisspart originals of this Amendmt
executed by all parties listed on the signatureefggand originals, certified or other copies aftsother documents as the Bank may reaso
request.




SECTION 5. REAFFIRMATION Except as modified hereby, all of the terms,as@ants and conditions of the Origi
Loan Agreement, are ratified, reaffirmed and conéid and shall continue in full force and effect tasrein written. In addition,
representations and warranties made in the Oridinah Agreement are true and correct in all mateespects as of the date hereof anc
hereby reaffirmed. Nothing hereunder is intendadshall be construed, to be a novation or an acemd satisfaction of any obligation
liability of the Borrower to the Bank. The Borrowand any Guarantor do not now have, nor had atpsioy time, any defenses (includil
without limitation, the defense of usury), clainesunterclaims, crosaetions or equities or rights of rescission, setafffatement or diminutic
with respect to the Original Loan Agreement or anlger document executed in connection therewithther enforcement of Bank's rig
thereunder, and the Borrower and any Guarantohdurivaive and release any and all such defensam<;l counterclaims, crosstions an
equities, and rights of rescission, set-off, abatetnand diminution with respect thereto.

SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS BNWARRANTIES; NO DEFAULT. The Borrower represents and warrant:
and agrees with the Bank, that this Amendment éarydother document executed by the Borrower in eotion with this Amendment) has bi
duly authorized by all necessary company actiothenpart of the Borrower, has been duly executed Huly authorized officer (or officers)
the Borrower and constitutes the valid and bindihgjgation of the Borrower, enforceable against Borower in accordance with the tei
hereof (and thereof). The Borrower hereby cedifleat the representations and warranties contamtite Original Loan Agreement continue
be true and correct and that, except as set for8ection 3 above, no event of default and no elvastoccurred that with notice, lapse of tim
both would become an event of default. The Boetofurther certifies that the financial statemesupplied to the Bank truly and complet
disclose the Borrower's financial condition as loé date of the statement, and there has been reriahadverse change in the Borrow
financial condition except as disclosed in suchficial statements.

SECTION 7. BINDING EFFECTThis Amendment shall be binding upon the Bornoarad the Bank and their respec
successors and assigns, and shall inure to thditeithe Borrower and the Bank and their respacsuccessors and assigns.

SECTION 8. COUNTERPARTSThis Amendment may be executed in any numbeoahterparts and by the differ
parties on separate counterparts. Each such epanteshall be deemed to be an original, but athstounterparts shall together constitute
and the same agreement.

SECTION 9. AMENDMENT AND WAIER . No amendment of this Amendment, and no waivearyf one or more
the provisions hereof shall be effective unlesdagh in a writing and signed by the parties heret

SECTION 10. GOVERNING LAWThis Amendment and the rights and obligationthefBorrower and the Bank shall
governed by and construed according to the lavtBeoBtate of Maryland without regard to conflicidaws principles and the laws of the Uni
States as the same may be applicable.

SECTION 11. SEVERABILITY Any provision of this Amendment that is heldb® inoperative, unenforceable, voidz
or invalid in any jurisdiction shall, as to thatigdiction, be ineffective, unenforceable, voidivalid without affecting the remaining provisic
in that or any other jurisdiction, and to this ehd provisions of this Amendment are declared tséweerable.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caubsdAmendment to be duly executed and deliveredhleyr proper and du
authorized officers on the date first above writteintending to create an instrument executed useal.

The “Bank™: The “Borrower”:
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. GSE SYSTEMS, INC.
By: By: (Seal)
Kevin Mahon Jeffery G. Hough
Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

GSE POWER SYSTEMS, INC.

By: (Seal)
Jeffery G. Hough
Chief Financial Officer

Federal law requires all financial institutionsaiotain, verify and record information that idergffieach person who opens an account or obt
loan. The Bank will ask for the Borrowsrlegal name, address, tax ID number or socialrggewmber and other identifying information.
Bank may also ask for additional information or de@ntation or take other actions reasonably nepessaerify the identity of the Borrowe
guarantors or other related persons.



Exhibit 10.32

RATIFICATION OF GUARANTY
(Domestic Revolving Line of Credit)

THIS RATIFICATION OF GUARANTY (this “ Ratification "), dated as of March 14, 2011, is made by each ofutidersigne
guarantors (each, aGuarantor ” and, collectively, the ‘Guarantors ") in favor of BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., its successsrand assigns (“
Bank ).

RECITALS

A. Each Guarantor executed a separateif@omg and Unconditional Guaranty (Domestic ReuadvLine of Credit) dated as
March 28, 2008, (each, aGuaranty ") in favor of Bank in connection with that certaindroAgreement (Domestic Revolving Line of Cre
dated as of March 28, 2008, as amended by thaicdftrst Amendment to Loan Agreement (Domesticdhéng Line of Credit) dated as
May 5, 2009 and that certain Second Amendment &nlL&greement (Domestic Revolving Line of Creditjethas of March 29, 2010 (the “
Loan Agreement”) by and among GSE Systems, Inc., a Delaware catjpm, GSE Power Systems, Inc., a Delaware cotioorgcollectively, “
Borrower ), and Bank.

B. Borrower has requested that Bank antbed_oan Agreement to modify the revolving lineasédit established by the Lc
Agreement. Bank has agreed to so amend the LoageAgent, subject to, among other things, Guaraptangding to Bank the representatic
assurances and other agreements hereinafter get for

C. In connection with the foregoing, Baakd Borrower shall execute a Third Amendment tarLdgreement (Domes
Revolving Line of Credit) of even date herewithe(thThird Amendment ) to evidence the modification of the revolvingédi of credit.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, for Ten Dollars ($10.00) and otgeod and valuable consideration, the receipt arficency of which ar
hereby acknowledged, and because the Guarantdrbemitfit from some of the changes to the Loan Agrent, each Guarantor does he
agree as follows:

1. The Recitals hereinabove containedrarand correct and are made a part hereof.

2. Guarantor acknowledges receipt of Thed Amendment and agrees, ratifies and confirms theh sbuarantos Guarant
remains in full force and effect with respect te ttban Agreement, as amended by the Third Amendment

3. Guarantor represents and warrants Batk that (i) such GuarantsrGuaranty and all other documents executed byaatm
in connection therewith are valid and binding oatigns of Guarantor, enforceable in accordance thigh terms; (ii) all of the terms, covena
conditions, representations, warranties and agresnm®ntained in such Guaran®iGuaranty are hereby ratified and confirmed irredpects
and (iii) no oral representations, statementspducements have been made by Bank with respebet@tiird Amendment, this Ratification
such Guarantor's Guaranty.




4, Guarantor does not now have, nor haang prior time, any defenses (including, withdiatitation, the defense of usur
claims, counterclaims, crosstions or equities or rights of rescission, setalffatement or diminution, with respect to the Léameement, suc
Guarantors Guaranty or any other document executed in cdiometherewith, or the enforcement of Bank's rigtitereunder, and Guarar

further waives and releases any and all such de$etaims, counterclaims, cross-actions and eguiéind rights of rescission, sét- abatemer
and diminution with respect thereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned Guarartias caused this Ratification to be made aseofiate first written above.

“GUARANTOR”
MSHI, INC.
By: (Seal)

Jeffery G. Hough
Chief Financial Officer

GSE PROCESS SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: (Seal)
Jeffery G. Hough
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT AT DECEMBER 31, 2010

The companies listed below are directly or indiseotvned 100% by GSE Systems, Inc. and are includléd consolidated financial statements.
« GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Company Ltd., &Bkdite Software, Inc., GSE Power Systems AB, G&ktess Solutions, Inc.,
GSE Services Company L.L.C., MSHI, Inc., GSE Systémd., and TAS Engineering Consultants Ltd., ah®ly owned subsidiaries of
GSE Systems, In

« GSE Government & Military Simulation Systems, Ireca wholly owned subsidiary of GSE Power Systdns, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of MSHI, Inc.

o TAS Ltd. and TAS Northeast Ltd. are wholly owlrsubsidiaries of TAS Engineering Consulatns Ltd.

Name Place of Incorporation or Organizati
GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Company, Peoples Republic of Chir
GSE Erudite Software, In State of Delawar

GSE Power Systems A Sweder

GSE Process Solutions, Ir State of Delawar

GSE Services Company L.L. State of Delawar

MSHI, Inc. State of Virginis

GSE Systems Ltc United Kingdom

GSE Government & Military Simulation Systems, | State of Delawar

GSE Power Systems, Ir State of Delawar

TAS Engineering Consultants Lt United Kingdom

TAS Ltd. United Kingdom

TAS Northeast Ltd United Kingdom



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Director
GSE Systems, In

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrétggstration statements No. 333-138702 and No-1&®49 on Form S-8 and
registration statements No. 333-161121, No. 333B347No. 333-144623, No. 333-143199, No. 333-134469No. 333-126472 on Form S-3
of GSE Systems, Inc. of our reports dated MarcH2041, with respect to the consolidated balancetstef GSE Systems, Inc. as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related cdaset statements of operations, comprehensivedbasges in stockholdersfuity and cas
flows, for each of the years in the three-yearqeeended December 31, 2010, and the effectiverféesteanal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2010, which reports appear in theehber 31, 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K of G8&ems, Inc.

/sSIKPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 14, 2011



Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each personos# signature appears below constitutes and agpdames A. Ebel
and Jeffery G. Hough, and each of them, with follvpr of substitution and reconstitution and eadn uill power to act for him and without t
other, as his true and lawful attorneyfawt and agent, for him and in his name, place sirdd, in any and all capacities, to sign any alt
amendments to this Annual Report on FormKl@nd to file the same, with all exhibits thereted all documents in connection therewith,
the Securities and Exchange Commission or any, sjedating unto said attorneys-iaet and agents, and each of them, full power araaity
to do and perform each and every act and thingisgguand necessary to be done in and about theiges, as fully to all intents and purpose
he or she might or could do in person, herebyyiatif and confirming all that said attorneysfact and agents, or any of them, or their, hise
substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cateske done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Security Exgbakct of 1934, this Annual Report on Form K(ras been signed by the follow
persons in the capacities and on the date indicated

Date: March 8, 2011 /s James A. Eber
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer and Direct
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 8, 2011 /sl Jeffery G. Hougl
Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ Jerome |. Feldme
Jerome |. Feldma
Chairman of the Boar

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ Michael D. Feldma
Michael D. Feldmat
Executive Vice President and Direc

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ Dr. Sheldon L. Glasho
Dr. Sheldon L. Glashoy
Director

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ Dr. Roger Hagengrub

Dr. Roger Hagengrubt
Director

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ Joseph W. Lewi

Joseph W. Lewi
Director

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ George J. Peders

George J. Peders:
Director

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ Jane Bryant Quin

Jane Bryant Quin
Director

Date: March 8, 2011 /s/ O. Lee Tawes, I

O. Lee Tawes, Il
Director




Exhibit 31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

I, James A. Eberle, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of GSE Systems, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgmjnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttde a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanceer which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period cove
by this report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant, as of, and for, taequs presented in this repc

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (as defir
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatainal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13&(f)
and 15+15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures;ansed such disclosure controls and procedurdsetalesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgy, or caused such internal control over finah@gporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtioe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registiadisclosure controls and procedures and presémténils report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registraatinos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrants's fourthdisquarter in the case of an annual report) thatraterially affected or is reason:
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @bmtver financial reportini
to the registrar’s auditors and the audit committee of regis’s board of directors

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controeofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmancial information; ant

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrans’ interna
control over financial reporting

Date: March 14, 201 /s/ James A. Eber!
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

I, Jeffery G. Hough, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of GSE Systems, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgmjnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttde a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanceer which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period cove
by this report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant, as of, and for, taequs presented in this repc

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (as defir
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatainal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13&(f)
and 15+15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures;ansed such disclosure controls and procedurdsetalesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgy, or caused such internal control over finah@gporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtioe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registiadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtifiis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registraatinos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected or is reason
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @bmtver financial reportini
to the registrar’s auditors and the audit committee of regis’s board of directors

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controeofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmancial information; ant

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrans’ interna
control over financial reporting

Date: March 14, 201 Is/ Jeffery G. Houg
Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10#GSE Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeadtlezshDecember 31, 2010 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetaatof (the “Report”), |, James A. Eberle, ChiekEutive Officer of the Company, and I,
Jeffery G. Hough, Senior Vice President and Chie&fcial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.Cc8en 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in thepBrt fairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and rest
of operations of the Compar

Date: March 14, 2011 /s/ James A. Eber /sl Jeffery G. Hougl
James A. Eberl Jeffery G. Hougt
Chief Executive Office Senior Vice President and Ch

Financial Officer



